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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Awards 3¥JH (2021-2022)

1
HKO1
- o2, Wai Yuen Tong Series of Pet Supplement “ProVet”
MEﬁ PRO VEr — “Popular Chinese Medicine Healthcare Brand for
(R RERY MMl Pet”
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Oriental Media Corporation
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Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
- Elite Listed Enterprise Awards (Healthcare
Products)
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The Nielsen Company
=L NG

Wai Yuen Tong Hou Tsao Powder Ranked 1st in Sales
Value & Sales Volume for 8 Consecutive Years in

Hong Kong
i 70 & Mk 3 B % B
A M BT AR W —

¥ Based in part on data reported by Nielsen (June 2013 to May 2020) and
IQVIA (June 2020 to May 2021) through its Retail Index Service for the
defined Hou Cho Powder segment of Cough Remedy category for the
8-year period ending May 2021, for Key Account Supermarkets, CVS and
Drug Stores in Hong Kong (Copyright © 2020, The Nielsen Company;
Copyright © 2021, IQVIA)

* R iENielsen BB & Q7 2013468 £2020958) X IQVIA (20204668 &
2021465 ) » B E202145A L8F IR - 2 EHBm BAERERE
EREZRE(BRERENZTEAETREO00EBHRAAIRENME:

T:'Ll ©2021 IQVIARRBEFTA)
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Awards (2021-2022) (Continued)
4% JH (2021-2022) (4)

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
EELERBESE

Wai Yuen Tong - 10 Year Plus Caring Company Carlngcompany

fir 76 % — T104F Plus 7 5 J BH % R S e

o

Madame Pearl’s Cough Syrup Sales Champion for 12 Consecutive Years

Pl RN Ik W% B 28 A1 248 B 8 e 5

¥ Based in part on data reported by Nielsen (from Jan 2010 to Dec 2019) and IQVIA (from Jan 2020 to Dec 2021) through
its Retail Index Service for the defined Cough Syrup segment of Cough Remedy category for the 12-year period ending
December 2021, for Key Account Supermarkets, CVS and Drug Stores in Hong Kong (Copyright © 2020, The Nielsen
Company; Copyright © 2021, IQVIA)

* *EENielsenEEEﬁﬁﬁl(2010¢1ﬂi2019¢125)&|QV|A(2020¢1ﬂi2021¢ 2R) BE2021F12A E2F B - 288
HEHBEMS  BAEREEFREKTEFHERSE (02020BRMAR DA MERNE : ©2021 IQVIAIREFRE)
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Chairman’s Statement
By &

& b

In constant pursuit of excellence over the past 125 years, “Wai Yuen Tong”

has withstood a century with established reputation in providing Chinese and
Western pharmaceutical products and Chinese medicine out-patient clinic
services. | hereby express my heartfelt gratitude to all colleagues for their

dedication during the past challenging year in the inheritance of tradition, and

contribution to the health of people in the community.

R EE - NAHEIE - 12548 %K » [0 & | A Bijs = - 74 88 2 dn K
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of Wai
Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company’, together with its
subsidiaries, the "Group”), | present to the shareholders the annual report for
the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year” or the “year under review”).

Wai Yuen Tong has upheld the philosophy of “Preparing Medicine with
Dedication, Growing Strong with Reputation” since its establishment in 1897
with sincerity in promoting the profound healthcare wisdom of traditional
Chinese medicine (“TCM"). We are committed to providing comprehensive
and careful pharmaceutical products and services to every customer.
Currently, the Group holds “Wai Yuen Tong”, a widely-known Chinese medicine
and health food brand, through Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Company Limited
("Wai Yuen Tong” or "WYT Medicine’, together with its subsidiaries, the
"WYT Medicine Group’), and holds "Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s”, two
world-renowned Western medicine brands, through Luxembourg Medicine
Company Limited (“Luxembourg Medicine’, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Luxembourg Medicine Group”), which has created synergy by the
two-pronged development of the Group’s Chinese and Western medicine and
healthcare businesses.

The Group has invested nearly HK$S600 million to construct the TCM and
Western medicine Good Manufacturing Practice ("GMP") factory in Yuen
Long (the “Yuen Long Factory”), in accordance with the standard of “The
Pharmaceutical Inspection Co-operation Scheme” (“PIC/S"), a stringent
manufacturing practice regulation with worldwide recognition. In line with
the government'’s target to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050, the Group
will plan to commence the installation of solar panels at the Group's Yuen
Long Factory in 2022 in order to reduce carbon emissions of the factory.
While consolidating our corporate brand strength with continuous effort in
leveraging our advantage of “100% made in Hong Kong’, the Group also needs
to reduce emission and enhance efficiency to achieve a win-win situation for
the environment and the economy.

In addition, the Group holds quality investment properties and property
reserves located in Hubei Province, Henan Province, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, Jiangsu Province and Liaoning Province of China through
direct shareholding of a majority stake in China Agri-Products Exchange
Limited ("CAP", stock code: 149).
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
F R HE )

Business Review

After an extremely difficult year in 2020, Hong Kong’'s economy began
to recover in 2021 following a significant rebound in global demand, but
the result of overall recovery has not reached a balanced state due to the
continued freeze in inbound tourism. In 2021, Hong Kong's total annual
economic growth was 6.4%, which was the highest growth rate since 2010.
However, after two years of severe recession, the size of the economy was still
around 2% below the 2018 level.

Domestic demand was on the road to recovery in 2021, and personal
consumption expenditure recorded a remarkable growth of 5.6% in 2021.
Benefitted from the receding of the local pandemic and improved labour
market conditions, consumption-related activities resumed steadily. The
Electronic Consumption Voucher Scheme rolled out by the government in
the second half of the Year has provided a further support to the economy.
However, outbound travel activities remained severely disrupted due to the
fluctuated pandemic around the globe, and there is still ample room for
growth in the overall consumer market.

In respect of pandemic prevention and control, Mainland China applies
Chinese medicine in an all-round way, and gives full play to traditional
Chinese medicine in the role of treating COVID-19 through the distribution
of anti-pandemic Chinese medicine sachets, “big pot soup (X #/5)", and the
appropriate usage of “three medicines and three prescriptions (= # = 77)" to
treat mild, moderate and severe illnesses. Professor Zhang Boli, Academician
of the Chinese Academy of Engineering said, Chinese medicine is effective in
the treatment of Omicron variant of COVID-19. Therefore, in fighting against
the fifth wave of COVID-19, Hong Kong government stepped up efforts in
promoting the role of Chinese medicine in alleviating the symptoms of
COVID-19 and helping to reduce the risk of severe illness and death.

The Group has been working together and actively cooperating with the SAR
government’s strategies to prevent and combat the pandemic. In particular,
in fighting against the fifth wave of COVID-19, Chinese medicine had played
a significant role in the overall prevention, treatment and rehabilitation
of the pandemic through its extensive and in-depth participation in all
aspects. During the pandemic, the Group has provided Chinese medicine
remote diagnosis and treatment service, to provide professional Chinese
medicine remote diagnosis and Chinese medicine delivery service for patients
quarantined at home.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

In terms of traditional Chinese pharmaceutical and health foods, “Angong
Niuhuang Wan (Z 24 & A)" was included in the Diagnosis and Treatment
Protocol for Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia (Trial Version) released by the
National Health Commission of the PRC for treatment of critically ill patients
with the syndrome of “inner blocking causing collapse (R B4 AE)". While
the fifth wave of the pandemic continued to develop with a low vaccination
rate of the elderly and patients with chronic diseases, the Group vigorously
promoted Angong Niuhuang Wan as an essential emergency medicine
at home to effectively treat critical illness. Hou Tsao Powder, one of the
Group's flagship products, ranked first in sales value and sales volume for 8
consecutive years in Hong Kong, making it a preferred choice of healthcare
product for many consumers.

The Group has established in Hong Kong for years and are well supported
by our customers with its large and experienced team of resident registered
Chinese medicine practitioner. During the year under review, under the
Omicron variant of COVID-19, the demand for Chinese medicine out-patient
clinic services in Wai Yuen Tong retail stores continued to record an increase,
especially in local districts. In view of this, the Group opened 4 new stores
in several local districts this Year, which include Ma On Shan (Chung On
Shopping Centre) branch, Shatin (Wo Che Plaza) branch, Mei Foo (Mount
Sterling Mall Shopping Arcade) branch and Tai Kok Tsui Road branch. The
Group continued to actively recruit experienced registered Chinese medicine
practitioners to join the team, to match with our business development. As at
31 March 2022, we have 63 retail stores in Hong Kong that provide one-stop
Chinese medicine healthcare services.

In view of the growing demand for Chinese healthcare, the Group cooperated
with the Charity Fund of the Hong Kong Registered Chinese Medicine
Practitioners Association, and the first “Hong Kong Registered Chinese
Medicine Practitioners Association Charitable Foundation Wai Yuen Tong
Chinese Medicine Specialist Center” (the “Specialist Center”) was put into
operation during the Year, and two more Specialist Centers are expected to
be put into operation by the end of 2022, providing customers with one-stop
traditional Chinese medicine healthcare and specialist treatment services.

In October 2020, the National Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine
of the PRC, the Office of the Leading Group for the Development of the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area and the People’s Government
of Guangdong Province jointly issued the “Construction Plan for the Chinese
Medicine Highlands in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
(2020-2025)", which promoted the development of Chinese medicine to
become an important part of the National Bay Area Strategy, giving a strong
impetus to the innovative development of Chinese medicine in the Bay Area.
In addition, the Regulations of the Chinese medicine in Guangdong Province,
which came into effect on 1 October 2021, explicitly proposed to promote
cooperation in the Chinese Medicine industry in the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, and to support the registration of traditional
proprietary Chinese medicines for external use listed in Hong Kong and Macao
in the province. It also supported provincial science and research institutions
to co-develop internationally recognised quality standards for TCM product
with Hong Kong and Macao, in order to promote the standardisation and
internationalisation of Chinese medicine.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
X R W o)

Subsequently, the Medicine Products Administration of Guangdong Province
published the simplifying of the approval process for the registration and
sale of Hong Kong registered traditional proprietary Chinese medicines for
external use in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. The new
policy will enable Hong Kong manufacturers of proprietary Chinese medicines
to expand into the huge Mainland market and make greater contributions
to people’s health. As of April 2022, five categories of traditional proprietary
Chinese medicines for external use available in Hong Kong and Macao have
been launched in the Mainland China through the simplified approval policy.
The Group strived to make its products to become a qualified traditional
proprietary Chinese medicines for external use so as to tap into the Mainland
market through the simplified policy, in which “Wai Yuen Tong Muscular
& Joint Pain Relief Oil" (i 7t & &F # )& 4% i) is expected to be launched
in Mainland China late next year. In the future, the Group will seize new
opportunities in the development of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area to explore the development of its products with a view to
successfully promoting “Wai Yuen Tong” brand across the country.

The Group endeavours to develop youthful brands and extend its business to
different fields. It has launched “ProVet”, the first-ever pet wellness product
in Hong Kong developed by professional Chinese medicine veterinarians, to
combine Chinese medicine with pet wellness formula as, on one hand, the
Group shoulders the responsibility of passing on Chinese medicine wisdom
and strives to provide comprehensive quality pharmaceutical products and
services; and, on the other hand, there is a huge development potential in
the pet market of Hong Kong in recent years. Furthermore, healthcare applies
to human as well as pet, which requires daily care to grow healthily. Since its
launch, "ProVet” has gained the recognition and trust of many pet owners and
has a certain reputation in the market with robust sales response.

During the Year, as the physical retail market continued to be dampened
by COVID-19, the Group worked on the development of the arrangement of
online sales channel and adjusted “Wai Yuen Tong" retail outlets and offline
sales channels in a flexible manner. Our ongoing operating efforts managed
to minimise the negative impact of the pandemic. In Hong Kong, the Group
continued to improve its self-operated official online shopping platform,
www.wyteshop.com (£ 5 ), and operate the Wai Yuen Tong brand flagship
store on HKTVmall.com. In Mainland China, the Group established Wai Yuen
Tong flagship stores on Tmall.com and JD.com to provide services dedicated
for domestic consumers. As a reputable corporate brand with a long history,
the Group manages to establish an interconnected operating model with
online and offline comprehensive channels in domestic and overseas market.
Despite the travel restrictions between Mainland China and Hong Kong
and quarantine measures during the pandemic, consumers in domestic and
overseas markets remained confident about Wai Yuen Tong's products and
brought satisfactory online operating results.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

During the Year, in the wake of the severe pandemic outbreak, the public
scrambled to purchase medicines to prepare for the fight against the
pandemic, self-medicate and protect the health of their family members.
During the pandemic, Luxembourg fulfilled its role by ramping up production
in a swift and orderly manner to satisfy customers’ urgent demand for its
products in the pandemic. During the reporting period, the sales performance
of Luxembourg still recorded an encouraging increase. Total revenue from
Western pharmaceutical and personal care products increased substantially
by 61% when compared to the previous year. “Madame Pearl’s”, the signature
brand of the Group, is a famous over-the-counter brand in Hong Kong and
has been awarded as the best-selling cough syrup in Hong Kong for 12
consecutive years. During the Year, the Group endeavoured to enhance the
distribution channel of Western pharmaceutical and personal care products,
especially in Mainland China market. The Group had engaged several local
distributors to boost the channel expansion of the “Madame Pearl’s” and
"Pearl’s” brand in Mainland China. In the coming year, to satisfy sales demand,
the Group will invest significant resources to improve the production
equipment in the Yuen Long Factory. We target to expand the scale of the
existing production lines to reach an annual production capacity of 10 million
bottles of cough syrup.

"Pearl’s”, another signature brand of the Group, has successfully established a
leading position in the mosquito repellent segment in Hong Kong. Meanwhile,
to respond to the demand for disease and infection prevention of the general
public, the Group has launched Germsout, a hand sanitizer product under the
Pearl’s brand. The product series includes two alcohol-based hand sanitizers
and sprays with different alcohol-based formulae, which are recommended
by the World Health Organization (WHO). Research and testing show that their
bactericidal rate reaches 99.9%. In the coming year, the Group plans to launch
another disinfectant series based on advanced technology to satisfy various
demand in the market.

Meanwhile, property investment is also one of the operating business
segments of the Group. As at 31 March 2022, the Group owned 13 properties
in Hong Kong which are retail properties or industrial building. A majority
of these properties were used as the retail shops. In February 2020, through
the acquisition of approximately 53.37% equity interest in CAP, the Group
further expanded its business scope to include the management and sale of
properties in the agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland China,
which contributed a revenue of approximately HK$830.5 million for the Group
during the Year.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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The Group always provides full support to pandemic prevention efforts and
pays close attention to the development of the pandemic. At the crunch of
the spread of the fifth wave of the outbreak, the Group swiftly responded to
the demand of the public by donating necessities, including a total of 7,000
tablets of Angong Niuhuang Wan and 100,000 bags of flu tea, to patients in
need in various parts of the community through different means. With the
spirit of “doctoring is parenting”, Wai Yuen Tong donated Angong Niuhuang
Wan to patients of COVID-19 to fight the pandemic together.

Furthermore, the Group has been actively promoting the use of Chinese
medicine in pandemic prevention efforts to relieve the pressure of frontline
medical staff. We have introduced online Chinese medicine consultation
services to provide people staying at home with access to Chinese medicine
consultation services. At the same time, to mitigate the pressure of frontline
medical staff from answering enquiries in respect of COVID-19, the Group has
set up free Chinese medicine practitioner consultation hotlines and handed
out Chinese medicines to make good use of Chinese medicine practitioners
and Chinese medical resources to contribute to the pandemic prevention
efforts of the Central Government, the HKSAR and the Hong Kong community,
and stay united in times of hardship to overcome adversity.

In respect of employee training, to cater for the systematisation and
digitalisation of corporate data, we had launched online on-the-job training
programmes for our employees before the pandemic. As a result, on-the-job
training for our employees was not affected during the pandemic of COVID-19.
Looking forward, the Company will continue to optimise relevant systems and
programme contents to keep up with the times and address market demands
and provide employees with well-rounded training, thereby boosting
competitiveness and providing customers with the best services.

Outlook

Despite the challenges brought about by the emergence of a more
transmissible variant of COVID-19, interrupted supplies and rising energy and
commodity prices, the global economy substantially rebounded in 2021. While
the generally loose global monetary environment was conducive to strong
economic growth, it was noteworthy that certain central banks began to
tighten up by the end of the Year due to escalating inflation. If the pandemic
gradually subsides or remains largely stable, the employment rate and income
condition are likely to further improve to support consumer sentiment, which
will in turn benefit the retail industry.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

It is expected that the Hong Kong economy will continue to expand in 2022,
while the pandemic remains a major uncertainty. In general, under the support
of various government initiatives, the Hong Kong economy is estimated to
record a moderate growth in 2022, following an increase of 6.4% in 2021. The
estimation assumes that the local pandemic will be gradually under control;
the mobility from and to China will be restored in a gradual and orderly
manner later this year; and there would be no sudden and adverse change to
the external environment. If the threat of Omicron and other variants causes
more severe damage to global growth, and the local pandemic drags on to
substantially hamper the economic condition and interrupt the recovery of
cross-border travel, the eventual growth may be lower than the estimation.
On the other hand, if more extensive vaccination in various parts of the
world helps minimise the threat of the variants to boost the global economic
recovery, and cross-border travel resumes at an earlier time, a higher growth
may be recorded.

After the pandemic, the society will enter the path of recovery gradually. The
Group will continue to operate its core businesses, including one-stop Chinese
Medicine out-patient clinic, e-commerce and pet market. The Group always
adheres to the belief of “change and innovation”, taps into the potential of
various markets, and researches and develops a myriad of proprietary Chinese
and Western medicines, healthcare products and personal care products. At
the same time, the Group will make timely and appropriate decision to open
more retail outlets in different residential districts in a moderate manner, and
strengthen online operating platforms to cover the lack of sales to Mainland
visitors in the past, thereby generating reasonable investment return to the
shareholders.

Appreciation

Thanks to the sheer dedication, precise policy and relentless effort of every
party, the Group managed to achieve stable business development. The
trust and support of the shareholders and business partners are integral
to the Company’s success. In light of the high expectations on us from the
shareholders and various sectors of the society, we have shouldered additional
responsibilities. Through concerted efforts and unwavering aspiration, the
Group provides consumers with outstanding products and services and
continues to create value for the shareholders. On behalf of the Group, | would
like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to shareholders,
directors, business partners and all colleagues for their support and trust. We
will also spare no effort in driving the ongoing development of the Group to
continue to generate satisfactory return for the shareholders.

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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For over the past century, Wai Yuen Tong has been an internationally
renowned brand with roots in Hong Kong. Looking forward,
we will continue to develop our core business with flexible operational
mechanisms and give full play to the synergy of TCM and western

pharmaceutical medicine and health food.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Consolidated Results

For the financial year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year"), total revenue of the
Group increased by approximately 25.5% to approximately HKS$1,391.4 million,
which was mainly attributable to the increase in sales performance of the
Group's business segments in (a) production and sale of Chinese and Western
pharmaceutical and health food products; and (b) management and sale of
properties in agricultural produce exchange markets.

During the Year, the Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of
approximately HK$108.9 million (2021: approximately HK$376.0 million). Such
reduction in loss is mainly attributable to the effect of the loss on disposal
on the Group's investment in Easy One Financial Group Limited, a former
associate of the Group, of approximately HK$237.7 million recorded for the
financial year ended 31 March 2021 and the absence of such loss for the
financial year ended 31 March 2022.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect
of the financial year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil). No interim dividend was
declared for the six months ended 30 September 2021 (30 September 2020:
Nil).

Business Review

The Hong Kong overall economy for the financial year ended 31 March
2022 remained on the track for recovery although the uptrend was greatly
challenged by the so-called “5"" wave of COVID-19" that was caused by the
virus variant Omicron. The GDP of Hong Kong for 2021 increased by 6.4% over
2020, alongside the slowly improving global economy driven by reopening
boarders among international cities and stabilising local epidemic situation.
Hong Kong had seen its first positive retail growth in early 2021 after 2 years’
drop since 2019 and the trend was believed to stay as the market sentiment
was stimulated by the growing overall vaccination rate and the gradual
relaxation of social distancing policy earlier in the year. Yet the economic
recovery remained uneven, with sectors such as import and export sector
surpassing previous high records by a considerable margin, while inbound
tourism remaining virtually dormant.

Chinese pharmaceutical and health food products

The revenue of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food products increased
to approximately HK$512.6 million, equivalent to approximately 13.1% growth
from the previous year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Hong Kong's economy was driven by domestic spending while tourism
and business traveling remained at a very low level as the stringent border
quarantine control subsists. Relaxation of gathering restriction order coupled
with Consumption Voucher Scheme (“CVS") helped growth of certain retail
businesses such as food stuff, cleansing and disinfecting products and a
series of necessities. The economy appeared to gradually regain traction to
bring back the shopping spirit to the city’s middle-class. The improving labor
market, coupled with the boost from CVS, helped stimulate consumption
sentiment and lent support to consumption-related sectors. Omicron ironically
heightened city’s health awareness and has benefited the pharmaceutical
sector in general.

Traditional Chinese drugs and herbs spending among Hong Kong consumers
has been found a fair share of the overall consumer market. Thanks to the
People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") Central Government’s promotion of
traditional Chinese medical science after clinically proving successes in curing
different levels of COVID-19 patients in Mainland hospitals. Wai Yuen Tong's
business models to drive sales through Traditional Chinese medicine (“TCM")
consultation by our professional practitioners was finally proven effective and
has seen success this year. More importantly, a proactive marketing strategy
had been adapted to turn the business around. Meanwhile, consumers were
believed to coil up for the CVS issuance back in July 2021 amidst months of
tight social distancing control and gloomy economy.

Efforts have been made to beef up our TCM consultation service as well. A
corporate branding television advertisement was produced to promote our
largest TCM practitioner team in Hong Kong to build breadth of our brand’s
reach. Television program interviews and infotainment have been strategically
executed to build depth in the public’s understanding of our brand. Results
had been seen when Omicron hit hard in February 2022, our TCM practitioner
strategy yielded satisfactory return.

Part of our revenue was contributed by self-manufactured products including
processed TCM and health supplement products which helped yield healthy
gross profit. In terms of sales channels, Hong Kong and Macau business and
our digital sales platforms achieved favourable growth for the year.

Western pharmaceutical and health food products

Hong Kong's economy has been struck hard by consecutive outbreak of
the COVID-19 pandemic. In spite of this headwind, sales performance of the
“Luxembourg” branded-products during the year witnessed an encouraging
uplift. The total revenue of the Western pharmaceutical and personal care
products delivered a notable growth of approximately 60.8% over last year,
attributable to the solid and sound foundation of the business and the
persistent efforts of the team in fending off challenges.

16 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022

EBREZIAMBEENEE  Am - Big
EEENBRERFE  REMEBIKT
TEREML BRESHREMEHELREE
S E(HEESE)) XL TEE
BomRG BEMESERUL—FR
NERENER KEUTEEBRSER
Bh o FAMPERLARERDINR 4
B OIS HNE I EEBA5AENHES -
BERRBEBESR  BEBHREBITERHE
TR o SREEAAR - BOmicronE £ fF
SARSBAREEHS  NMmEEETE

ERBEE -

BN BREEEHERTEENE
ETERHEETSTEE EMHE -X&
R FEARKME (TRE]D P RBTHEE
BEHRmEE  ERBERERERKIE
BAREREEHUTRBEHARBE -
UTEAEEBMMOPEE(PEE)D
ARHEDHENEBREARBERE R
WHENKAFERESHKD - EEEMWE ]
MUBEBNEHERBWETHE  BER
BEBEAR RAE EERAR ELBARK
ROEXERENNLEBEIRR  —F
THLABESEERSEELERE
AR o

BB MNARMOEHRPEEDERE -
BTEREBLREEAE  RMOZET—
EARMEBRERES SERMESER
AP ER®E: MAFEQRE INEA
THRERMOME  BMERBHMETER
HERS R EEMBREHSE T ==
FZAOmicronZ2 ERSFZEEHBE R X
R OAEMRBERSARENER -

BOREMORYBENESFEAB - 0I5
AT (8 45 oR B B R AR R - R B TR
REF  EWEREHE - BRMEH
ERANETHEFARATEHERT
CEES

BAERREERER
EREEPERARERETEERRES L
REMEXBRETE -BERAE—THRA
ZEREREFR I MBREMREAFED
HWERBRDAEMEN  SASHE - TER
BAEREMNEAREREFREERY
608% EHRINNEEREZMEHERM
BREZEEN WSS -



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Our key brand, "Madame Pearl’s’, the recognised Over-The-Counter brand
in Hong Kong, achieved the Hong Kong cough syrup sales champion for 12
consecutive years, underpinned by our continuous efforts in brand building,
marketing and promotion drives across trade, pharmacy and chain store
channels. In addition, during the year, the Group dedicated in revamping its
Western pharmaceuticals and personal care product distribution channels
including the PRC and overseas market. To comply with Mainland China’s
relevant regulations, the Group has engaged various local distributors to
boost up the channel penetration of the “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s” brand
into Mainland China. In coming year, with strive to fulfill the sales demand,
the Group invested substantial resources to enhance the production capacity
of Western pharmaceutical in Group’s PIC/S GMP accredited manufacturing
factory in Yuen Long. Our target is to uplift the current production lines to
achieve annual production capacity of 10 million bottles of cough syrup.

The Group’s another key brand, "Pearl’s”, has established leadership in the
mosquito repellent product category in Hong Kong. Besides this, in response
to the public’s pressing demand for protection against infection, the Group
launched a range of hand disinfectant products, Germsout, under the brand
"Pearl’s”. This product line consists of two antiseptic products with different
alcohol-based formulations recommended by the World Health Organisation.
Efficacy has been research-tested and is 99.9% effective in killing bacteria.
The products are manufactured under the Group's PIC/S GMP accredited
manufacturing factory. In coming year, the Group will plan to launch another
advanced disinfectant range to further meet the market need.

Even though the challenges continued in 2022, we have seen inspiring
improvement in the last quarter of 2021. We have confidence to be positive
that we have emerged on a gradual recovery track in the wake of the
pandemic.

Property Investment

As at 31 March 2022, the Group owned 13 properties in Hong Kong which
are all retail properties or industrial building. A majority of these properties
were used as the retail shops under self-operating and franchise modes. The
Group also owned agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC since
its acquisition of China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ("CAP") in February
2020. The net fair value losses on owned investment properties for the Year
amounted to approximately HKS$83.3 million (2021: net fair value losses of
approximately HKS$32.1 million) as a result of the further deterioration of
property market condition.

During the Year, the Group completed the disposal of a retail shop at Shop No.
D on Ground Floor of Block D, Wing Lung Building, Nos. 220-240 & 240A Castle
Peak Road for a consideration of HK$28.4 million on 2 November 2021. Please
refer to the announcement dated 1 July 2021 of the Company for details of the
property disposal.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Management and Sale of Properties in Agricultural Produce Exchange
Markets

CAP is principally engaged in the management and sale of properties in
agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC.

The CAP Group managed 11 agricultural produce exchange markets in
the PRC, across five provinces. During the Year, CAP recorded revenue of
approximately HK$830.5 million (2021: approximately HK$620.8 million) which
included (i) approximately HK$411.9 million (2021: approximately HK$387.6
million) generated from operating of agricultural produce exchange markets,
and (i) approximately HK$418.6 million (2021: approximately HK$233.2 million)
generated from sale of properties.

Hubei Province

Wuhan Baisazhou Market

Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Wuhan
Baisazhou Market’) is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange
operators in the PRC. Wuhan Baisazhou Market is situated in the Hongshan
District of Wuhan City, the PRC with a site area of approximately 310,000
square metres and one of the most notable agricultural produce exchange
markets in Hubei Province. In 2021, Wuhan Baisazhou Market was awarded top
10 of agricultural produce exchange market by China Agricultural Wholesale
Market Association. The award was a sign to the market contribution being
made by the CAP Group's effort and expertise as an agricultural produce
exchange market operator in the PRC.

The outbreak of COVID-19 epidemic in various parts of the PRC during the Year
did not cause significant effect on this market, and it was able to remain in
normal operations. Rental income from properties letting is the major income
generated from Wuhan Baisazhou Market.

Huangshi Market

Huangshi Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (‘Huangshi
Market”) is a joint venture project of the CAP Group founded in January 2015
with an operating area of approximately 23,000 square metres. Huangshi city
is a county level city in Hubei and around 100 kilometres away from Wuhan
Baisazhou Market. Huangshi Market, as a second-tier agricultural produce
exchange market, created synergy effect with Wuhan Baisazhou Market,
facilitating vegetables and by-products trading.

Suizhou Market

Suizhou Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Suizhou
Market") is another joint venture project of the CAP Group founded in March
2018. It occupied approximately 240,000 square metres. The CAP Group
pursued asset-light operation business model by taking up the contract
management rights to operate this market.

Henan Province

Luoyang Market

Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Luoyang
Market") is the flagship project of the CAP Group in Henan Province, the
PRC, with a site area and a gross floor area of approximately 255,000 square
metres and approximately 223,000 square metres, respectively. The business
performance of Luoyang Market was satisfactory. The revenue of Luoyang
Market increased due to the increase of properties sale recognition during
the Year as compared to that of previous year. Sale of properties is the major
income generated from Louyang Market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Puyang Market

Puyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Puyang
Market") is one of the CAP Group's joint venture projects in cooperation with
a local partner in Henan Province, the PRC. During the Year, Puyang Market
faced a keen competition from a new market. The revenue decreased as
compared to that of previous year.

Kaifeng Market

Kaifeng Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Kaifeng
Market”), with a gross floor construction area of approximately 140,000 square
metres, is the CAP Group’s third market operation point for the facilitation of
the building of an agricultural produce market network in Henan Province, the
PRC. The revenue of Kaifeng Market increased due to increase of properties
sale recognition during the Year as compared to that of previous year.

Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region

Yulin Market

Yulin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Yulin Market”)
is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange markets in Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC (“Guangxi Region”) with a site
area of approximately 415,000 square metres. The revenue of Yulin Market
decreased due to the decrease of properties sale recognition during the Year
as compared to that of previous year. Sale of properties is the major income
generated from Yulin Market.

Qinzhou Market

Qinzhou Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Qinzhou
Market”), with a gross floor construction area of approximately 180,000
square metres, is the CAP Group's second market operation point for the
facilitation of the building of an agricultural produce market network in the
Guangxi Region. The revenue of Qinzhou Market decreased slightly due to the
decrease of properties sale recognition during the Year as compared to that of
previous year.

Jiangsu Province

Xuzhou Market

Xuzhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market ("Xuzhou Market”)
occupies approximately 200,000 square metres and is located in the northern
part of Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The revenue of Xuzhou Market increased
slightly during the Year as compared to that of previous year.

Huai’an Market

Huai'an Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Huai’an
Market") occupies approximately 100,000 square metres and is located at
Huai’an City of Jiangsu Province, the PRC. Phase one of Huai'an Market had
been in operation since October 2015 and it is expected that the performance
of Huai'an Market will gradually improve after the market becomes more
mature.

Liaoning Province

Panjin Market

Panjin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Panjin
Market"), with a construction area of around 50,000 square metres, is the
CAP Group's first attempt in investment in Liaoning Province, the PRC. Panjin
Market focused on the trading of river crabs and held regular market fairs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Convertible Notes
On 19 October 2016, CAP issued the 7.5% denominated convertible notes
with the aggregate principal amount of HK$500.0 million which was mature
18 October 2021 (the “Convertible Notes"), which entitled the holders
to convert into the ordinary shares of CAP (the “Shares”) at a conversion
price of HK$0.4 per share of CAP. During the Year, no Convertible Notes were
converted into shares of CAP by the holders of the Convertible Notes. On 9
December 2020, the CAP partially redeemed the Convertible Notes in the
principal amount of HK$130.0 million. On 18 October 2021, CAP fully redeemed
the remaining principal amount of HK$134.8 million. As at 31 March 2022, there
were no outstanding Convertible Notes.

Unsecured Notes Due in 2024 (“Unsecured Notes”)

In May 2014, CAP established a HK$1,000.0 million medium term note program.
The Unsecured Notes issued under the program are listed on the Stock
Exchange by way of debt issue to professional investors only (Stock Code:
5755). As at 31 March 2022, the Unsecured Notes had an outstanding principal
amount of HK$290.0 million.

Financial Review

Liquidity and Gearing and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$7,597.7
million (2021: approximately HK$7,964.5 million) which were financed by
current liabilities of approximately HK$1,881.3 million (2021: approximately
HKS$2,371.4 million), non-current liabilities of approximately HKS$1,755.8
million (2021: approximately HKS$1,642.8 million) and shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$3,960.6 million (2021: approximately HK$3,950.3 million).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’'s cash and cash equivalents were
approximately HK$510.1 million (2021: approximately HK$507.2 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s total interest-bearing debts amounted to
approximately HK$1,681.2 million (2021: approximately HK$1,661.1 million), all of
which bore interest at fixed and floating interest rates and were denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (‘RMB”).

At 31 March 2022
R=B=-Z=Zf=ZA=+—H M=
Approximate
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RZB__F=A=+—HB x5EHE
& B4 R1,681,200,000% T (=T =—
1 491,661,100,0007 7T) - 2 & 9REE
EEFBANEFRINETRARBIAR
WDIIE -

At 31 March 2021
T-_—F=A=+—H
Approximate

effective effective

HKS$ million interestrate HKS million interest rate

BEBT BMABEBRAE BEBT BMOBERE

Unsecured Notes R IR R 219 12% 199 12%

Convertible Notes ARREE — — 132 12%

Financial institution borrowings % Bl & 5 & 1,392 4% 1,255 4%

A subsidiary of Wang On Group  ZZ&EEARAR ([EZ])

Limited (“Wang On”) —E M B AR 70 10% 75 10%

Total 4@ Et 1,681 1,661

As at 31 March 2022, the Unsecured Notes issued by CAP will mature in
September 2024; the Convertible Notes of CAP reached maturity and were
fully repaid in October 2021; the financial institution borrowings of the Group
will mature during the period from June 2022 to May 2029; and the loan from
a subsidiary of Wang On will mature in September 2022, in which on 3 May
2022, a subsidiary of Wang On entered into a revolving loan facility agreement
to extend the outstanding principal amount of HK$70.0 million to 2 May
2027. The revolving loan facility constituted a connected transaction of the
Company and was approved by the shareholders of the Company on 22 June
2022.

The current ratio, being a ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities,
was approximately 1.5 (2021: approximately 1.4). The gearing ratio, being
the ratio of total interest-bearing debts net of cash and cash equivalents
and pledged deposits to equity attributable to owners of the parent, was
approximately 45.3% (2021: approximately 45.0%). The Group always adopts a
conservative approach in its financial management.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

o BELJE W) B o B )

Significant Investments Held FBERRE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had financial assets at fair value through other RZTEZZF=RA=+—H XEBERQ

comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value through profit or FTEEEMEZEREZ AR ZHBEE R

loss of approximately HK$167.0 million and approximately HK$109.7 million BEAVTEEKBER ARZUBEED A

respectively, details of which were set out as follows: #1167,000,0007% 7T & £9109,700,0007% 7T -
BREFBEHINET :

For the financial year ended
As at 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 Fair value/carrying amount
R-F-ZF=f=t-H HE-R-CESACT-RLEREE AYE/RAEE
Percentage Asat Asat
Amount  toGroup's  Fairvalue Interest  Dividends 31 March 31 March  Investment

Name of Investments held  netassets  gain/(loss) income received 2021 costs
EAZEEE ATEKE Z R=%=-%
REER FEEAM B ERRE ZB=t-H RERK

0,
n

Financial assets at fair RATEEHM2EY
value through other BABRZHKEE:
comprehensive income:
A Equity investments A RERE
Wang On EZ 120172 303% 6,867 - 5,151 120172 113,305 81,506
Others 2 26954 0.68% (5,545) — 380 26954 33552 55,601
B Debt investments B EBRE 19,839 0.50% (57,083) 6,772 — 19,839 135,958 43018
Sub-total N 166,965 4.21% (55,761) 6,72 55931 166,965 282815 180,125

Financial assets at fair value BATEEBEARL

through profit or loss: HHEE:
A Unlisted funds A FEEmES
Blackstone Real Estate Income Blackstone Real
Trust iCapital Offshore Access Estate Income
Fund SPC (‘BREIT') Trust iCapital
Offshore Access
Fund SPC
([BREIT!) 65,963 167% 7605 — 1,187 65,963 — 58358
Qther unlisted funds AFErmES 33,681 0.85% (46,310) 70 269% 33,081 98,672 81,750
B. Others B At 10,09 0.25% 7012 - - 10,096 3931 5470
Sub-total Nt 109,740 277% (31693) 70 3883 109,740 102,603 145,578
Total it 27605 698% 87454 6842 9414 276,105 3548 35703
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The principal activities of the securities are as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Wang On

Wang On is principally engaged in (i) management and sublicensing
of fresh markets and treasury management in Hong Kong and the PRC;
(i) property investment and property development in Hong Kong
through Wang On Properties Limited (Stock Code: 1243), its 75%-owned
listed subsidiary; (i) manufacturing and/or retailing of pharmaceutical
and health food products through the Company, its 65.79%-owned
listed subsidiary; and (iv) management and sale of properties in
agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC through CAP, a
53.37%-owned listed subsidiary of the Company. As at 31 March 2022,
the Group is interested in 1,716,749,000 shares in Wang On, representing
approximately 10.74% of all its issued shares.

BREIT

BREIT is an exempted company registered as a segregated portfolio
company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands with
limited liability. The underlying investment, namely Blackstone Real
Estate Income Trust (in which the Group invested through subscription
of interests in access funds related to BREIT), is a non-listed, perpetual-
life real estate investment trust that was established in 2017. It invests
primarily in stabilised, income-generating U.S. commercial real estate.

Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other equity
securities and bonds, the fair value of each of which represented less
than 1.00% of the net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2022.

Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other unlisted funds
and derivative financial instruments, the fair value of each of which
represented less than 1.00% of the net assets of the Group as at 31
March 2022.
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Financial Review and Prospects of Significant Investments Held

(a) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
include listed equity securities and listed/unlisted debt investments. The
Group has always adopted a prudent investment strategy and would
closely monitor the market changes and adjust its investment portfolio
as and when necessary. The Group intended to hold these investments
for long term purpose aiming to generating a stable income.

As at 31 March 2022, the fair value of the Group’s investment in bonds
and equity securities amounted to approximately HK$19.8 million (2021:
approximately HK$136.0 million) and approximately HK$147.1 million
(2021: approximately HK$146.9 million), respectively.

The Group recorded a net loss on change in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income of approximately
HK$55.8 million in the other comprehensive income for the Year (2021:
net gain of approximately HK$42.3 million).

(b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
As at 31 March 2022, the Group maintained an investment portfolio
of unlisted funds and derivative financial instruments. The Group has
always adopted a prudent investment strategy and would closely
monitor the market changes and adjust its investment portfolio as and
when necessary.

The Group had recorded a net loss on change in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$31.7
million for the Year (2021: net gain of approximately HK$6.6 million).

Foreign Exchange

The Board is of the opinion that the Group has material foreign exchange
exposure in RMB. A majority of bank borrowings are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and RMB. The revenue of the Group, mostly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and RMB, matches the currency requirements of the
Group's operating expenses. Currently, the Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy.

The activities of the Group are exposed to foreign currency risks mainly arising
from its operations in Mainland China. The RMB exposure of the Group is
mainly derived from currency translation risk arising from the net assets of our
Mainland subsidiaries. The re-translation of these net assets denominated in
RMB into Hong Kong dollars using the exchange rate as of the reporting date
resulted in a re-translation gain of approximately HK$132.6 million (2021: gain
of approximately HK$286.5 million). The re-translation gain was recognised in
other comprehensive income/exchange reserve.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Treasury Policy

With an aim to ensuring adequate financial resources are available for business
growth whilst maintaining a prudent capital structure, the Group manages
its financial risks including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk. The
Group invests its surplus funds in debt investments and unlisted funds to
maximise assets efficiency.

Capital Commitment

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had capital commitment of approximately
HK$272.9 million (2021: approximately HK$242.6 million) in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and construction contracts,
which were contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated financial
statements.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2022, certain bank loans of the Group were secured by the
Group’s property, plant and equipment, owned investment properties and
certain rental income generated therefrom, properties held for sale, financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, pledged deposits, with a total carrying value
of approximately HK$2,926.4 million (2021: approximately HK$2,435.3 million).

Financial Guarantee

As at 31 March 2022, the Group provided guarantees of approximately HK$45.5
million to customers in favour of certain banks for the loans provided by the
banks to the customers of the properties sold (2021: approximately HK$56.8
million). Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of default on
mortgage payments by these purchasers before the expiry of the guarantees,
the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage principals
together with the accrued interest and penalties owed by the defaulted
purchasers to the banks, net of any sales proceeds.

Disposal of partial equity interest of a subsidiary

On 18 June 2021, Century Choice Limited (“Century Choice”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of CAP and a substantial shareholder (the “PRC
Shareholder”) of Yulin Hongjin Agricultural By-products Wholesale
Marketplace Limited (“Yulin Hongjin") entered into an agreement in relation
to the reduction of registered capital contribution of Century Choice in
Yulin Hongjin. Pursuant to the agreement, the PRC Shareholder waived its
entitlement to 35% of the dividend declared by Yulin Hongjin for the financial
year ended 31 December 2020, being approximately RMB40.95 million and
directed the same to be paid to Century Choice, and the amount of registered
capital contribution by Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin was reduced by an
amount equal to approximately RMB41.9 million. As a result of such reduction
of registered capital contribution, the CAP Group's equity interest in Yulin
Hongjin decreased from 65% to 51%. The Group's effective equity interest in
Yulin Hongjin decreased from approximately 34.69% to approximately 27.22%.
Details of the capital reduction were disclosed in the joint announcement of
Wang On, CAP and the Company dated 18 June 2021,
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Litigation

In 2007, the CAP Group acquired Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural By-Product
Grand Market Company Limited (“Baisazhou Agricultural’) from
independent third parties, Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang") and Wuhan Tian
Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co., Limited (“Tian Jiu") for their
respective 70% and 20% interests in Baisazhou Agricultural (the “Baisazhou
Acquisition”).

Since 2011, the CAP Group has been involved in a number of civil proceedings
in Mainland China and Hong Kong. The key civil proceedings in Mainland
China and Hong Kong in respect of the Baisazhou Acquisition are set out
below:

In Mainland China, proceedings concerning Ms. Wang, Tian Jiu and the
CAP Group:

In May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced proceedings against the
PRC Ministry of Commerce ("MOFCOM’") in the Beijing Second Intermediate
People’s Court, seeking, inter alia, a direction that MOFCOM revoke its approval
in respect of the Baisazhou Acquisition.

Itis alleged by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu that:

(@) Baisazhou Agricultural forged share transfer agreements (the
“Contended Agreements’) in relation to the Baisazhou Acquisition
wherein the related consideration was understated and the manner of
settlement of the consideration was inaccurately described;

(b)  Baisazhou Agricultural forged the related documentation for filing with
MOFCOM and the Hubei Administration For Industry and Commerce
(the "Hubei AIC"), and that such documentation and the Contended
Agreement involved forged signatures; and

(0 MOFCOM and the Hubei AIC approved the Baisazhou Acquisition and
processed the related fillings on the basis of the above documents that
are allegedly forged.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In December 2015, the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court directed
MOFCOM to reconsider its approval decision. In May 2016, MOFCOM decided
that its approval issued in relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be
revoked and shall remain to be in force (the "Reconsidered Decision”).

In August 2016, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced administrative proceedings
against MOFCOM in the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court seeking
to set aside the Reconsidered Decision. In March 2017, the Beijing Second
Intermediate People’s Court dismissed the application of Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu (the “31 March Judgement’). On 20 December 2018, the Beijing
Higher People’s Court upheld the 31 March Judgement (the “20 December
Judgement”). Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu applied to the Supreme People’s Court
for a retrial and for dismissal of (i) the 31 March Judgement, and (ii) the 20
December Judgement, but this application was dismissed by the Supreme
People’'s Court on 29 December 2020.

As advised by the CAP Group’s PRC legal advisor, the approval issued by
MOFCOM in 2007 in relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be
revoked and remain to be in force, and the CAP Group continues to be the
legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

In May 2015, the CAP Group commenced legal proceedings against Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu in the Higher People’s Court of Hubei Province ("Hubei
Court’) seeking, inter alia, declarations and orders that the sales and purchase
agreements for the Baisazhou Acquisition (the “SPA”") have been legally made,
and that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall assist Baisazhou Agricultural to discharge
its contractual duties under the SPA to make the necessary filing with
MOFCOM (which were subsequently withdrawn in April 2019 in light of the
decisions in respect of the MOFCOM approvals). Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu filed
their counterclaim for, inter alia, the return of the CAP Group’s 90% interest in
Baisazhou Agricultural, which was dismissed by the Hubei Court in December
2019 (the 23 December Judgement”).

In January 2020, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the 23 December
Judgement. On 29 March 2021, the CAP Group received the judgement of the
Supreme Court dated 29 December 2020 (the “29 December Judgement”)
which upheld the 23 December Judgement and dismissed the appeal of Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu. As advised by the PRC legal advisors of the CAP Group,
according to the 23 December Judgement and the 29 December Judgement,
the CAP Group continues to be the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou
Agricultural.
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In Hong Kong, CAP as plaintiff against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as
defendants:

In 2011, CAP issued a Writ of Summons in the Court of First Instance in the
High Court of Hong Kong (the “CFI”) against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu. CAP (as
purchaser) sought damages from Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (as vendors) for their
breach of various provisions of the SPA. Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu counterclaimed
for, amongst others, an order that CAP shall cause and/or procure the shares in
Baisazhou Agricultural to be transferred back to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

In 2012, CAP obtained a court order from the CFl to the effect that
undertakings (the “Undertakings”) were given by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu not
to (i) indorse, assign, transfer or negotiate the two instruments (purportedly
described as promissory notes in the SPA) (the “Instruments”); and (i) enforce
payment in relation to the SPA by presentation of the Instruments until the
final determination of these proceedings or further court order. Pursuant to
the Undertakings, the Instruments will no longer fall due for payment by CAP
on 5 December 2012.

The CFI handed down its judgement on 18 January 2021 awarding damages
in favour of CAP for sums exceeding the sum owed under the Instruments.
The CFl also ordered that the damages awarded to CAP be set-off by the sum
owed under the Instruments, and that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu not be allowed
to enforce the Instruments against CAP. In effect, CAP is not required to make
any payment under the Instruments to Ms. Wang or Tian Jiu. CAP is seeking
legal advice for the recovery of the balance of the damages awarded to it.
Further, as the counterclaim of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu was dismissed, CAP
continues to be the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

Prosecution commenced in the PRC by Wuhan Jianghan District People’s
Procuratorate against the former director of Baisazhou Agricultural, Mr.
Zhou Jiu Ming

According to the judgement of Hubei Wuhan Jianghan District People’s
Court ("Jianghan Court’) dated 19 November 2021 (the “19 November
Judgement”), the former director of Baisazhou Agricultural, Mr. Zhou Jiu Ming
("Mr. Zhou"), during the period of 2009 under the employment of Baisazhou
Agricultural, instructed other associated personnel of Baisazhou Agricultural
to unlawfully misappropriate funds of Baisazhou Agricultural in the sum
of RMB40.0 million for his personal use. Wuhan Jianghan District People’s
Procuratorate commenced prosecution against Mr. Zhou for a penalty.
Jianghan Court ordered in the 19 November Judgement that: (1) Mr. Zhou
was guilty of misappropriation of funds and was sentenced to five years of
imprisonment; (2) Mr. Zhou shall return the misappropriated funds of RMB40.0
million to Baisazhou Agricultural in accordance with the law.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

According to the judgement of Hubei Wuhan Intermediate People's Court
("Wuhan Court”) dated 11 January 2022 (the “11 January Judgement’),
Wuhan Court ordered that the appeal by Mr. Zhou against the 19 November
Judgement be dismissed. The 11 January Judgement is final.

The case has now come to an end.

On 1 March 2022, Baisazhou Agricultural received the sum of RMB40.0
million returned by Mr. Zhou. Compensation from litigation judgement of
approximately HK$48.6 million was recognised and included in "Other income
and gains, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Further details regarding the civil proceedings of the CAP Group can be found
in the interim/annual reports and announcements issued by CAP.

Relationship With Employees, Suppliers And
Customers

The Group recognises our employees as the key element that contributes to
the Group’s success. As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 1,872 (2021: 1,822)
employees, of whom approximately 34.4% (2021: approximately 31.8%) were
located in Hong Kong and Macau and the rest were located in Mainland
China. The Group remunerated its employees based on industry practices and
individual performance and experience. On top of the regular remuneration,
discretionary bonus and share options may also be granted to selected staff
by reference to the Group's performance, where appropriate, as well as the
individual's performance. The Group also provides a defined contribution to
the Mandatory Provident Fund as required under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for our
eligible employees in Hong Kong and pays retirement contributions in
accordance with the statutory requirements for our PRC staff. Other benefits
such as medical and retirement benefits and structured training programs
were also provided. Meanwhile, the Group endeavours to provide a safe
workplace to our employees. The Board believes that the Group maintains
admirable relations with the employees.

Besides, the Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationships with the stakeholders, including business partners, suppliers,
customers, shareholders, investors and bankers to achieve its long
term business growth and development. With an aim to enhancing the
competitiveness of the brands of the Group, it endeavours to provide
consistently high quality and large range of products to its customers; and
to build up and maintain a trustworthy and long-term relationship with its
suppliers.
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Principal Risks And Uncertainties

The Group examined the principal risks facing the Group through our risk
management and internal control system and we considered that the major
risks and uncertainties that may affect the Group included:

(i) industrial policy risk: (@) with the deepening of medical system reform
and the issuance of a number of industrial policies and laws in respect
of medical charge control and control of medicines and certification for
traditional Chinese medicine significant effect may be brought to the
future development of the pharmaceutical industry; and (b) obtaining
all necessary licenses and permits for the development, construction,
operations and acquisition of agricultural produce exchange markets;

(i) low growth of customer base: due to the decrease in the number of
Mainland tourists and Hong Kong economy recession this year, the
potential of our retail sales growth may face challenges;

(i) environmental protection policies: environmental impact caused
by waste and wastewater generated during the pharmaceutical
manufacturing process and the construction and operations of
agricultural produce exchange markets, efficiency and security of key
infrastructure;

(iv)  cost control: the Group may not always be able to implement cost
control measures to effectively counter the effect of rising product cost
and/or decrease in income;

(v) allowance for obsolete inventories: allowance for obsolete inventories
due to weather, expiry date of unsold products and other damages;

(vi)  supply chain disruption: raw material shortage or price inflation due to
industrial issues, risks of supplier control and flexibilities, to deal with
competitive pricings;

(vii) inability to penetrate emerging markets: the Group may not be able to
effectively penetrate traditional industries and traditional products into
emerging markets;
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

(viii) respond to customer behaviour: the Group may not be able to respond
effectively to economy recession, consumers reduced consumption,
reduction in consumer spending and change of impulsive shopping
behavior;

(ix)  sourcing: less globalised sourcing, lower cost competitiveness;

(x)  volatility in retail rental: continuously increasing in retail rent may reduce
our profitability if we are unable to pass on the effect of such increases
to our customers; and

(xi)  foreign exchange: unfavourable fluctuations in the exchange rate may
adversely affect the Group's cash flow and profits.

In response to the above mentioned possible risks, the Group has been closely
monitoring the changes in the policies in Hong Kong and Mainland China,
and would strengthen our interpretation and analysis of policies and adjust
strategies in advance to cope with the ever-changing operating environment.
In particular, the Group will strengthen the marketing management to
cope with changes in consumer behaviour and needs, closely control
inventories, establish our own sales policies and product development, safety
management and environmental protection level, and push forward the
construction of lean management and risk control system. For possible risks,
the Company would actively propose solutions to lower their impacts on the
business of the Company.

Prospects

Chinese and Western Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products
Looking ahead, the Group will accelerate the development of its Chinese
medical consultation linking to TCM products in Mainland China and Macau
which can diversify the risk of market uncertainty and explore markets beyond
the elder age group in Hong Kong. The national policy for Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area, as a key development area, provides a bright
prospect for TCM development. The Chief Executive’s 2021 Policy Address
granted higher authority to integrate hi-tech medical analytic services in
their diagnosis process. Hong Kong’s TCM practice will evolve seeing the first
Chinese Medicine Hospital commence service as of 2025.

The CVS is expected to continue to render support to consumption-related
activities in the near term. Yet, the global pandemic development remains a
key source of uncertainty over the economic and labor market outlook.

The market still longs for full reopening of HK-PRC border which would
potentially bring a leapfrog to the city’s economy to revitalise tourism and
create more jobs. The steady growth of the retail sectors is bolstered by the
gradual resumption of economic activities in recent months as a result of the
effective control of COVID-19 and its variant from spreading in the community.
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Guangdong — Hong Kong — Macau and the Greater Bay Business
Development

The Group will take advantage of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater
Bay Area policy in order to broaden the distribution network and help
strengthen the Group's sales and brand recognition. The Government of
Macau SAR has granted Wai Yuen Tong (Macao) Limited ("WYT Macao”) the
import/export and wholesales license of medicine in Macau. That allowed
WYT Macao to directly sell its products to pharmacies/supermarkets/chain
stores on a wholesale basis so as to expand our market share in Macau.

New Product Development

Subsequent to the outbreak of COVID-19, we believe that TCM plays an
increasingly significant role in the fight against this global pandemic.
Prevention comes before cure and consumer health awareness is expected to
increase.

We continue to ride on the development trend of the comprehensive new
healthcare products to satisfy the increasing market demands.

To focus on our TCM core businesses and enrich product mix on health
supplement aspects, we will ride on the development trend and leverage
the advantage to TCM product to various aspects. We have successfully
launched our new product range — PROVET as we believe “Tonic and health
preservation are not exclusive to mankind”. Wai Yuen Tong's pet supplement
product range “PROVET” is Hong Kong's first-ever pet wellness product
developed by a team of professional Chinese medicine veterinarians and
validated Wai Yuen Tong's Chinese medicine practitioners. The development
of PROVET line is greatly welcomed by the market as our supplements are
made with Chinese herbs for dogs and cats and tailored to their health needs
and ages. The Chinese medicine diagnoses through symptoms, and then
addresses the underlying causes of the issues. It not only treats symptoms but
also improves the overall health of pets so that future issues can be prevented,
providing long-term health benefits to the pets.

Continuous investment has been made in the diversification of sales channels.
A newly development of online shopping platforms as JD.Com/TMall provide
customers with seamless online and offline shopping experience. We devote
more focus on health products through online platforms in order to tackle the
weakened retail market which might continue for the rest of the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Management and Sale of Properties in Agricultural Produce Exchange

Markets

During the Year, due to the resurgence of COVID-19 in various parts of
the PRC, the local authorities have tightened the public hygiene controls.
Notwithstanding these, the operations of the CAP Group during the Year had
not been materially disrupted. The CAP Group has maintained high caution for
all of its agricultural produce exchange markets, enabling its markets to meet
up with the new hygienic requirements. This maintains its competitiveness
against many local and less-sophisticated competitors.

Once again, agricultural development is the PRC central government’s first
priority policy for the next consecutive years. In 2022, the Central Committee
of Communist Party of China and the State Council of China released the “No.
1 Central Document of 2022". The document promises to promote investments
in agricultural produce markets, expand agricultural produce network, build
logistic infrastructure and storage facilities of agricultural products and
improve regional cold storage infrastructure.

In June 2021, Opinions of 17 Departments including Ministry of Commerce on
Strengthening of the Construction of the County-level Commercial System
to Promote Rural Consumption (No. 99 (2021) of the Ministry of Commerce)
(the “Opinion”) was issued. The Opinion states that comprehensive business
service centers and logistics distribution center in county seats shall be
transformed and upgraded whereas large urban distribution enterprises shall
be encouraged to expand the rural market, build and share warehousing and
other equipment and facilities.

In December 2021, Notice by State Council Issuing the 14th Five Year
Development Plan for the Digital Economy (No. 29 (2021) of the State
Council) was published, which states that the transformation of industrial
digitalisation was promoted steadily and agricultural digitalisation was built in
a comprehensive manner.

In order to capture new business opportunities, the CAP Group has taken
further steps to expand its operations in the PRC by cooperating with different
partners with “asset-light” strategy.

Taking the advantage of its leading position in the industry, the CAP Group is
confident that it could make use of the support from the PRC government and
"asset-light” strategy and business model, to deliver long-term benefits to CAP
and its shareholders as a whole.
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Board Of Directors And Senior Management

ERGLEREME

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, css, /7, aged 60, was appointed as the Chairman of the
Company in August 2001 and also assumed the role of Managing Director
with effect from 1 April 2018. He is also an authorised representative and a
member of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee and
the chairman of the executive committee of the Company. He is responsible
for the strategic planning, policy making and business development of the
Group. He has extensive experience in corporate management. He is also
the chairman, an executive director and an authorised representative of
Wang On Group Limited, and the non-executive chairman and an authorised
representative of China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (a subsidiary of
the Company) both of which are companies listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tang is a committee member of the 12th and 13th
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
("CPPCC") and is also appointed as a standing committee member and
convener of the 10th to the 12th plenary sessions of the CPPCC Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee. Mr. Tang is also appointed as the first
executive chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations and the chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Shenzhen
Association. He is the father of Ms. Tang Wai Man, an executive Director
and is also a controlling shareholder of Wang On Group Limited which is a
controlling shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Tang Wai Man, aged 31, joined the Group in January 2016 and was
appointed as an executive Director on 1 April 2018. She is an authorized
representative of the Company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
and also a member of the executive committee, the nomination committee
and the remuneration committee of the Company. Ms. Tang is responsible
for sales and marketing, channel sales and retail operation in Hong Kong and
Macau of the Group. She graduated from University of Edinburgh, UK with
a Master of Arts with Honors in Business Studies. Prior to joining the Group,
she had worked for Wang On Group Limited since July 2014 as an assistant to
chairman and other experience in financial analysis, sales and marketing and
business development in a number of corporate bodies in Hong Kong and the
United Kingdom. She is the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the Chairman and
Managing Director and the controlling shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita, aged 59, joined the Group in 2004 and is the
Assistant General Manager — Purchasing Processing of the Group. She was
appointed as an executive Director and a member of the executive committee
of the Company on 8 February 2021. Ms. Law is responsible for overall strategic
planning, sales and marketing, raw material sourcing and retail operation in
Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland China of the Group. She has extensive
experience in pharmaceutical industry covering strategic planning, sales and
marketing, new products development and production management.
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Board Of Directors And Senior Management (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Wai Ho, v+, aged 72, was re-designated as an Independent
Non-executive Director in April 2006 from a non-executive Director and he
joined the Group in 1994. Mr. Leung is a member of the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Company. He
has more than 56 years and 25 years of experiences in the watch industry and
financial industry respectively. He is a member of the 11th and 12th plenary
session of the National Committee of the CPPCC, the chairman of Greater Bay
Area Committee (also being a Standing Committee Member) of The Chinese
General Chamber of Commerce, a Committee Member of The Chinese
Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong, the Honorary President of the Hong
Kong Chamber of Commerce in China — Guangdong and the Chartered
President of the Dongguan City Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment. Mr. Leung has been appointed as a candidate of 2021 Election
Committee of HKSAR Chief Executive, Subsector — Commercial (Second). Mr.
Leung has also been appointed as the member of the Election Committee of
HKSAR 2022 Chief Executive Election.

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, aged 48, joined the Company as an Independent
Non-executive Director in August 2001. He is a member of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company and the chairman
of the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Siu is a practising solicitor
of the High Court of Hong Kong. He obtained a Bachelor of Laws degree from
the University of Hong Kong in 1996 and is a partner of a law firm, namely Sit,
Fung, Kwong & Shum, and a China-Appointed Attesting Officer. His areas of
practice include corporate finance, capital markets, securities, mergers and
acquisitions, joint ventures and general commercial matters. Mr. Siu is also an
independent non-executive director of each of Litu Holdings Limited (formerly
know as Brilliant Circle Holdings International Limited, stock code: 1008),
Shuang Yun Holdings Limited (stock code: 1706) and HKE Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1726), all of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Cho Wing Mou, aged 81, joined the Company as an Independent
Non-executive Director in September 2001. He is a member of the audit
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company and the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Cho was
formerly a director and deputy general manager of Hua Chiao Commercial
Bank Limited and a deputy general manager of The China State Bank Limited.
He was a committee member of the 8th Political Consultative Conference
Guangxi and is also a committee member of the 4th plenary session of the
Guangxi Yulin Committee of the CPPCC, Life Chairman of Hong Kong Guangxi
Yulin Friendship Association, the Life Chairman and the advisor of Hong Kong
Guangxi Yulin City CPPCC and Life Chairman of Gee Tuck General Association
Hong Kong Limited.

HHEGRRBEEE )

B EPTEE

RE®ERE v T2 RZTEER
FNABRFQTEZTHATABIIERITE
HoREER—AAEFEMAREER ]
ABARTBEREZES FHZE8ERIRE
ZEeRBE - FREZRERERES R
BES6FRSFEELH - FHREEBEAERK
F+—REEAET_REE2RZESEE &
BREARTERRAERZESERON
AERBEE) EAPERRBHAT DS

FEESMWR)EE — EREELESR
REEMIIERETCEBERESR - B
A EEAA-S - —EFAERTHE
THEEREBZEE (AR (ED)RANHHE)
MRBEAN REENEZARAE_T__F
EEBNTHRETRREERMNEREE

BYREE O+-NAK RZTEZT—FN
AMARRAR BEBUERTES - A
KRRIBZLZEGRREBEZEGNE  #
EARBFHEEGER -BEERER
BEERAER R —NANANFRESE
BREBXREELEN - B ARG 2A
TEBARTFHZAREFA HEXBE
ERE - BAMS - FF - AORKE -
AR BAESTE WELETANER
%A BR A &) (A8 & B AR BB A IR A F))
(B& 5 1L 5% - 1008) « & B ARA R A A (AR
3% : 1706) & HKE Holdings Limited (B
MRRSR 172600 BB X FTER ET QR
ZENIFERITESE -

BXkEEE Nt—m RZEZE-FN
AMARRR > EEBILFRATEST R
ARAREVZEERFHNEZEERERA
ARAREBZEGETR BELELERER
BERRTERIAFDNEFTRABLE - Uk
BERTARAFAEEE - BER/BUA
hHeRFE \EEAZESZE  BRK
BEONEEAREMTEZESZE  BER
AEMTmASBEEKEER BEEA
AR IR 15 [R) 4 Bk RE & ok R & & FR B A
LEBERBEKEGR -

RS ERERERAR
s -



Board Of Directors And Senior Management (Continued)

wHGAHREPE )

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, aged 67, joined the Company as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 17 March 2015. He is the chairman of the audit
committee of the Company. Mr. Li is currently the senior advisor of SHINEWING
(HK) CPA Limited. He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, UK. Mr. Li is an independent non-executive director
and the chairman of the audit committee of Shanghai Industrial Urban
Development Group Limited (stock code: 563). Mr. Li is also an independent
non-executive director, the chairman of the audit committee, member of
the nomination committee and member of the remuneration committee
of China-Hongkong Photo Products Holdings Limited (stock code: 1123),
Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited (stock code: 120) and Goldlion
Holdings Limited (stock code: 533), an independent non-executive director,
member of the audit committee, member of the nomination committee
and the chairman of the remuneration committee of China Merchants Port
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 144), an independent non-executive
director, member of the audit committee and member of the remuneration
committee of Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding Limited (formerly
known as AVIC International Holding (HK) Limited, stock code: 232), all of such
companies are being listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Li has retired as an independent
non-executive director and ceased to be the chairman of the audit committee
and the remuneration committee, and a member of the nomination
committee of CR Construction Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1582), a
company listed in Hong Kong, on 25 June 2021.

Senior Management

Dr. Tsang Yuen Wo joined the Group in September 2018 and he is currently
the Director (Technical) of both the Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Group and
the Luxembourg Medicine Group, principal subsidiaries of the Group. He is
responsible for technical operations of the Group including quality assurance,
quality control, production, research and development, engineering and
logistic issues. Dr. Tsang received his BSc(Pharm)(Hons) degree at the Aston
University and the PhD degree at the University of Sydney. He is a registered
pharmacist and a registered Authorized Person of the Pharmacy and Poisons
Board of Hong Kong. He has more than 20 years of experience in the
pharmaceutical industry. Academically, Dr. Tsang is currently the Honorary
Associate Professor of the Department of Pharmacology and Pharmacy, Li
Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine, the University of Hong Kong and the Adjunct
Associate Professor, College of Life Sciences and Technology, the School of
Professional and Continuing Education, the University of Hong Kong. He is also
the Managing Editor of the Hong Kong Pharmaceutical Journal.

Mr. Wong Seung Ming joined the Company in February 2022 as the
Financial Controller and he is responsible for overseeing the accounting and
financial operations of the Group. Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor Degree
of Arts (Honors) in Accountancy in City University of Hong Kong and is a
fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an
associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Wong has around 27 years of experience in finance and accounting.
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Board Of Directors And Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. Chan Siu Fai, Daniel joined the Group in September 2021 as the Head
of Factory Operations and he is responsible for monitoring factory routine
operations, implementing, reviewing and improving factory workflow to
achieve efficient management in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan obtained a Master
Degree of Business Administration in University of South Australia and a
Bachelor Degree of Engineering (Honors) in Manufacturing Engineering
in Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Chan has more than 30 years of
experience in engineering.

Mr. Mak Kam Wing joined the Group in January 2022 as the General Manager
of Luxembourg Medicine Group, a principal subsidiary of the Group. He is
responsible for managing the Western medicine business unit, overseeing and
supervising sales and marketing team and in charge of new product planning.
Prior to joining the Group, he has over 25 years of experience in well-known
companies, in which he took various senior positions in sales, marketing
management, business development with proven track records, especially in
pharmaceutical and healthcare product industries. Mr. Mak obtained a Master
Degree of Business Administration in Strategic Marketing in The University of
Hull. He is a Chartered Marketer of The Chartered Institute of Marketing and a
registered Diagnostic Radiographer.

Mr. Cheung Chin Wa Angus joined the Company in February 2021 as the
Company Secretary and is a fellow member of The Chartered Governance
Institute. He holds a Master Degree of Professional Accounting, a Master
Degree of Corporate Governance, a Bachelor Degree of Laws and a Bachelor
Degree of Arts in Translation. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung held
company secretary positions in several Hong Kong listed companies,
including China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (stock code: 149), an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Board recognises that good corporate governance practices serve
as an effective risk management for the growth of the Company that will
promote and enhance the benefit of its shareholders of the Company
(the "Shareholders”). The Company is committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance with a strong emphasis on transparency,
accountability, integrity and independence.

The Company continued to adopt the principles and comply with the code
provision of the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the year under review. The Board
has periodically reviewed the compliance of the CG Code and is of the view
that throughout the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company had complied
with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code, except for the following
deviation:

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman
of the Board, also assumed the role of managing Director. Currently, the
Company does not propose to comply with code provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code for the time being but will continue to review such deviation to enhance
the best interest of the Group as a whole. Details of such deviation are set out
below in the section headed “Chairman and Managing Director”.

Code for Securities transactions by Directors and
Relevant Employees

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers, as amended from time to time, (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific
enquiries by the Company, all of the Directors confirmed that they had
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout
the year under review.

The Company also adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions on no less exacting terms than the Model Code by the relevant
employees of the Group who are considered likely to be in possession of
inside information in relation to the Company or its securities. To the best
knowledge and belief of the Directors, all relevant employees complied with
the required standard of such code throughout the year under review.

Dividend Policy

In November 2018, the Company adopted a dividend policy, which is intended
to be prudent and sustainable and will be evaluated from time to time. There
is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any
particular period. Subject to compliance with applicable rules and regulations,
the Board may, at its discretion, determine the declaration of payment of
dividend(s) to its Shareholders in any amount, frequency in any financial year
depending on, among other things, the Company’s operation and financial
performance, liquidity condition, capital requirements, future funding needs,
contractual restrictions, availability of reserves and prevailing economic
climate.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Business Model and Strategy

The Group is principally engaged in (i) the manufacturing and sale of
traditional Chinese medicine; (i) the manufacturing and sale of Western
pharmaceutical, health food and personal care products; (iii) property
investment; and (iv) the management and sale of properties in agricultural
produce exchange markets in the PRC. The Group continues its proactive
expansion strategy for generating and preserving shareholder value over the
longer term.

With respect to the core Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health
food products business, the Group will further leverage its edge in vertical
integration. In order to achieve this objective, the Group is enhancing the
effort on new products research, development and registration, especially
focus on those Chinese and Western medicinal products which possess their
own uniqueness and curative effect. The Group also extends its retail and
medical service network aggressively to gain market share.

With respect to the property investment business, apart from the acquisition
of CAP which was successfully completed in mid-February 2020, the Group
continues to look for and acquire sizeable and potential retail premises for
mitigating the effect of rising rental costs.

On the other hand, the Group continues to closely monitor the market for
merger and acquisition opportunities if it can bring synergy to our existing
business, as well as diversification of its investment portfolio for strengthening
and broadening its income base. The Group also takes active and prompt
measures from time to time, reviewing and adjusting its business strategy
and adopting various controls over costs, if necessary, so as to maintain the
Group's profitability. Besides, the Group strives to maintain a healthy financing
structure and devotes effort to securing banking facilities which is regarded as
an important element for supporting continuous business development of the
Group.

The Board

Composition

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors (the “INEDs"). The Directors during the year and up
to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Gss, Jp
(Chairman and Managing Director)
Ms. Tang Wai Man
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Wai Ho, mH

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon

Mr. Cho Wing Mou

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David

Ms. Tang Wai Man is the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho. The biographical
details of the Directors are set out on pages 34 to 36 of this annual report.
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The Board possesses a mix and balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company. The
opinions raised by the INEDs in Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of
good corporate governance practices. As at the date of this annual report,
the Board has four INEDs, representing more than one-third of the Board, and
at least one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional qualification and/
or accounting and audit experience expertise as required by Rules 3.10(1) and
(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. A balanced composition of executive and
non-executive Directors also generates a strong independent element on
the Board, which allows for an independent and objective decision making
process for the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The
Company has reviewed the composition of the Board and discussed from time
to time to ensure that the Board possesses the appropriate and necessary
expertise, skills and experience to meet the needs of the Group's businesses
and to enhance the Shareholders’ value. All Directors are aware of the required
levels of fiduciary duties, care, skill and diligence under Rule 3.08 of the Listing
Rules.

In compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the CG Code, an updated list of the
Directors identifying their roles and functions are available on the websites
of the Company (www.wyth.net) and HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The
nomination committee of the Company (the “"Nomination Committee”)
and the Board will review the composition of the Board from time to time to
ensure that the Board possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills
and experience to meet the needs of the Group's business and to enhance the
Shareholders’ value.

Appointment and Re-election of the Directors

All INEDs are appointed with specific term set out in respective letters of
appointment and all of them are subject to retirement by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at annual general meetings
in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-law(s)"). All
INEDs' terms of office will be renewed automatically after the re-election,
unless prematurely terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions
specified in the letter of appointment, the Bye-Laws, the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 (the "Companies Act’) and the Listing Rules, each as amended
from time to time. Pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code and the
Bye-law 87, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or if their number
is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
are required to retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, is subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years, and shall be eligible for re-election at
each annual general meeting. In addition, any Director who is appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board are
subject to re-election at the first general meeting of the Company after his/
her appointment.
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Independence of INEDs

The INEDs are required to confirm their independence upon their
appointment and on an annual basis. All INEDs are free from any business or
other relationship with the Company. The Company has received from each
INED an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules for the financial year ended 31 March 2022. The INEDs would not
participate in the Group’s daily operation and they would abstain from voting
on any resolution(s) in which he had any interest and, therefore, the Company
continues to consider the four INEDs to be independent for the financial year
ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and the Senior Management
The Board is accountable to stakeholders for the activities and performance
of the Group and its primary functions cover, among other things, the
formulation of overall strategy, the review of corporate and financial policies
and the oversight of management of the Group’s business and affairs. Apart
from these, the Board reserved for its consideration and decision on major
acquisitions and disposals, review of interim and annual financial results,
appointments and removals of directors and auditors, the evaluation on the
performance and compensation of senior management, any material capital
transactions and other significant operational and financial affairs. With a view
to maintaining an appropriate balance between authority and responsibility,
such functions are either carried out directly by the Board or indirectly
through various committees established by the Board, with respective
functions set out in their written terms of reference.

The INEDs account for diverse industry expertise but are not involved in
the day-to-day management of the Group. The general management and
day-to-day management are delegated to management of the Company,
including but not limited to the preparation of regular financial information,
execution of designated assignments, and implementation of sustainability
practices.

The Directors having material interest in the matter(s) shall abstain from voting
at such Board meeting(s) and the INEDs with no conflict of interest shall
attend at such meeting to deal with the matter(s).

All Directors ensure that they can give sufficient attention to discharge
their responsibilities to the affairs of the Company and the Directors have
disclosed to the Company the identity and nature of offices held in any public
organisation and other significant commitments from time to time.

During the year under review, regular Board meetings of the Company were
held four times to review, consider and approve, among others, annual and
interim results and to review the business operations, corporate governance
practices and the effectiveness of internal control and risk management
systems of the Group. Apart from these regular meetings, Board meetings
are also held, as and when necessary, to consider, among others, material
transactions of the Group. At least 14-day notice for each regular meeting
is given to all Directors. All such minutes are kept by the company secretary
of the Company and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director. Apart from the regular Board meetings and
pursuant to the CG Code, the chairman of the Board also met with the INEDs
without the presence of any executive Director during the year under review.
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Chairman and Managing Director

During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman of the Board,
has also assumed the role of the managing Director. Mr. Tang has extensive
management experience in corporate management in the industries of the
Group and is responsible for overall corporate planning, strategic policy
making of the Group which is of great value in enhancing the efficiency to
cope with the recent fierce competitive and ever-changing retailing market
environment and the communication between the Board and management,
so as to ensure the effective execution of the Board's strategies. Furthermore,
the Board considers that Mr. Tang is an executive of high caliber with a
wide range of skills and diversified business expertise and there are various
committees and experienced individuals dealing with specific assignments
and business unit(s) and managing the daily business operations. Moreover,
the Board comprises three executive Directors and four INEDs with balance
of skills and experience appropriate for the Group's further development. The
Company had no intention to make any change to comply with code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code (i.e. the roles of chairman and chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual) at the moment
but will continue to review and propose, as and when appropriate, by taking
into consideration of such deviation and any other relevant factors, to ensure
the maximisation of the benefit of the stakeholders of the Company.

Corporate Governance

The Board has undertaken the responsibility for performing the corporate
governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is committed to ensuring that
an effective governance structure is in place to continuously review, monitor
and improve the corporate governance practices within the Group with regard
to the prevailing legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the policies and practices
on the Group's corporate governance, reviewed the code of conduct
applicable to the Directors and employees, monitored the policies and
measures on the Company’s legal and regulatory compliance, training
and continuing professional development of Directors and reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in this annual
report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in
discharge of its corporate governance function.

Board Diversity

The Company notes increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives, sustainable
and balanced development. In June 2013, the Company adopted a Board
diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach
to diversify the Board and was reviewed annually. The Nomination Committee
reviews and assesses the Board composition on behalf of the Board and will
recommend the appointment of new Director, when necessary, pursuant to
the Board Diversity Policy and the nomination policy.

In designing the Board’s composition, the Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, independence and length of service. The Nomination Committee
will also consider factors based on the Company’s business model, specific
needs and meritocracy from time to time in determining the optimum
composition of the Board.
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The Board recognises the importance and benefits of gender diversity at the
Board level and shall continue to take initiatives to identify female candidate(s)
to enhance the gender diversity among the Board members. As at 31 March
2022, the Board comprised seven Directors, of whom five were male and two
were female.

During the year under review, the Board comprises seven Directors, including
three executive Directors and four INEDs, thereby promoting critical review
and control of the management process. The Board is also characterised by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of professional experience,
skills and knowledge.

Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, the nomination policy and
the Board's composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the
requirements set out in the Board Diversity Policy had been met.

Continuous Professional Development

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development so as to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
The company secretary of the Company regularly circulates training materials
or reading materials to all Directors in respect of the updates on, among other
things, the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") or other useful guidelines, the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies
Ordinance’) and financial or accounting standards which may be of the
interest to the Directors and benefit for them to discharge their duties.

In addition, the company secretary of the Company also provides and
circulates to the Directors with monthly and regular updates relating to the
Group's business, financial position and business environment, in which the
Group operates. During the year under review, all Directors complied with the
code provision in relation to continuous professional development. Apart from
reading materials relevant to the Company’s business, the updated rules and
regulations and other director’s duties and responsibilities by all Directors, the
Directors also enhanced their professional development by way of attending
seminars and/or forums.

The company secretary of the Company updates Directors constantly on the
latest developments regarding the Group’s business and other applicable
regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness
of good corporate governance practices.

During the year under review, all Directors have provided to the Company
with their training records, and such records have been maintained by the
company secretary of the Company for accurate and comprehensive record
keeping.

Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has arranged for appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance to indemnify its Directors against liabilities arising out of legal action
on corporate activities. Such insurance coverage is reviewed and renewed
with consultant advice on an annual basis.
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Board Committees

The Board has established various committees including executive committee
(the “Executive Committee”), the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee’) and the
Nomination Committee, each of which has the specific written terms of
reference that will be reviewed and updated, where necessary. Minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committee meetings are kept by the company
secretary of the Company and open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director. Each committee is required to report to the
Board on its decisions and recommendations, where appropriate.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since 2005 with specific
written terms of reference setting out authorities delegated by the Board.
Its primary function is to undertake general management and supervise the
day-to-day management, performance and operations in accordance with the
business strategy of the Group. It exercises leadership, develops and keeps
under review strategy and business development initiatives of the Group and
monitors their implementation. Currently, the Executive Committee comprises
three members, namely, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Ms. Tang Wai Man and Ms. Law
Man Yee, Anita. Mr. Tang Ching Ho takes the chair of the Executive Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established with specific written terms of
reference stipulating its authorities and duties in compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). Currently, the Audit
Committee comprises four INEDs, namely, Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Mr. Leung
Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon and Mr. Cho Wing Mou. Mr. Li Ka Fai, David is
elected as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The functions of the Audit Committee is, among other things, to assist the
Board to review and monitor the financial reporting independently, including
interim and annual results, to supervise over the Group’s internal control
and risk management systems, to monitor the internal and external audit
functions, the appointment, reappointment and removal of the auditor and to
make relevant recommendations to the Board to ensure effective and efficient
operation and reliable reporting. The functions of the Audit Committee will be
reviewed regularly by the Board and amended from time to time, as and when
appropriate, in order to be in compliance with the code provisions of the CG
Code (as amended from time to time) so as to ensure that management has
discharged its duty to have an effective internal control and risk management
systems including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff to implement the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties and may access to independent professional advice according to the
Company'’s policy, if considered necessary. During the year under review,
the Audit Committee held two regular meetings with the Group’s senior
management and the external auditor.
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During the year under review, the Audit Committee met to discuss and review,
among other things, the following matters:

(@)  the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the interim
results for the six months ended 30 September 2021 to ensure the full,
complete and accurate disclosure in the aforesaid financial statements
pursuant to the accounting standards and other legal requirement for
presenting the same to the Board for approval;

(b)  the terms and remuneration for the appointments of Ernst & Young
as external auditor to audit and report on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 and
to perform the agreed upon procedures on the interim results for the six
months ended 30 September 2021;

(c)  the terms and remuneration for the appointments of external auditor to
perform non-audit services, other special corporate projects and review
the overall significant control system;

(d) the independence of the external auditor especially for those non-audit
services;

(e)  the continuing connected transactions of the Group;

(f)  the overall effectiveness of internal control and risk management
systems; and

(g) the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff and
the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting matters and their
training programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees, effectiveness
of the audit process, independence and objectivity of the external auditor
and has recommended to the Board for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young
as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuing year at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee since September
2005 with specific written terms of reference, as revised from time to time,
stipulating its authorities and duties, which are available on the websites of
the Company (www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk).

The Remuneration Committee consists of five members, including Mr. Siu Man
Ho, Simon, Mr. Cho Wing Mou, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms.
Tang Wai Man, a majority of whom are INEDs during the year under review
and up to the date of this annual report. Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon is elected as
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee has been provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and may access to independent professional advice in
accordance with the Company’s policy and its written terms of reference, if
considered necessary.
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The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(@)  to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing a remuneration policy on the basis of basic salary and
allowances, discretionary bonus and share options;

(b)  toreview and approve the senior management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management, including
but not limited to, benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the Directors’ fee of
the INEDs with reference to the range of remuneration of other
non-executive Directors in the similar industry and allow any
out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the performance of
their duties;

(e)  to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

(f)  toreview and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment
to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair
and not excessive; and

(g) toreview and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal
or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent
with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting, in which it reviewed the existing remuneration policies by reference
with the market research and current market circumstance, communicated
with the chairman and managing Director, recommended amendments to the
existing remuneration policies and performance-based bonus, if appropriate,
and approved the remuneration package and performance-based bonus paid
to the other Directors and senior management of the Company (i.e. the model
described in the CG code is adopted). No Director took part in any discussion
about his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue to
discharge its major roles to, among other things, approve the terms of the
service agreements of the Directors and the senior management, make
recommendations with respect to the remuneration and policies of the
Directors and senior management of the Company and to review the
remuneration package and recommend salaries, bonuses, including the
incentive awards for Directors and senior management.
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Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the financial
statements. The annual remuneration of other members of the senior
management by bands for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 is set out

below:

Remuneration to the senior management by bands

Nil to HK$1,000,000

£ 21,000,000/ 7T
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Nomination Committee REZEES
The Nomination Committee has been established since September 2005 with RHLZESEHE_TTRFNARK

specific written terms of reference, as revised from time to time, stipulating its
authorities and duties, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). It currently consists
of five members, including Mr. Cho Wing Mou, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr.
Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Tang Wai Man, a majority of whom
are INEDs during the year under review and up to the date of this annual
report pursuant to Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules. Mr. Cho Wing Mou is elected
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the identification and evaluation
of candidates for appointment or re-appointment as a Director and senior
management. The Board has formalised and adopted its existing practices into
a nomination policy in October 2018. The nomination policy stipulated the
key selection criteria and procedures for identifying and nominating suitably
qualified candidates for appointment to the Board. The selection criteria and
procedures specified in the nomination policy include:

1. Selection Criteria

in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee will consider the factors (as reference),
including reputation, integrity, accomplishment and relevant
experience in relation to the principal businesses of the Company
from time to time, commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest, diversity in all its aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. These factors are for reference only, and not
meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee
has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate;

retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to
stand for re-election at a general meeting. For those who have
served as INEDs for a period of nine consecutive years standing
for re-election, the Nomination Committee will consider the
independence of such Director for nomination by the Board to
stand for election at a general meeting and state the reason in the
circular to the Shareholders for the re-election;

S BRI HE Mi LEECZHESE
AHESEERDIFETAREAADF
@ uh (www.wyth.net) & % 5% 5 @ 14
(www.hkexnews.hk) & 3 - £ # R 8l

EI27AG - REBEFEREEAFRAL -
REZESHFHRAEKEANR  BEE
KERE BXZELE - REHERE B

BARERBEGgLL  EPKREHKE
RBIUFPTESR - EXELLEERR
PREBEEE -

RAZEGAEBIINFBEZERERZ
EREZRSVERBENREA -EFS
ERZZE-NF+ABEBRERERRAR
ERBERE - REBKREZD RAE
$Ekak%A§%§ﬁAuﬁ§E%I

HEBEREF - RABKRT ANTE
%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ@%i

1. BREE
— LEHEREREARETAE
B REZESKZEENEE
(ER2ZE)BERZE  HiE-
BBt R EARR TR B
BEBNKR  AIMBARER
HEANEc&AHE SHFENZ
B BEETERNER - F
B (Fm18m ek A k)« XX (b F1
HEER Bk BELR-
BEe - MBMRBEH - %%
EAREH2ZE WA REE
REBAEH REEBET
MIEREZERR/BEENTMA

=+

— REIE=FEREEFIRS
RIRR ARG LEEEE - e
BEBIFRTEREENTF
BEfBEEEENALTRE =
REBEBERZEENEY
- UHEESFRLNBEKR
FRE URBRBERZBEP
2 3 R 32

T EEEZERERA
:2::¢¢ﬁ 47



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
i S E Wk )

48

candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information in a prescribed form, together with their written
consent to be appointed as Director(s) and to the public disclosure
of their personal data on any documents or the relevant websites
for the purpose of or in relation to their standing for election as
Director(s); and

the Nomination Committee may request candidate(s) to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.

Nomination Procedures

the secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of
the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidate(s)
from Board members, if any, for consideration by the Nomination
Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination Committee may
also put forward candidate(s) who are not nominated by Board
members;

for filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. For
proposing candidate(s) to stand for election at a general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board
for its consideration and recommendation;

until the issue of the circular to be sent to the Shareholders,
the nominated persons shall not assume that they have been
proposed by the Board to stand for election at the general
meeting;

in order to provide information of the candidate(s) nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and to
invite nominations from the Shareholders, a circular will be sent
to the Shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment period
for the Shareholders to make the nominations. The names, brief
biographies (including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any other information,
as required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations,
of the proposed candidate(s) will be included in the circular to the
Shareholders;

the Shareholder can serve a notice to the company secretary
within the lodgment period of its intention to propose a
resolution to elect a certain person as Director, without the Board's
recommendation or the Nomination Committee’s nomination,
other than those candidate(s) set out in the circular to be sent to
the Shareholders. The particulars of the candidate(s) so proposed
will be sent to all Shareholders for information by a supplementary
circular;

a candidate is allowed to withdraw his/her candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
company secretary;

the Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
its recommendation of candidate(s) to stand for election at any
general meeting; and
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

— as there may be more candidate(s) than the vacancies available,
and the “gross-vote” method will be used to determine who
shall be elected as Director, the resolutions proposed for
the candidate(s) by the Shareholders shall therefore take the
same form as the resolutions proposed for the candidate(s)
recommended by the Board.

In respect of the Board Diversity Policy, the Board is cognisant of
the benefits of diversity and the Nomination Committee monitors
implementation of this policy as part of the process of selecting and
nominating candidates for appointment to the Board. Candidates are
considered against a broad and diverse range of aspects specified in
the nomination policy, which among other aspects also include gender,
ethnicity and cultural background.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(@) to review and evaluate the structure, size and composition
(including diversity, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations to the Board on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strateqgy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;

(c)  toassess the independence of INEDs;

(d) to monitor the continuous professional development of the
Directors;

(e)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive;

(f)  where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as
an INED at the general meeting, it should set out in the circular
to Shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting:

—  the process used for identifying the individual why the
board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why it considers the individual to be independent;

— if the proposed independent non-executive Director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
why the Board believes the individual would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board;
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—  the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual
can bring to the Board; and

—  how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board.

(g)  the chairman or another member of the Nomination Committee
shall attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be
prepared to respond to questions raised by shareholders on the
Committee’s activities and responsibilities.

The Nomination Committee has been provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and may access to independent professional
advice according to the Board Diversity Policy and its written terms of
reference, if considered necessary.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting to review the Board Diversity Policy, evaluate the Board
performance and succession planning and discuss the criteria and
procedures for retirement by rotation. The Nomination Committee
would recommend to the Board for re-appointment of Mr. Tang Ching
Ho, Mr. Leung Wai Ho and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

Attendance of Directors at Various Meetings

Details of the attendance of individual Directors at Board meetings, committee
meetings and shareholder meetings held during the financial year ended 31
March 2022 are as follows:
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Annual

Audit Remuneration Nomination General

Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting

Name of Directors Ezg ENZES. FMzeg REAZE® KRREFX®

Tang Ching Ho 5 4/4 N/AR 8 A /1 11 11

Tang Wai Man HEH 4/4 N/AT 8 11 Il I

Law Man Yee, Anita EEE 4/4 N/AT 8 A N/AT & A N/AT & A %l

Leung Wai Ho REE 4/4 2/2 1l Il 11

Siu Man Ho, Simon BXR 4/4 2/2 1 Il 11

Cho Wing Mou Bie 44 22 1" 1" 11

Li Ka Fai, David FRE 4/4 2/2 N/AZ i@ N/AT & A 7
Risk Management and Internal Control JE\ B P R A

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives, and ensuring that the Group established and maintained
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems
covering financial, operational, compliance and risk management aspects.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal controls
that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit Committee
would consider the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience and
training of staff and external advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting function.
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Management of the Group is responsible for designing, maintaining,
implementing and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems to ensure adequate control in place to safeguard the Group's assets
and stakeholder’s interest. Management may report from time to time any
finding, recommendation and remedies to the Audit Committee.

The Group has established risk management procedures to address and
handle all the significant risks associated with the businesses of the Group.
The Board would perform an annual or periodical review on any significant
change of the business environment and establish procedures to response to
the risks resulted from the significant change of business environment.

Management would identify the risks associated with the businesses of the
Group by considering both internal and external factors and events which
include political, economic, technology, environmental, social, governance and
staff. Each of risks has been assessed and prioritised based on their relevant
impact and occurrence opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy
would be applied to each type of risks according to the assessment results.
Each type of risk management strategy has been listed as follows:

—  Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or undertake
actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the risk;

— Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as to avoid the
risk;

—  Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk or allocate
to different location or product or market; and

—  Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party.

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to reduce the
risks associated with the businesses accepted by the Group and minimise
the adverse impact results from the risks. The risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control

During the year under review, the Group has engaged an external advisory
firm to undertake the internal audit function to ensure the effectiveness and
efficiency of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
All findings and recommendations on internal control deficiencies were
communicated with the Audit Committee and the Board.

Management confirmed that no significant deficiency and weakness on the
internal control system was identified by the external advisory firm for the
financial year ended 31 March 2022. The Board conducted an annual review
on the risk management and internal control systems and procedures of
the Group, covering all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance and it was considered that the internal controls and risk
management functions were reasonably effective and adequate for the
financial year ended 31 March 2022.
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Inside Information Policy

The Group always emphasises the importance of transparency of
communication between the stakeholders and the Group and has established
policies and procedures for timely disclosure of inside information to the
public when available. The senior management of the Group will take all
reasonable measures from time to time to ensure that the disclosure of inside
information is in compliance with the requirements of all applicable laws and
regulations.

External Auditors’ Remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor, Ernst &
Young, for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 which has been reviewed
and approved by the Audit Committee, are set out as follows:

REHEBE
AEE-BEIERHEERNEEZHEE
BERAE YEHEBRKRER  ARE
AABRATEREABER - ARBESRE
EEBIRRR—UAREER  BRAR
HEMBENAMAERZEZRIERNE
sk o

B B - 57

HE-_Z-_—"F#=A=1+—HILUKFE
B TEN AR R INEE A BREN & ok & At AT
B NEREEREZESEN LILE
AT

Fees paid/payable

B A

HK$'000

Services rendered for the Group [ 7 5% B Fir 4R 14 IR 75 FHE T

Audit services: EIZRE

— annual financial statements — FEMB®RE 5,580
Non-audit services: EEZIRTS

— agreed-upon procedures — ETEIRF 663

— taxation and professional services — BB REERE 654

— other professional services — HMEXRE 28

Total ct 6,925

Accountability and Audit

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation and publication
of the timely financial statements and ensure that they are prepared in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. In preparing the accounts for the financial year ended 31 March
2022, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies which are
pertinent to the Group’s operations and relevant to the financial statements
and have presented an understandable assessment of the Group's position
and prospects.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information and
belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, the accounts are prepared on
a going concern basis and they are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to the events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors continue to
explore any opportunities with potential investors to enhance its financial
position and business development of the Group by way of refinancing,
extension of borrowings and/or fund raising.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out on pages 76 to 83 of this annual report.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group continues to commit to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations, such as the Companies Act, the Companies Ordinance, the SFO,
the Listing Rules and other rules and regulations implemented in relevant
jurisdictions. As far as the Board is concerned and save as disclosed herein, the
Group has complied in material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group
during the financial year ended 31 March 2022.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to enhancing and strengthening efforts on
environmental protection, so as to facilitate industrial upgrading. The Group
proactively implement environmental protection policies, gradually adjust its
portfolio, conduct energy-saving, using recycled paper, emission reduction
and pollution prevention and so forth. The Group not only improved the
quality management system but also strengthened the quality of the audit
to ensure the quality and safety of Chinese and western pharmaceutical
project control. Being an environmental friendly corporation, the Company
will not print hard copy of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
The environmental policies and performance of the Group are disclosed in
a separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be published
on the websites of the Company (www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews
(www.hkexnew.hk).

Investor Relations and Communications with
Shareholders

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective communications
with shareholders and investors (both individuals and institutions) to ensure
that the Group’s information is disseminated to stakeholders in a timely
manner and enable them to have a clear assessment of the enterprise
performance. A shareholders communication policy has been adopted by
the Company and the same is available on the website of the Company
(www.wyth.net). Other major means of communications includes:

Disclosures in Corporate Website

Extensive information on the Group's activities and financial position will be
disclosed in the annual reports, interim reports, announcements, circulars
and other corporate communications which will be sent to shareholders and/
or published on the websites of the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company (www.wyth.net). Other inside information will be released by way of
formal public announcements as required by the Listing Rules and the Inside
Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.
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General Meeting with Shareholders

The Company also acknowledges that annual general meetings and various
general meetings are valuable forums for the Board to communicate directly
with the Shareholders. Members of the Board and the members of various
committees are encouraged to attend and answer questions at such general
meetings.

In order to let the Shareholders to make an informed decision at the general
meetings, sufficient notices with not less than 14 days for every general
meeting and 21 days for every annual general meeting were given to the
Shareholders pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Bye-laws and any other
applicable laws. The chairman will explain the detailed procedures for
conducting a poll during the proceedings of meetings and answered all
questions raised by the Shareholders on voting by poll. All resolutions put to
vote at general meetings are taken by poll and the poll results are published
on the websites of the Company (www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews
(www.hkexnew.hk) immediately following the holding of the general
meetings.

Investor Relations

The Group also has a proactive investor relations programme that keeps
investors and the Shareholders abreast of the Group’s latest development and
discloses relevant information to the public in a timely manner. During the
year under review, we held various meetings with investors and participated
in investor and press conferences.

Shareholder’s Rights

Convening a Special General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act and Bye-law 58 of the
Bye-laws, the Board whenever it thinks fit call special general meetings and
shareholder(s) holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company to require
a special general meeting (the “SGM") to be called by the Board. The written
requisition (i) must state the purposes of the SGM; and (i) must be signed
by the requisitionists and deposited at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong at Suite 3101, 31/F, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong
Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for attention of the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, and may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists. Such meeting shall be
held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.

Such requisitions will be verified by the Company’s share registrars and upon
their confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the company
secretary of the Company will inform the Board to convene a SGM by serving
sufficient notice to all Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has
been verified as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, the SGM will not be convened as requested.
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If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM, the requisitionists or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them may
convene a SGM in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act, but any SGM so convened shall not be held after expiration
of three months from the said date of deposit of the requisition. A SGM
convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in any SGM to be convened by the Board.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either any number
of shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company, or not less than 100 shareholders, can request the Company
in writing to (a) give to shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next
annual general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to
shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting sent to them
any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting. The requisition signed by all the requisitionists must be deposited
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 3101, 31/
F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
or the Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
relevant expenses and not less than six weeks before the meeting in case of
a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week before
the meeting in case of any other requisition.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for election as director(s) at a
general meeting are set out in the “Corporate Governance” under section
headed under “Corporate Profile” on the website of the Company at
www.wyth.net.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing
by email to contact@waiyuentong.com or by addressing their enquiries to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company in the following manners:

In respect of corporate affairs:
Company Secretary

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Suite 3101, 31/F, Skyline Tower

39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

Hong Kong

In respect of other shareholding/entitlement affairs:
Tricor Secretaries Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate the achieving
of high possible standards of openness, probity and accountability. Procedures
are formulated to enable individual employees to disclose internally and at a
high level, information which the individual believes that it shows malpractice
or impropriety within the Group. During the year under review, no incident of
fraud or misconduct was reported from employees that have material effect
on the Group's financial statements and overall operations.

Company Secretary

Mr. Cheung Chin Wa, Angus, who was appointed as company secretary of the
Group, reports directly to the Board and is responsible for, inter alia, providing
updated and timely information to all Directors from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, Mr. Cheung complied with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and took no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

Corporate Social Responsibility

While the Group endeavours to promote business development and strives
for greater rewards for our stakeholders, we acknowledge our corporate
social responsibility to share some burden in building the society where our
business has been established and thrived. The Group is conscious of its
role as a socially responsible group of companies. It has made donations for
community well-being from time to time, supported the communities and
encouraged its employees to participate in any charitable events and caring
services. Given the support from management, the Group built up a team of
staff volunteers to get involved in volunteer work.

Constitutional Document

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, there was no change in the
constitutional document. The memorandum of association and the amended
and restated bye-laws of the Company are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company at (www.hkex.com.hk) and (www.wyth.net),
respectively.

Conclusion

Going ahead, the Group will continue to review regularly its corporate
governance practices to maintain high level of transparency, to enhance
the Company’s competitiveness and operating efficiency and to ensure its
sustainable development and to generate greater returns for the stakeholders.
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 31
March 2022.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries comprise the production and sale
of traditional Chinese and Western pharmaceutical products, health food,
personal care products, property investment, management and sale of
properties in agricultural produce exchange markets. Details of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. During
the year under review, there were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group's principal activities.

Structured Contracts

Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign Investment (2015
version), value-added telecommunications services are subject to foreign
investment restriction in which a foreign investor shall hold no more than
50% equity interest in a value-added telecommunications services provider
(excluding e-commerce) in the PRC.

The Internet Content Provider (“ICP”") services belong to a sub-category of
value-added telecommunications services. According to the Administrative
Rules for Foreign Investment in Telecommunications Enterprises, foreign
investors shall contribute to no more than 50% of the registered capital of a
value-added telecommunications services provider (excluding e-commerce)
and any such foreign investor shall maintain a good track record and possess
relevant operational experience in the value-added telecommunications
services industry (the “Foreign Shareholding Restrictions”).

Shenzhen Gudeng Technology Limited (“Shenzhen Gudeng”), the then direct
wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of Shenzhen Zhibo Tianyu Trading Development
Limited (“Shenzhen Zhibo"), an indirect wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of
CAP, was incorporated in September 2015 and received the ICP license on 7
September 2016. It holds one website and two mobile applications for the CAP
Group and is principally engaged in online provision of agricultural products
in the PRC.

On 19 June 2015, the Circular on Removing the Restrictions on Shareholding
Ratio Held by Foreign Investors in Online Data Processing and Transaction
Processing (Operating E-commerce) Business (the “E-commerce Circular”)
was issued, which allows the foreign ownership in online data processing and
transaction processing (operating e-commerce) business up to 100%. However,
since the E-commerce Circular does not provide any clear legal definition of
"e-commerce’, it is unclear as to whether the business to be conducted by
Shenzhen Gudeng would fall within the scope of the E-commerce Circular
to benefit from the loosened restrictions on the Foreign Shareholding
Restrictions.

ok

EEgRMREARARAEERBEC
EoCEFZA=t-HULEHBRFEz®RE
ERREREAVBERE -

FEEH

ARBZEBEBRREER - T2H B
RAZEIBEBEREEREEERTA
EEML RERR BEAZEER DX
RE BRERRITHWEEERBEE -
ARBETEMNBRAANFBEHNT B RE
el REBEFEAN REBETEXK
MBI BRERED -

EBUESN
BREBEIBREEXEREERAR(CZ—AF
RA) REEERBHDXOTIBKRE
Rl BISNEEEETNARPHRIEESE
ERBRRERAE(TEEEFEIBPHEFA
50% 2 I #E -

EEASHER((EHERNEMHES))
REBEBEEERBZFER - REIE
REEFELEETERE  IBEREEDT
REZNEEEERBEREE(TEREE
T R%) MR A Z50% @ W E A% E
SNEIIRE B AT R AR R NS
BEERBERAHBEELR(IER
BRBR &) -

RYBBRRBERARTRINAE]D BP
BREmcBEZERBEWNEB 2R RY
BRRFHERRBERAR(RINEED
ERZEEZZATENBRAR DR-F
—HFAATMRYL TR ZF—RFN
AtREHEMBENTHERRR -ER
PR EMmEERA — E 8 %R E T
EAREN YFBRENTEZKEEHRR
XEM -

(ERBRRESBEREREER SR ER
(REBVETFEB) INERLRHBENE
FEARBE DA TR BE+hAHE
o RAFERBERELEISEIEER (K
EHEETFHB)NINEHER EED00% °
R HREFHBBRELARRETEH]
R EFPBENERESE  WRIBER
MEBERIEFERBZHERS - LA
B B o

R ERARAT
—z-—zgw D7



Report of the Directors (Continued)

A o)

As such, Shenzhen Zhibo (i) entered into a disposal agreement on 11 July
2016 with Yu Hui Jun (the “"Nominee Shareholder’) and (ii) further entered
into the exclusive business cooperation agreement, the exclusive call option
agreement, the equity pledge agreement, the power of attorney and the
ancillary documents (collectively the “Structured Contracts’) with the
Nominee Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng on 9 October 2016 (other than
the exclusive business cooperation agreement which was entered into by
and between Shenzhen Zhibo and Shenzhen Gudeng only and the power
of attorney which was executed by the Nominee Shareholder in favour of
Shenzhen Zhibo) such that the CAP Group is entitled to acquire the rights
and ability to control the business of Shenzhen Gudeng and to obtain the
economic benefit (the “Contractual Arrangements”).

The exclusive business cooperation agreement and the exclusive call option
agreement had an initial term of 3 years commencing from the date of the
relevant agreements which were renewed for another 3 years on 8 October
2019. As security for the payment of service fees under the exclusive business
cooperation agreement and the performance of the exclusive call option
agreement and the power of attorney, the equity pledge agreement executed
in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo will only be terminated when all the said
obligations of the Nominee Shareholder contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements are fulfilled. Similarly, for protection of the CAP Group, the
power of attorney executed in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo will be valid so long
as the Contractual Arrangements are in place. CAP will keep exploring various
opportunities in building up its ICP services operations for the purposes
of being qualified as early as possible, to acquire the entire equity interest
of Shenzhen Gudeng if and when the Foreign Shareholding Restrictions
are lifted. For details of the Structured Contracts, please refer to the
announcements of CAP dated 11 July 2016 and 11 October 2016, respectively.

Save for the exclusive business cooperation agreement which involves the
payment of a service fee by Shenzhen Gudeng to Shenzhen Zhibo on a
monthly basis, and the nominal consideration paid by Shenzhen Zhibo to the
Nominee Shareholder under the exclusive call option agreement, each of the
Structured Contracts does not involve payment of any consideration.

The Structured Contracts, taken as a whole, permit the results and financial
operations of Shenzhen Gudeng to be consolidated in CAP, as if it was
CAP’s subsidiary resulting in all economic benefits of its business flowing
to CAP. Through the appointment by Shenzhen Zhibo of all directors and
senior management of Shenzhen Gudeng, the directors of CAP believe
that Shenzhen Zhibo is able to effectively supervise, manage and operate
the business operations, expansion plans, financial policies and assets of
Shenzhen Gudeng, and at the same time, ensure due implementation of the
Structured Contracts. According to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
a subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by another entity (known as the
parent). An investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Although CAP does not directly or indirectly own Shenzhen Gudeng, the
Structured Contracts enable CAP to exercise control over and receive
economic benefits generated from the business operation of Shenzhen
Gudeng and the validity and legality of the Structured Contracts have been
confirmed by CAP’s PRC legal adviser. The CAP Group derives economic
benefits from the ICP services provided by Shenzhen Gudeng. Under such
circumstances, the directors of CAP are of the view that it is fair and reasonable
for Shenzhen Zhibo to be entitled to all the economic benefits generated
from Shenzhen Gudeng. The Structured Contracts also permit Shenzhen Zhibo
to exclusively acquire all or part of the equity interest in Shenzhen Gudeng,
if and when permitted by PRC laws and regulations. Notwithstanding the
CAP Group's lack of equity ownership in Shenzhen Gudeng, the CAP Group
is able to control the business and financial position of Shenzhen Gudeng
in substance through the Structured Contracts. As a result of the Structured
Contracts, Shenzhen Gudeng is accounted for as CAP’s subsidiary, and its
financial position and operating results are consolidated in CAP’s consolidated
financial statements.

The amount of financial assistance made by the CAP Group to Shenzhen
Gudeng was approximately RMB600,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Unwinding of the Contractual Arrangements

Considering the scale of operations of the CAP Group's e-commerce platform,
its contribution to the CAP Group’s revenue/profits, as well as its development
prospects, the respective board of directors of the Company, CAP and Wang
On considered that the CAP Group’s resources could be better deployed
towards supporting the continuous development of its internal information
technology infrastructure. Therefore, in the interest of each of the Company,
CAP and Wang On and their respective shareholders as a whole for the
Contractual Arrangements were unwound and terminated.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Call Option Agreement entered into among
Shenzhen Zhibo, Shenzhen Gudeng and the Nominee Shareholder (who was a
director of certain subsidiaries of CAP), Shenzhen Zhibo is granted an exclusive
right (the “Call Option”) which was exercisable at any time at its sole
discretion, to acquire the entire equity interest in Shenzhen Gudeng from the
Nominee Shareholder at a nominal consideration of RMB100 or the minimum
amount permitted under the applicable PRC laws (whichever is higher).

On 20 December 2021, Shenzhen Zhibo exercised the Call Option and entered
into an equity transfer agreement with the Nominee Shareholder to acquire
the entire equity interest in Shenzhen Gudeng at the consideration of RMB100.
The Contractual Arrangements were unwound and the operation of the
CAP Group's e-commerce platform in online agricultural products trading as
supported by the Contractual Arrangements ceased accordingly upon the
completion of the transfer of the entire equity interest in Shenzhen Gudeng.
For details of the unwinding of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer
to the joint announcement of the Company, Wang On and CAP dated 20
December 2021.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

A o)

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 and the
Group's financial position at that date are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 84 to 88 of this annual report.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recorded a revenue
and loss attributable to owners of the parent amounted to approximately
HK$1,391.4 million (2021: approximately HK$1,108.6 million) and approximately
HK$108.9 million (2021: loss of approximately HK$376.0 million).

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
financial year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil). No interim dividend was
declared for the six months ended 30 September 2021 (for the six months
ended 30 September 2020: Nil).

Business Review and Analysis of Key Financial
Performance Indicators

The business review and the key financial performance indicators to the
businesses of the Group, including, among other things, the information set
out below, are disclosed in the "Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 14 to 33 of this annual report:

(@)  afair review of the Group's business;
(b)  principal risk factors;

() an analysis using financial key performance indicators; and

(d)  future development in the Group's business.

The corporate social responsibility, environmental policies and performance
of the Group are disclosed in the “"Management Discussion and Analysis” and
"Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report. More details will be
disclosed in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company in due course. These
discussions form part of this report of the Directors.

As far as the Board is concerned, the Group has complied in material aspects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group during the financial year ended 31 March
2022.

Share Capital and Share Option Scheme

Details of movements in share capital and share option scheme of the
Company during the year under review, together with the reasons therefor, are
set out in notes 33 to 34 to the financial statements, respectively.

Equity-Linked Agreements

During the year under review, other than the Share Option Scheme as set out
in the section headed “Share Option Schemes” and note 34 to the financial
statements, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreements.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on page 228 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities of
the Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the financial year ended 31
March 2022.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Bye-laws provides that for the time being acting in relation to any of the
affairs of the Company, every Director and other officers shall be entitled
to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, losses, damages and expenses which
they may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done about the execution
of the duties of their respective offices or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and other officers of the Group for the year under
review.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’'s reserves available for distribution to
equity holders of the parent, as calculated in accordance with the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted to approximately HK$26.3
million (2021: approximately HK$2.6 million).

Directors

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Gas, /e
Chairman and Managing Director
Ms. Tang Wai Man
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho, mH

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon

Mr. Cho Wing Mou

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David

In accordance with bye-law 87(1) of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Tang
Ching Ho, Mr. Leung Wai Ho and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David will retire by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
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The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from all
INEDs, namely Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Cho Wing Mou
and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, and as at the date of this annual report, the Company
still considers them to be independent.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 34 to 37 of this annual report.

Update on Director’s Information:

Details of the change in remuneration of Directors, if any, were disclosed in
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year under review, save as disclosed above, there is no other
change in information of the Directors since the publication of the 2021
interim report which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by such company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements
or Contracts

Save as disclosed in notes 9 and 40 to the financial statements and the
section “Directors and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations”, no Directors or a connected entity of a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company,
the holding company of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year under review.

Director’s Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors nor their respective associates had an interest in a
business, apart from the businesses of the Group, which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the year under review.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares or
Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective associates
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code under the Listing
Rules, were as follows:
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company and its associated
corporations, Wang On, CAP and Wang On Properties Limited ("WOP"):

(@) Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

B W

RARARRABEEAEE PEBER
RERWEARATD(ERBE)EBE
2R

(@) RELFEBERZEA:

Approximate percentage
of the Company’s total
issued share capital

(Note 1)

HARDTFEBITRAE

Name of Director Number of shares BEBNEDLE (AT

EENR % 13 & H %

Mr. Tang Ching Ho 810,322,940 (Note 2) 65.79
BF 0 5 & (HtaE2)

(b) Long positions in the ordinary shares of Wang On (the “Wang On
Shares”), an associated corporation of the Company:

(b) REAAREBLIBEZZNEER(E
ZRBDZHR:

Approximate percentage
of Wang On'’s total issued
share capital (Note 1)

HERZEBRTRE
Name of Director Name of corporation Number of shares BEBAOBDL (W)
EEpE NEIEH gk 2 | %
Mr. Tang Ching Ho Wang On 7,780,645,772 (Note 3) 48.69
BB A 5 & e (K7 5£3)

(c) Long positions in the ordinary shares of CAP (the “CAP Shares”),
an associated corporation of the Company:

() REAQXFEBZIETERERNZ
BR(TERERROGDZFR:

Approximate percentage
of CAP’s total issued
share capital (Note 1)
EHERERERITRALEHE

Name of Director Name of corporation Number of shares BREDEE (A ET)
EEpgA AT BB 17 &8 %
Mr. Tang Ching Ho CAP 7,320,095,747 (Note 4) 73.54
B 5 W 5 A& PR R Em (K7 :%4)

(d) Long positions in the ordinary shares of WOP, an associated
corporation of the Company:

(d) RELAEBEERZHEENETRE

BzEaE:

Approximate percentage
of WOP total issued
share capital (Note 1)

HERBESRTRA
Name of Director Name of corporation Number of shares BEBORDL (HET)
EEpgA AT EB igng Gl %
Mr. Tang Ching Ho WOP 11,400,000,000 (Note 5) 75.00
gk E M E (K1 7E5)
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Notes:

The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure forms
filed under the SFO.

Under the SFO, Mr. Tang Ching Ho (“Mr. Tang") was interested in
810,322,940 shares of the Company held by Rich Time Strategy Limited
("Rich Time"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On Enterprises (BVI)
Limited ("WOE") which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On in which
Mr. Tang together with his associates were taken to have approximately
48.69% interest.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of the
Stock Exchange, amongst the 7,780,645,772 Wang On Shares, 28,026,339
shares were beneficially held by Mr. Tang, 4,989,928,827 shares were taken to
be interested by Mr. Tang by virtue of being the founder of a discretionary
trust, namely Tang's Family Trust, 28,026,300 shares were taken to be
interested by Mr. Tang in which his spouse, Ms. Yau Yuk Yin, was interested,
and 486,915,306 shares were held by Caister Limited (a company wholly
owned by Mr. Tang), 531,000,000 shares were held by Billion Trader Limited
(a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Loyal Fame International Limited
("Loyal Fame”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Easy One Financial
Group Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Tang), and 432,475,200
and 1,284,273,800 shares were held by Suntech Investments Limited and
Hearty Limited respectively (both direct wholly-owned subsidiaries of Total
Smart Investments Limited (“Total Smart”), which is directly wholly owned
by the Company, which is owned as to approximately 65.79% by Rich Time.)

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of the
Stock Exchange, amongst the 7,320,095,747 CAP Shares, 2,007,700,062 shares
of which were held by Onger Investments Limited ("Onger Investments’)
and 5,312,395,685 shares of which were held by Goal Success Investments
Limited (“Goal Success”). Onger Investments was directly wholly owned
by Loyal Fame. Goal Success was directly wholly owned by Biomore
Investments Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Smart).
The Company is owned as to approximately 65.79% by Wang On which
was owned as to approximately 48.69% by Mr. Tang, together with his
associates. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Tang is deemed to be interested in
the 2,007,700,062 shares which were held by Onger Investments and the
5,312,395,685 shares which were held by Goal Success.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

5. With reference to note 2 above, 11,400,000,000 shares of WOP were held by
Earnest Spot Limited (a direct wholly owned subsidiary of WOE).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective associates
had any other interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the
Model Code.

Share Option Schemes

The Share Option Scheme(s) of the Company

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 August 2013, the
shareholders of the Company approved the termination of the share option
scheme previously adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the special
general meeting held on 18 September 2003 (the “2003 Scheme”) and the
adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2013 Scheme") for the primary
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Upon termination of the
2003 Scheme, no share options was granted thereunder but the subsisting
share options granted prior to the termination will continue to be valid and
exercisable during the prescribed exercisable period in accordance with the
terms of the 2003 Scheme. The 2013 Scheme became effective on 22 August
2013 and, unless otherwise terminated earlier by shareholders at a general
meeting, will remain in force for a period of 10 years from that date. The
remaining life of the 2013 Scheme is approximately one year.

Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, share options may be granted to any Director
or proposed Director (whether executive or non-executive, including INEDs),
employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time), secondee,
any holder of securities issued by any member of the Group, any person or
entity that provides research, development or other technological support or
any advisory, consultancy, professional or other services to any member of the
Group or any substantial shareholder or company controlled by a substantial
shareholder, or any company controlled by one or more persons belonging to
any of the above classes of participants (the “Participants”).

Under the 2013 Scheme, the Board may grant share options to the Participants
to subscribe for shares of the Company for a consideration of HK$1.00 for each
lot of share options granted which must be accepted within 30 days from the
offer date. Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings. There is no specific requirement that an option
must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised but the
Board is empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum period at
the time of grant of any particular option. The period during which an option
may be exercised will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion,
save that no option may be exercised for a period of more than 10 years from
the date of grant.
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Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, the maximum number of share options that may
be granted under the 2013 Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company is the number, upon their exercise, not in aggregate exceeding
30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time, excluding
any shares issued on the exercise of share options. The total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
2013 Scheme and any other schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
number of shares in issue, as at the date of approval of the 2013 Scheme limit
or as refreshed from time to time.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each
Participant (except for a substantial shareholder or an INED or any of their
respective associates) under the 2013 Scheme within any 12-month period is
limited to 1% of the number of shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of such limit must be separately
approved by shareholders of the Company with such Participant and his/
her associates abstaining from voting. Share options granted to any Director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company (or any of their
respective associates) must be approved by the INEDs (excluding any INED
who is the grantee of the option). Where any grant of share options to a
substantial shareholder or an INED (or any of their respective associates) will
result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
share options already granted and to be granted to such person under the
2013 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
shares in issue, and having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the Company’s shares at each date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such
further grant of share options is required to be approved by shareholders of
the Company in a general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules. Any
change in the terms of a share option granted to a substantial shareholder or
an INED (or any of their respective associates) is also required to be approved
by shareholders of the Company. The exercise price must be at least the
higher of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the offer date which must be
a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of
the Company.

During the year under review, no share option was granted, exercised, lapsed
or cancelled under the 2013 Scheme.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available for
issue under the 2013 Scheme is 126,514,288 shares, representing approximately
10.3% of the Company’s total issued share capital.

Other particulars of the 2013 Scheme are set out in note 34 to the financial
statements.
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The Share Option Scheme(s) of CAP

On 3 May 2012, CAP adopted a new share option scheme (the "CAP 2012
Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing incentive to selected eligible
persons (the “CAP Participants”) to take up options for their contribution to
the Group. Under the CAP 2012 Scheme, the board of directors of CAP (the
"CAP Board") may grant share options to the CAP Participants to subscribe for
CAP Shares for a consideration of HK$1 for each lot of share options granted.
The exercise price is to be determined by the CAP Board and shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the CAP Shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; (ii) the average of the official closing price of the CAP Shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a
CAP Share.

The number of CAP Shares in respect of which options may be granted to any
CAP Participant in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the CAP Shares in issue at any point in time, without
prior approval from the shareholders of CAP. Options granted to substantial
shareholders of CAP or independent non-executive directors of CAP, or any
of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the CAP Shares in issue
and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be approved in
advance by the shareholders of CAP.

The CAP 2012 Scheme became effective on 3 May 2012 and will remain in
force for a period of 10 years which expired on 2 May 2022. CAP will seek its
shareholders’ approval on the adoption of a new share option scheme. There
is no specific requirement that an option must be held for any minimum
period before it can be exercised but the CAP Board is empowered to
impose at its discretion any such minimum period at the time of grant of any
particular option. The period during which an option may be exercised will be
determined by CAP Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option may
be exercised for a period of more than 10 years from the date of grant.

Subject to the approval of the shareholders of CAP at general meeting, the
board of CAP may refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number of
CAP Shares in issue as at the date of approval by the shareholders of CAP at
its general meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the CAP Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the CAP 2012 Scheme and any other share option schemes of
CAP at any time shall not exceed 30% of the CAP Shares in issue from time to
time.
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Details of the movements of the share options under the CAP 2012 Scheme HE-_Z-_—_F=ZA=+—HLUWBFE "

during the financial year ended 31 March 2022 were as follows: AREER-_S —_FHETHERESZ
PEEmT
Number of share options
EREHA
Closing price
immediately
Outstanding Exercise before date
Outstanding Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed asat priceper  Exercisable of grant
Name or category of asat 1 April during during during during 31 March share  period during
Participant 2021 the year the year the year the year 2022 Date of grant HKS  (Note) the year
RZB=-% . S FRBERH
8% mA-A SRITEE BRI
EEGER WATE  ERERE  EREAE  EREHEE  EREXN & R 1T RAAH B GEEMHE) K&
CAP Director
HERERES
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond — 50000000 - — — 50000000 31202 0118 31.2022-21.2032 017
2%
Other employees — 176000000 - - — 176000000 312022 0118 312022-21203 0117
iR
Total — 226000000 - - — 226000000
a4
Note: B
The share options granted under the CAP 2012 Scheme were vested as follows: BEPHEER T _F2RENBERE
WEBEBERAOT:
On the 3rd anniversary of the date of grant: 20% vested
REHBREIRF: 20% 57 B
On the 4th anniversary of the date of grant: Further 20% vested
MEHBRE4EEF 3 45M20% 57 B
On the 5th anniversary of the date of grant: Further 20% vested
MR H BB ESRF BHN20% 5 B
On the 6th anniversary of the date of grant: Further 20% vested
REHBRECRF : 5 9N20% 57 B
On the 7th anniversary of the date of grant: Remaining 20% vested
MNEHBEHE7EF - T #420% 57 B

During the year under review, 226,000,000 share options were granted and REREFERN - & F2260000001% &

no share options were exercised, cancelled and lapsed. As at the date of this & RE ﬁ%?ﬁﬁ%%ﬁé AT R AR

annual report, the total number of CAP Shares available for issue under the RAFHREH REFERER-ZT—=

CAP 2012 Scheme is 226,000,000, representing approximately 2.27% of the FrBEABETHNFERERROLER

existing issued share capital of CAP. As the CAP 2012 Scheme expired on 2 May 226,000,000/% + 4Bl 2 E mIBA DT

2022, no more share options under the CAP 2012 Scheme could be granted. BAH227% - R FABERER - —=
FHEERZZE-_ZFRAZBTHY A
TR REPREER T ——F:t8
R o

Other particulars of the CAP 2012 Scheme are set out in note 34 to the TEERER T _FHEZEMFBH
financial statements. B R M 534 -
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests
and short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations” and “Share option schemes” above and in the
share option scheme disclosures in note 34 to the financial statements, at no
time during the year under review were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 March 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons had, or were deemed or taken to have, interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

Number of shares

B W

I B O el A v A

BREXEERETBTHRABRARA R
HEBEBERY  HEROIEREEPZ
Bamhkxe RIBREABISHRES
N ISR M AT 34 PRI R 2 P A hE Rt &I 9D
REEFERNEMNNR SEFARESR
BZEBHARKFEFRL BREELITEN
FE U BB AR A A % 1) S AR B ARt SR (B AR RE
ERZERN - BARB R EFEMNERF
TET AR EE R TR BE A
tEABREZBBERN -

BB HOIR T Ay B R R B A v 2
45 R

RZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H BESZMHF
U TALTRARBIR DK@ G $
BE IR EREEREREEASARRE
& BI B XVEBE2R3D 221G X B R AR
BIRE ABTRBREESFRBEEGE
336 AR AR AT E 2 & 2 #a sk%

B

MARAREBBOTA

Approximate percentage
of the Company’s total
issued share capital
(Note 3)

EART B BT
RABEHROBD L
(Ht&£3)

Name of shareholders BEEE E8B Ko EHE %

Rich Time (Note 1) Rich Time (#7:%1) 810,322,940 65.79

WOE (Note 1) WOE (K7:%1) 810,322,940 65.79

Wang On (Note 1) (M) 810,322,940 65.79

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (Note 2) WE Rt (Hit2) 810,322,940 65.79
Notes: ol

1. Under the SFO, Mr. Tang was interested in 810,322,940 shares of the Company
held by Rich Time, a wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE which is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Wang On in which Mr. Tang together with his associates held
approximately 48.69% interest.

2. Ms. Yau Yuk Yin is taken to be interested in the shares in which her spouse, Mr.
Tang is interested.

3. The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure forms filed
under the SFO.

1. RIEEF RS EEO - B L & R Rich
Time (REZZ2ENBARWOEZ £
& [ff )8 2 B)) 5 A #9810,322,9408% A 1x 7]
BmhEE#ER EhHMELER LR
EAFBHA48.69% 2 HEm o

2. MERLLTWBRER B IR BEWELH
ERREZBOTHEERES -

3. ZENLEESFRMBGROER 2R
BRBERBKE -
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

A o)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, there were no other persons
who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the

SFO.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year under review, the following transactions continued to be
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.55 and
14A.56 of the Listing Rules:

(@)

70

On 19 September 2016, Daywin Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the following office
sub-licensing agreements for a term commencing from 18 September
2016 and expiring on 17 July 2019 which were renewed for further three
years commencing from 18 July 2019 and expiring on 17 July 2022:

(i)

(i)

Wang On Office Sub-licensing Agreement:

an office sub-licensing agreement with Wang On Management
Services Limited ("“WOMS"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of Wang On, to sub-lease Units 02, 03, 05, 06 and 15, 32/F, Skyline
Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
at a monthly fee of HK$188,940 (up to 17 July 2019) which was
increased to HK$193,375 (from 18 July 2019 onwards until the end
of the tenancy agreement), together with other monthly expenses
(including management fee and air-conditioning charge, rates and
Government rent, subject to annual increment); and

WOP Office Sub-licensing Agreement:

an office sub-licensing agreement with Wang On Properties
Services Limited ("WOPS"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of WOP, to sub-lease Units 01 and 07 to 12, 32/F, Skyline Tower,
39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong at
a monthly fee of HK$414,672 (up to 17 July 2019) which was
increased to HK$425,745 (from 18 July 2019 onwards until the end
of the tenancy agreement), together with other monthly expenses
(including management fee and air-conditioning charge, rates and
Government rent, subject to annual increment).

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the aggregate office sub-licensing
fee received by the Group from WOMS and WOPS amounted to
HK$10,353,684, which were within the prescribed caps, as disclosed in
the Company’s announcements dated 19 September 2016 and 17 July
2019, respectively; and
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

(b) on 2 September 2021, Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Company Limited,
an indirect subsidiary of the Company, as supplier, and Wang On
Management Limited (“WOM"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of Wang On, as purchaser, entered into a new master sales agreement
for supplying Chinese and Western pharmaceutical products, health
food and personal care products by the Group to WOM (for itself and
on behalf of other members of Wang On) for the three financial years
ending 31 March 2024 at annual caps of HK$9.9 million, HK$9.9 million
and HK$9.9 million, respectively. During the year under review, total sales
proceeds received by the Group from WOM was HK$8,245,158 which
were within the prescribed annual cap of HK$9.9 million.

The Directors (including all of the INEDs) have reviewed and confirmed that
the abovementioned continuing connected transactions were entered into
(i) in the ordinary and usual course of the Group'’s business; (i) in accordance
with the terms of the respective agreements governing such transactions on
terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole; (i) either on normal commercial terms or on terms
no less favourable to the Group than those available to or from independent
third parties; and (iv) have not exceeded the respective caps.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their
unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter
has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Further details of other related party transactions and/or continuing
connected transactions undertaken by the Group in the ordinary course of
business during the year under review, which fell under Rule 14A.73 of the
Listing Rules, are set out in note 40 to the financial statements.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and save as disclosed above, there were
no other transactions which need to be disclosed as continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

A o)

Connected Transactions

(@) On 2 June 2021, Wai Yuen Tong (Retail) Limited, an indirect subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a tenancy agreement with Success Vision
Limited, an indirect subsidiary of WOP, to lease a retail shop located
at Portion A of Shop No. N77 on the Ground Floor of Nos. 1-11, 15-17
Mount Sterling Mall, Nos. 10-16 Lai Wan Road, Mei Foo Sun Chuen,
Kowloon for a term of three years commencing from 3 June 2021 and
expiring on 2 June 2024 for a monthly rental of HK$115,000 (exclusive of
government rates, rent, management fees, air-conditioning charge and
all other outgoings of a non-capital and recurring nature) (the “Tenancy
Agreement’). The Tenancy Agreement constituted a connected
transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules, details of which
were set out in the announcement published by the Company dated 2
June 2021.

(b)  On 18 June 2021, Century Choice Limited (“Century Choice”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CAP, and Yulin Market Development Service
Centre* (E M ™ ™ % B % R 7% F 1) (the "PRC Shareholder’), a
substantial shareholder of Yulin Hongjin Agricultural By-products
Wholesale Marketplace Limited* (EMZR# BRI ERILETISHRAA)
("Yulin Hongjin"), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of CAP, entered into
a capital reorganisation agreement in respect of Yulin Hongjin, pursuant
to which (@among other things) (i) the PRC Shareholder waived its
entitlement to 35% of the dividend declared by Yulin Hongjin for the
financial year ended 31 December 2020 in the amount of approximately
RMB117 million and directed the same to be paid to Century Choice, and
(i) the amount of registered capital contribution by Century Choice in
Yulin Hongjin reduced by an amount equal to approximately RMB41.9
million, which amount was paid by Yulin Hongjin to Century Choice in
cash (the "Capital Reorganisation Agreement”). As a result of such
reduction of registered capital contribution, Century Choice’s equity
interest in Yulin Hongjin decreased to 51%. Such decrease in equity
interest constitutes a disposal by CAP of its equity interest in Yulin
Hongjin under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. The Capital
Reorganisation Agreement also constituted a connected transaction for
the Company under the Listing Rules, details of which were set out in
the joint announcement of the Company, WOG and CAP dated 18 June
2021.

Further details of other related party transactions undertaken by the Group
in the ordinary course of business, which fell under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing
Rules, during the year under review are set out in note 40 to the financial
statements. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and save as disclosed above,
there were no other transactions which need to be disclosed as connected
transaction in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

* for identification purpose only

72 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022

B 322 5%

(a)

RZZE-—FAZH ARalzME
ENBRARMNTE(ZEE)BRAA
BrRRMEzHEENBREIBREAE
RAalsl v HERZ  WEARBUR
BEFFWHEBI0- 16K E FE
EIB1-1158 ~ 15-175% #b N N775% 4 A
Hom—HEEEE HHA-F
T—FRXAZHAREZZT-_MNFRA
—Hik - BH=9F - AFEN50008 T
(TRfEEm HH- E828 - =H
BURFBHEMIEERERELR
THEEHRE]D - RE LMK -
HEBBERARANBERS -
EFEBIERNARARBHEAE-_ZT——
EXAZBRRQM -

RZZE-_—FA+N\H ®E#HE
RARI([EE APHEERNS
EMBRARBRFHEERMMNIES
EWBAREME#E R ERIE
MEHEERAAIEREED 2 ES
B% B E AR T T 5 B B BR 7% R O ([
BRF) D EMRRETLAARNEH
B B (EP e ()R ERK
REREZAEINEZERBZEZ_F=
EE+ A=+t -BULUHEEST
Kk 2 BB 4 A R #117000,0007t 2
B5% R WERAEEBSEX
NyEE RNEBRENREZEN
HEMERTERVEERHDARE
41,900,0007T 2 & %8 © B EME # M
ERHUNReIH(TEREAnE] -
BRI EEMERTERMD - BEE
REMREHENRER D E51% ° iR
BEMHRBF4E ZBREDHRD
BRYAHEREMEEETEEINRE
R HE - BIE EMMA - EAEMA
BEMER ARG —BEERS
HBERRARNE  ERRERPERE
mBEA T -—FXA+/\BHHNE

SN

REBFER ASER-REHKBRE
TETZEMEB O ZZ(BLWRRE
TAA 731G 80 Bl M) 3 — 2 5 18 800 B 75 3R
R MTEE40 - KRB AT LM R AFI4A
EZRERTE AR EXWEZN  BE
Hit 2 5ARE LR A5 E R ERREE

%5 o

*OEHER



Report of the Directors (Continued)

Emolument Policy

The Group's emolument policy for its employees is in place and approved
by the Remuneration Committee and the Board on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Remuneration
Committee and the Board, as authorised by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting, having regarded to the Group's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted the 2013 Share Option Scheme at the annual
general meeting held on 22 August 2013, as incentives to Directors and
eligible employees. CAP has adopted the CAP 2012 Scheme in May 2012
which was expired in May 2022. Details of the 2013 Scheme and the CAP 2012
Scheme are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the sales to the Group's five largest
customers accounted for less than approximately 4.6% (2021: approximately
8.9%) of the Group's total sales and the sales to the Group's largest customer
included therein accounted for approximately 1.3% (2021: approximately 3.5%).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 8.8% (2021: approximately 19.8%) of the Group’s purchases and
the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 30.1%
(2021: approximately 54.8%) of the Group’s purchases.

At no time during the year under review did a Director or any of their close
associates or a shareholder of the Company, which to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares, had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

Donations

During the year under review, the Group made charitable and other donations
totaling approximately HK$7.8 million (2021: approximately HKS$2.7 million).

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of the
Company or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in the transactions as disclosed in note 40 to the financial
statements, no controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries has any
contract of significance of the Company or its subsidiaries during the year
under review.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

A o)

Management Contracts

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year under review.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as
a whole.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company complied with the code
provisions under the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the year under review, except for the deviation of the code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. Details of the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 38 to 56 of this annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
amount of public float as required under the Listing Rules throughout the year
under review and up to the date of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Company has established its Audit Committee with specific written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee comprises Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho,
Simon and Mr. Cho Wing Mou, all of whom are the INEDs, and Mr. Li Ka Fai,
David is elected as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee met twice with
management and the external auditor to review and consider, among other
things, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, the
financial reporting matters (including the review of audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the condensed
interim results for the six-month ended 30 September 2021), the statutory
compliance, internal controls and risk management, continuing connected
transactions and the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function as well as
their training programs and budget. The Audit Committee has also reviewed
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 with
the external auditor and management of the Company.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

R

Events After The Reporting Period e b % B R

Details of significant events after the reporting period of the Group are set out AEEREHRERFHEZHABHNYH
in note 46 to the financial statements. K M 546 o

Auditor 3 ]

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 have been audited HE-_T-_—_F-A=-+—BLFEZH

by Ernst & Young, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for BHRERACHT KGN EBAERZ © K

re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the CHMEBEHMBERT YHEEARBEEE

Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the BEEFL - ARAKREERRBFREG

Company. IRERBR ENZELKSIHMNES
FfT 7% AN X B A% BLAD o

On behalf of the Board REEFE

Tang Ching Ho BE A

Chairman and Managing Director TREFEFHLICHE

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022 BEF T _FRAZ+N\H
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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e
EY::

To the shareholders of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wai Yuen Tong
Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 84 to 226, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter
is provided in that context.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities BMERBTAREZEMB BT GFEH
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, BHREAENETI —SEMAHET B
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the FHEEHPRETEHEBNEML - HE
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks o BPOBATEBERTRAEY TG
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results BEeMBERERERERBR MR R TR
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the STEVERTIERF - RMIBITEREFNER -
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying BEEYTRARENFEMNITNER -

consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

REAUBRRERERBABRAREHRT
it o

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BREBITEH

Valuation of investment properties

REYERZIGE

The Group holds various investment properties
in Hong Kong and Mainland China for rental
earning purposes. Such investment properties
are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period and the aggregate carrying
amount of these investment properties was
HK$3,562,503,000 as at 31 March 2022, which
represented approximately 47% of the total assets
of the Group.
EEEREARTEAMBELEREMEUR
RS FEREDVERSBERAREKRATES
B MZSEREVER-_EB-__F=HA=+—AZ
HBEREE A3,562,503,0008 7T - 1 EEEREE
#4947% ©

Management of the Company engaged external
valuers to perform the valuation of these
investment properties as at 31 March 2022 and
in the absence of current prices in an active
market for similar properties, the external
valuers considered information from a variety of
sources such as current prices of properties with
similar locations and conditions. This has been
identified as a key audit matter because significant
estimation is required to determine the fair values
of the investment properties, which reflect market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.
ERREEBER-_ZE-_—_F=ZA=1+—HZEHN
HEMHZEREMELETEE - RBRZEUY
FHEFRTISPAZHTERERT SN ERD
EERKBZERRZEHR - MEHLE KM
MZMENRTER - WERI B —HBRE
FEDEEEREME L ATEAELEEAMEE
HaRMBERR 2 THARNR -

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation
to the valuation of investment properties are
included in notes 2.4, 3 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.
EHAREMEMEZEFABERBRERAREAY
BREMI 24 - 3RI5

EMNEFONEEFARESNEE

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment properties
included the following:
B EREDEHREZEFEFEBEATRIE:

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared by the
external valuers engaged by the Group;
EEREND BEEBETEZIIDEEMMEHE 2 HERS:

assessing the external valuers’ qualification, experience and
expertise and considering their competence, objectivity and
independence; and

FEEINEIEER B4 - KRAEEMNBRALEREES  THELER
BN R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the
assessment of the valuation methodologies applied and the key
parameters adopted in the valuations.
BRERMOABEEERBHERMFEEETEA ZEETENR KL
RAZBAREZ2E-

e S ERBR AR
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

HEETNEE

[oH o 7 5% OH (40

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EMWEFNNEEERESSEE

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale

BRIYERBEHNENE I TEHFE

The Group holds properties under development
and properties held for sale in Mainland China,
which are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. As at 31 March 2022, the
aggregate carrying amount of these properties
was HKS$1,680,791,000, which represented
approximately 22% of the total assets of the
Group.
EEEREFRAM I ERTPMERFELED
ERKAEAERFEMEFREEIER - N
T -F=-A=+—H UEVEZBEEREAR
1,680,791,000%8 T - 16 EEEBEELK22% -

During the year, no further write-down or reversal
was recognised in profit or loss against these
properties.

FR - MERZEYEEE S BERE - SHORSK
Bm -

The Group engaged an external valuer to
perform the valuations of the properties under
development and properties held for sale as at
31 March 2022. This has been identified as a key
audit matter because significant estimation is
required to determine the net realisable value of
the properties under development and properties
held for sale, which reflects market conditions at
the end of the reporting period.

EEER T —_F=A=1+—BZEINIEER
HBERPYELFELENEETEE - ARE
TERTMERBELEDENTER FERE
HEBERME HARBEBESMAR2TEMR
B E BRI AR S EE -

The accounting policies and disclosures in
relation to the properties under development
and properties held for sale are included in notes
24, 3, 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.
EHERTMERSELEDECGARELRE
BEHAGEMBRAMT24 3 19%20 -
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Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value of properties
under development and properties held for sale included the
following:

BMARERTFYELFELEYDENER FEACEARFBEAT
FIE

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared by the
external valuer engaged by the Group;
EEkENSm ESEZRZINGEMMARER ZEERS:

assessing the external valuer’s qualification, experience and
expertise and considering its competence, objectivity and
independence; and

RN ER IR ERD  BHE KB RFTFANBUTEREE N  FHEUER
B R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the
assessment of the valuation methodologies applied and the key
parameters adopted in the valuations, on a sampling basis.
BEBEMOANSEEERGERMBETEEETRER 2GETE
ANRERBEAR2E -
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Key audit matter

BREEITEH

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EPNEFNMEERRETSH

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

YE  BERREZREFE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had property, plant
and equipment (including right-of-use assets),
before current year impairment, of HK$865,174,000,
which relate to the cash-generating units ("CGUs")
of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products and Western pharmaceutical and health
food products. Given that there are internal and
external sources of information that indicate
impairment or reversal of impairment may exist,
management of the Company performed an
impairment assessment of the related property,
plant and equipment to determine their
recoverable amounts based on either their value in
use or fair values less costs of disposal.
RZTBZZF=A=+—H  ESEEHEHDE
FRBEmERNBELREAREMZIRSE
FERN(REELEBENDEBOME BERR
1% (B 45 F 4 B ) 865,174,0008 T (MR AN &
BE AT o A A A AR K Sh 3B & B RR 8K T B 7
EREIRERR - BERAREEEHEBME -
MERZREBEBETRENEL BREEAEEIRQF
BEREEXRETARESE -

During the year, net reversal of impairment losses
of HK$6,395,000 was recognised against these
property, plant and equipment.

RERN ERZEDE BMERXFERABREES
18 % B )% 886,395,000 7T ©

The impairment assessment has been identified
as a key audit matter due to the materiality of
the carrying values of the property, plant and
equipment, and the significant judgements and
estimations involved in the assessment of their
recoverable amounts.

ME - BEAMRBEHEZEZW U RAMBER
Yol & KPR E R R BRI EF G
WI R —EARESEE -

The accounting policies and disclosures in
relation to the impairment of property, plant and
equipment are included in notes 24, 3 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EAME BERZEREZEHABRRERREESR
REFEMB|RRMET24 - 3R14 »

For impairment assessments using the value in use calculations, our
audit procedures included the following:
UG EFEREEETRENGENS RPN EFEFEEUATSIE:

enquiring of management in relation to the key assumptions applied
in the cash flow projections, such as the revenue growth rates and
gross margins, and comparing them to historical information and
our understanding of the latest market information and conditions;
and
MEEEEARSRAATERAZEARRR(MBRAZRERERN
)W KRR ERRREFELHBELRMESEHTHEEAK
RO E B REITH B &

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us with the
assessment of the methodologies and the discount rates used to
determine the recoverable amounts on a sampling basis.
BHEIAMOABEEZRBYHEMBETEETTRBDEERRA
ZTERTERE -

For impairment assessments using the fair values less costs of disposal
of the relevant property, plant and equipment, our audit procedures
included the following:

BRURFERLEEEDE BRERZENKNETRENMGETE -
MW EAEFRENATSIE:

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared by the
external valuer engaged by the Group;

EELEHNE ESEZRRZIINSGEEMAMERZEERS:

assessing the external valuer’s qualification, experience and
expertise and considering its competence, objectivity and
independence; and

AN fEER B RBRLZFENBLERHEE N  THUER
B R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the
assessment of the valuation methodologies applied and the key
parameters adopted in the valuations.
BHEBEMNOANDEEERBRMFEEEPEAZEETEAR
RBzHER2E -
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

B 57 A% BB e )
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Mr. CHUNG, Ho Ling.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

28 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

s o 1H S B K At i WY B A%

Year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE - -~ =A=+—HItFE

2022 2021
—E-= =95 = —&F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT T T
REVENUE I 2= 5 1,391,411 1,108,565
Cost of sales i & B A (821,021) (663,283)
Gross profit £ A 570,390 445,282
Other income and gains, net Hi g A Rz - 558 5 144,869 120,629
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHFAX (246,127) (167,442)
Administrative expenses TR X (253,068) (261,822)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net MBEERERE F8 7 (12,875) (40,627)
Other expenses HEMAX 6 (41,424) (264,300)
Write-down of properties held for sale FiE &S W 2 OB 20 - (6,326)
Finance costs A& KA 8 (95,695) (107,724)
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets  E A FELER AKRZ
and liabilities at fair value through profit VBEERBEZRT
or loss, net Bz (&) 28 (31,693) 6,601
Fair value losses on owned investment FEBEREMEZNTE
properties, net BB 55 15 (83,253) (32,056)
Share of profits and losses DALEEE R FRE R &
of associates & 1,572 4,654
LOSS BEFORE TAX FRELATE 1B 7 (47,304) (303,131)
Income tax expense Fr 15 %t 2 11 (40,519) (148,132)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AEEEIE (87,823) (451,263)

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

1R AR R Lt 4 K 2R K o)

Year ended 31 March 2022 B2 —E - —F=ZA=+—HItFE

2022 2021
—E-= =95 = —&F

HK$’000 HK$'000
FHR TR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) E i 2 HE ik & (&)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that A] g R 18 B ] 2B 3T 9 4E

may be reclassified to profit or loss in PR 2 B2 EK
subsequent periods: @ (E1E)
Debt investments at fair value RATEKLHEMEE
through other comprehensive Wam AR ZEBKR
income: &
Changes in fair value NEBEEH (57,083) 11,981
Reclassification adjustments for losses AR EEZ
included in profit or loss: B EAE:
— Impairment losses, - BEEBE -
net eIt 7 4,913 382
- Loss on disposal/redemption, -HE/BRZ
net BB FEE 6 40,865 476
(11,305) 12,839
Share of other comprehensive income DAGEE R A2 B At
of associates 2E K = - 9,978
Translation reserve: B 5
Translation of foreign operations BMEBINETE 132,557 286,512
Release of translation reserve upon HER —BE R
disposal of investment in an CIP& 8- 45330
associate ME 5 7 - 29,850
Net other comprehensive income that AIRE R 12 B E 3T 9 4R
may be reclassified to profit or loss in EEHEZHEMTER
subsequent periods R R 121,252 339,179
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that #T &R 1% B & 3 5
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in R B A2 EH
subsequent periods: W (ER) -
Fair value adjustment upon transfer KEITERAMEER
from owner-occupied property to TEMERZ QT
investment property, net of tax BEREE MBRHIE - 76,103
Share of other comprehensive loss AME—HEEE R R H
of an associate fth, 2 TH 5 48 - (869)
Equity investments at fair value BAFTELEMEE
through other comprehensive Weas AR 2 IR
income: BE:
Changes in fair value NEEEZE 1,322 30,305
Net other comprehensive income that will — #§7~& R 1% BRI & %7
not be reclassified to profit or loss in NEEBRHM
subsequent periods 2 TE = F R 1,322 105,539
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEFEEHMEZEKE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX MBRBE 122,574 444,718
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) REE2mEUzE (EE)
FOR THE YEAR W 34,751 (6,545)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)
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Year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE - -~ =A=+—HItFE

2022 2021
—E__ —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT T T
Profit/(loss) attributable to: LATA T REAEREF,
(&) -
Owners of the parent NEIHEB A (108,912) (375,995)
Non-controlling interests RS 21,089 (75,268)
(87,823) (451,263)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) IATATEEZE RS
attributable to: (B 18) #8758
Owners of the parent NEEA A (34,610) (77,461)
Non-controlling interests RS 69,361 70,916
34,751 (6,545)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO BAREERER
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS BFEAEWL
OF THE PARENT EREE 13
Basic and diluted BEARK#E HK (8.84) centsi&fll  HK (30.53) cents % 1ll
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B W B IR DL

31 March2022 — 2 -4 =/8=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= =95 = —%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BERZE 14 956,400 961,775
Investment properties wEWME 15 3,562,503 3,507,623
Net investments in subleases DEREFE 16 9,093 4,496
Investments in associates RBERBZ/E 17 3,804 2,832
Financial assets at fair value through other BN ELHEAM 2
comprehensive income ANERZHBEE 18 147,126 234,871
Loans and interest receivables FE W B R R B 23 13,340 -
Financial assets at fair value through BAFELER AR Y
profit or loss BAE 25 135 -
Prepayments and deposits BRFRERES 24 16,558 19,134
Deferred tax assets RERBBEAE 32 48 48
Total non-current assets WIEREE E 4,709,007 4,730,779
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties under development BRPYE 19 189,944 68,528
Properties held for sale FELEWE 20 1,490,847 1,886,497
Inventories FE 21 188,179 162,670
Trade receivables 25 EWRRIE 22 63,346 53,300
Loans and interest receivables FE W E A S 23 17,528 30,301
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE - Ze Rk HAE
receivables W 318 24 244,004 308,632
Net investments in subleases DEEEFHE 16 5,592 8,852
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEKLEMEER R
other comprehensive income AEREZCHBEE 18 19,839 47,944
Financial assets at fair value through BAFELEERZ AR ZY
profit or loss BAE 25 109,605 102,603
Tax recoverable a] g [ 7 18 11,115 34,884
Pledged deposits [REEEEER S 26 31,250 -
Restricted bank balances PRI ERAT 4 R 26 7,311 22,302
Cash and cash equivalents BekReZEREER 26 510,146 507,234
Total current assets BmEAE 2,888,706 3,233,747
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables B F R RIA 27 86,357 72,204
Other payables and accruals Hip R FHIA R ETE R 28 769,384 809,710
Contract liabilities BHEE 28 242,967 596,568
Financial liabilities at fair value through BAFELEZARZY
profit or loss Baf’ 25 - 37
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings AERITREMEER 30 640,262 628,736
Convertible notes a] ¥ ik R 31 - 131,901
Tax payable FE R 18 142,344 132,239
Total current liabilities BREBE 1,881,314 2,371,395
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 1,007,392 862,352
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRBEE 5,716,399 5,593,131
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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(Continued)
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2022 2021
—E-= =95 = —%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAEIT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BWEERTBERE 5,716,399 5,593,131
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERE
Other payables H fth & 3B 28 72,589 56,089
Financial liabilities at fair value through BATEEER AR ZY
profit or loss Baf’E 25 - 810
Unsecured notes AR R 29 219,497 199,348
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings AERITRAEMEER 30 821,403 701,092
Deferred tax liabilities BEXERIBAE 32 642,299 685,443
Total non-current liabilities WIERBEE 1,755,788 1,642,782
Net assets BEFE 3,960,611 3,950,349
EQUITY EE
Equity attributable to owners of the parent & AT HEH A E(EEH
Issued capital BEITIRA 33 12,316 12,316
Reserves Gk 35 2,503,482 2,553,009
2,515,798 2,565,325
Non-controlling interests JEE R = 1,444,813 1,385,024
Total equity fy 3,960,611 3,950,349
Tang Ching Ho Tang Wai Man
55 A HES
Director Director
s EZE
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 March 2022 B2 —ZFE - —F=-A=+—HILFE

At 1 April 2020 W-E-34MA-A 1236 210679 s 569 8 (12369 359 2019 (10812 (0ge7) B0W 4014 2642786 1350601 3993387
Loss for the year LEgEE - - - - - - - - - - - BB BB (568 (451263
Other comprehensive incomef(oss) for A5 E R 2 Fhi/

the year: (E8):

Financia assts at farvalue thiough ~ RAFESAHZEREN
other comprehensive income: BinEE:

Changes n fairvalue 1TEED - - - - - - - - 1191 30305 - - A - A%
Reclassfcation adjustment for HABRZER
losses included in profitor LEHNAR
loss Ag
~Impairment losses, net -fEER BB - - - - - - - - 3’ - - - k) - E)
- Loss on disposal - /8B
Tedemption, net HE 58 - - - - - - - - ) - - - 1% - 4

Fairvalue adjustment upon transfer -~ AEFERNERE
from omner-occupied property RENZRAY

foinvestment property,net ATEEE
of tax BHREE - - - - - - - - - - 76,103 - 76,103 - 76,103
Share of other comprefensive BN ENEE
incomelloss) of associates Wi/ Bk - - - - - 9978 - - - (869) - - 9109 - 9109
Trenslation resenve: EXGE:
Exchange differences on EERES
ranslation of foreign fif:3:3
operation EizE - - - - - 03 - - - - - -3 eI 286512
Release of translation reserve HER-BRERE
upon disposal of investment RERER
inan associate EiGR - - - - - - - - - - - -9
Total comorehensive incomefoss) for - AEE2ENE /()
the year et - - - - - 180,156 - - 12839 1943% 76103 (375995 (17461) 70916 6543)
Dividend declered to BFERERE R
non-controlling ineress k& - - - - - - - - - - - - - (B4 3649
Exgiryof share options EREER - - - - ®) - - - - - - 8 - - -
Release of reserves upon disposalof ~ HER -EEEATRER
investment in an associte BRER - - - - - - - 2019 - 03 - 3281 - - -
Transfer to reserve funds EEE 5 - - - - - - 8 - - - - (832 - - -
A3 Mach 200 [ e e T L S T L LA - R < -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
A o BE R 52 B R )

Year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE - -~ =A=+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
BARREARL

Fair value Retained
Fairvalue  reserve Asset profits/ Non-
Issued Share  Special Contributed Translation ~ Reserve  Capital  reserve (non-  revaluation  (accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  surplus  reserve funds  reserve (recycling) recycling)  reserve losses) Total  interests equity

ATERE ATERE REEA
BRARAX  RHEE  BAHRE BARE  EXRE BEEE  EARE  (THE) (FWHE) EEEGRE  (ZiEE) B FERER 8RR
HK§000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HKS'000 HK§'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
T TEn TR T TEn TR T T TEn Tin T TER TEn TEn
(note 33) (mote 35(i))  (note 35(ii)) (note 35(iv))  (note 35(vi))
(Wi33) (&350 (W35 (B&3s0v)  (BraEas(vi))

At 1 Aprl 2021 R-E=-¥mA-R 12316 2,106,799 (27,150) 275,693 56,462 1,191 - 2,001 8749 104117 2,121 2565325 1385024 3,950,349
Profitloss) for the year KEREA/(B8) - - - - - - = - = - (108912 (l0gg12) 21,08 (87:823)
Other comprehensive income(loss) FEREN2ENE/
forthe year (B8):
Financilassetsat fairvalue through ~ RATEEER2ENE
other comprehensive income: NEZBBEE:
Changes n fairvalue LTERE - - - - - - - (43.95) 1322 - - (42634 (13021 (55761)
Reclasificaton adjustment for TAERZEEL
Josses included in profit o loss LRl
~Impairment losses, net -REEE FE - - - - - - - 4913 - - - 4913 - 4913
- Loss on disposal/redemption, -tE/BE2E
net B 38 = - - - - - - 2,138 - - - 2,138 13127 40,865
Trandlation resrve: ERGE:
Buchange differences on transiation ~~ REENERAEEL
offoreign operation EfzE - - - - 84,285 - - - - - - 84,285 g 132557
Total comprehensive income/[loss forthe A5 52 Eh/(§5)
year 4% - = = - 84,285 = o (11,305) 1322 - (108912) (34,610) 69,361 34,751
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests ER#RRERSRR & - - - - - - - - - - - - (25628)  (25628)
Reclassfcation acjustment foragainon~ HERAFEALKRE
disposal of equity investmentsatfair -~~~ EAR 2 BE
value thiough other comprehensie ~ REHREZ
ncome EEDEFLS - - - - = = = - (53) = 53 = = :
Disposalof partialinerestinasubsidiary & ERKBATNBAER - - = = (3,89) - Mo - - - - (14917 14917 -
Recognition of ashare-based payment of ~ B-BHBAT 2 MK fE
asubsidiary note 3¢) BRI - - - - = = = - = = = = 1139 1139
Transfer to reserve funds 2RTREES - - - - - 901 - - - - (901) - - -
At 31 March 2022 i S 12316 2,106,799 (27,150  275,693¢  136,849* 2092¢ (11,019 (9,278) 10018* 104117 (84639 2515798 1444813 3960611

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,503,482,000 * ZERERERESREAVUBARRARFH
(2021: HK$2,553,009,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. A FE#2,503,482,0008 T (2 -—4 -
2,553,009,0007& 7t) ©

90 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 March 2022 &

it

=

2022

— — —

—_ = =

HK$'000
TEx

o Bl i B AR

F=ZA=+—RLEE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEXBBRERE
Loss before tax bR 7% B & 18 (47,304) (303,131)
Adjustments for: EHENTEIE :
Finance costs & AR 8 95,695 107,724
Interest income on loans receivables FE M B 2 A2 A 5 (4,486) (3,798)
Interest income on financial assets at fair value BATEBEES AR HBE
through profit or loss and financial assets ERBEATESEMNZE
at fair value through other comprehensive WR AR BEEZF
income S A 5 (6,842) (16,284)
Interest income on bank deposits RITFRZFBRA 5 (4,048) (4,489)
Finance income on net investments in subleases DBREFELHBRA 5,16 (555) (705)
Dividends from financial assets at fair value RERDTELEERZAKRZH
through profit or loss and financial assets BEERERATELEMS
at fair value through other comprehensive Bl E ARZHBEE 2K
income g 5 (9,414) (4,383)
Gain on modification/termination of lease B,/ RIEAEAEHZ K
contracts 5 (491) (13,737)
Gain on disposal of investment properties, net ﬁ%?ﬁﬁ%%Zlﬂlm ¥ 5 (8,169) -
Fair value losses/(gains) on financial assets BATEEER AR HBA
and liabilities at fair value through profit or ENBEZATEER/
loss, net (Was) » F% 31,693 (6,601)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME  BELRREEEZ
plant and equipment &8 6 6,355 237
Loss on redemption of convertible notes ERAREEREEE 6 - 3,933
Loss on disposal/redemption of debt investments  H& /BEE QA FELEME
at fair value through other comprehensive HUE AR EBREZE
income, net i 38 40,865 476
Loss on disposal of financial assets HERATELBRAKRZH
at fair value through profit or loss %E EZEE E 599 -
Loss on disposal of investment in HER—HBE AR ZREY
an associate EE - 237,740
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses) 1% -~ BERXEZREESE/
on property, plant and equipment, net (REEERR)  F% 6,14 (6,395) 21914
Impairment losses on financial assets, net MBEAEREESE 8 7 12,875 40,627
Depreciation of owned assets FBEEENE 14 61,000 58,999
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ﬁ RAEEENE 14 46,797 33,624
Accrued rent-free rental income JEEt MW A 15 147 (32)
Fair value losses on owned investment Fﬁ?‘?‘éﬁ& EMEZATEER
properties, net F 15 83,253 32,056
Fair value losses on sub-leased bl E&ﬁ%%Z FEEE -
investment properties, net F 5 15 3,764 2,976
Allowance for obsolete inventories REFERE 4,970 4,747
Write-down of properties held for sale 71 1 & 1) OB - 6,326
Share of profits and losses of associates DEEBERFERN REE (1,572) (4,654)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from HEAMRE®EREERRES
lessors AEENEEER 16 (3,860) (6,888)
294,877 186,677
Increase in inventories FEEM (30,208) (12,245)
Increase in properties under development R AL (17,596) (82,238)
Decrease in properties held for sale BIEHEDERD 350,828 220,557
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables Z ST ERD (E) (14,426) 16,493
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, BERRIE - Ze REMEKRE
deposits and other receivables iR / (i m) 77,423 (38,529)
Increase in trade payables B2 ENRIELM 12,209 1,682
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities a8 %i‘ m/ e (372,943) 2,515
Increase/(decrease) in other payables Hith B B K AT E B,/
and accruals o (80,667) 191,462
Cash from operations BEMERS 219,497 486,374
Proceeds from subleases oM AT1ERIE 16(ii) 10,599 11,560
Interest received on bank deposits fE AERZ B 4,048 4,489
Tax paid ERHE (81,873) (89,872)
Net cash flows from operating activities REXBRBzZREREFHE 152,271 412,551
T EBEEERERA 91
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

HEB MR

Yearended 31 March2022 B ZE —Z -~ =A=+—HItFE

2022
—E-=
HK$'000
TER
Net cash flows from operating activities REXBRBzREREIH 152,271 412,551
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETBZEERE
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment EEW ¥ « BE kX HHEE (26,036) (56,462)
Deposits paid for acquisition of items of property,  WEWE - BELXEEE 22
plant and equipment g - (3,040)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, i % ME - BERREERRES
plant and equipment 883 4,248
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties tHE&QW%Fﬂ—% H;E 43,971 -
Additions to investment properties AREREME 15 (51,558) (30,725)
Proceeds from disposal of investment in an associate Hj EXN—HBEAARARERE - 48,514
Purchase of financial assets BERATEHEEE AR ZHUBE
at fair value through profit or loss B (58,357) (38,796)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HERATELBERARL
at fair value through profit or loss B 15 & E A3 ;B 18,081 -
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through BERLATELEMZEKEA
other comprehensive income ZHBEE (39,252) (64,716)
Proceeds from disposal/redemption of debt HE/EEREAFELH ﬁt 2 E e
investments at fair value through other B ARZEBREMER
comprehensive income 99,757 63,139
Increase in loans and interest receivables JE W B R R FE W R B 5B AN (3,398) (3,947)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank balances SZIRERITESR D (L) 15,696 (13,036)
Dividends received from associates RN E NG 600 3,873
Interest received from loans receivables and RERKERREBREZ
debt investments 2 W F 8 12,360 22,077
Dividends received from financial assets at fair RERLATELEME2E G AR
value through other comprehensive income and LHBEERBERATEKER
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss AEZHBEEZEHWEER 9,414 4,383
Net cash flows from/(used in) REEDMEB, ()
investing activities Reme® 8 22,161 (64,488)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES METBZHERE
New bank borrowings MERITES 589,868 426,364
Repayments of bank and other borrowings ERETREMES (480,364) (500,478)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ) FEHE AR & 2 T IR B (25,628) -
Redemption of convertible notes i [0 7] % 2 4% (134,800) (130,000)
Principal portion of lease payments MENRZEEHBH (64,342) (62,368)
Interest paid B A (58,464) (84,394)
Increase in pledged deposits (i3 ?Eﬁﬁ SRl (30,683) -
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEERHMAREREFHE (204,413) (350,876)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH FeRESERAEBRLFE
EQUIVALENTS (29,981) (2,813)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year E%ﬂzfﬁﬁ&fﬁﬁﬁﬂlﬁ 5| 507,234 475,702
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXEHTE - FE 32,893 34,345
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR ﬂiiﬁzfﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁgﬂlﬁ B 510,146 507,234
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF BeRBLERBEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERRAM
Cash and bank balances RBe RRITHES 474,889 432,061
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity REERRIBELR=MA
of less than three months when acquired JEEAEHER 35,257 75173
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeERBER 510,146 507,234
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

Corporate and Group Information

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company”’) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its head office and principal place of business are both located at
Suite 3101, 31/F, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) were involved in the following principal activities:

production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products

production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health food
products

property investment

management and sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Rich Time Strategy Limited, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Wang On Group Limited (“Wang On"),
which is incorporated in Bermuda and is listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

B 5 e A< Bl wE

) B S M R

U2 HEEERARAR(RDA])
R-EREREEIMULZERS
BRAR HERFERENEIEEE
WHOLRASEENENRER L
B39 AR REIS3E3I0E -

REAR KRR REMEBERE (HHE
[(AEBDE2FNTIER:

FEMHETERRER®

[a]s]

FERHEERERRRR M

E i

MERE
EENHEEREMRHMIHZ
EES

ARBAEERR ARAZHEE
£ Bk 2~ B8 /& Rich Time Strategy
Limited » E 70 3% 8 fz & BF & 5L i AX
Lo ARFZEBEBBATRER
SEERARTRER] ERBREE
AWK TRERBMARSMA
AR (R EMHR LT -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

I e % B RE )

1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. AvREEE R @)
Information about subsidiaries MEARZ &R
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: RAREEMBAR ZFFBEET
Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
ARREERERA L
Place of : .
incorporation and  Issued ordinary/ pirect indirect
business registered share capital Hi B#E
2022 2 2022 21 Principal activities
EMAIREEHE BROLE/ERRE =t St ' —®g-C TEEHR
Asia Brighter Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property investment
HEBREERAT B EBRIET NERE
Billion Good Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 99.79% 99.79%  Property investment
BEREBERAT B Eak2ET NERE
China Agri-Products Exchange Bermuda Ordinary HK$99,530,678 - - 53.37% 5337%  Investment holding
Limited*/ ("CAP’)
PEEEGRAERADYN BRE L3 1£99,5306787 10 REZR
(hERER))
Cloud Hero Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Provision of financial
service
B EBRIET RESRRY
Full Gainer Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
ERREBERAT B EBRIET NERE
Good Excellent Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
BREBRAR B EBRIET NERE
Grand Quality Development Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
Limited
EHERERAT B EERIET HESSY:]
Info World Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property investment
BARAERAT B EERIET NERE
Luxembourg Medicine Company ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$933,313 - - 99.79% 99.79%  Production and sale
Limited of Western
pharmaceutical
and health food
products
EREAERERAT B ES:LCRRRIR) P EERBERER
REBRER
Oriental Sino Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
REREEBLR B EERET NERE
Sino Fame Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property investment
EEREGRAA B EBRIET NERE
Star Sense Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
AABRAR B EBRIET NERE
Sunbo Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property investment
REREERAT B EBRIET NERE
Sunny Victor Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
REBERAT B EERET NERE
94 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

5 e % B RE 49)

1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. AvREEE R @)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEARZER (&)

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company

AAREERERDL
Place of . n
incorporation and  Issued ordinary/ pirect indirect
business registered share capital E#
2022 2 2 Principal activities
TMATREXE DY BEROEE/ERRE it it : 2 z TERH
Topmate Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
BEREERAR BB EERIET ESSE:]
Total Smart Investments Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary USS1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
EBRAHE TaRIET REER
Wai Yuen Tong Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
fiTERRAR BB EERIET ESSE:]
Wai Yuen Tong (Regional) Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
firE(eE)ERAR BB EERIET ESSE:]
Wai Yuen Tong (Macao) Limited Macau Ordinary Macau Pataca - - 99,79% 99.79%  Retail sale and wholesale
25,000 of Chinese
pharmaceutical
and health food
products
i (M) ERAH P EER25,0002 7T TERYBPERRE
RRmER
Wai Yuen Tong (Retail) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$300,000 - - 99.79% 99.79%  Retail sale of Chinese
pharmaceutical
and health food
products
i (ZE)ERAA B &1 1R300,000% 1T ZETERRERR
Em
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Hong Kong Ordinary HK$13,417,374 - - 99.79% 99.79%  Production and
Company Limited ("WYT Non-voting sale of Chinese
Medicine Company’) deferred shares** pharmaceutical
HK$17,373,750 and health food
products
fiTEERERAT BE EBRI3AT3IMET EERBETERRE
(Mr2Zk)) ERFERERD RRER

1737375018 7T

RITERERERRAA" People’s Republic ~ Registered capital - - 99.79% 9979%  Retail sale and wholesale
of China (the Renminbi ("RMB”) of Chinese
‘PRC")/Mainland 102,000,000 pharmaceutical
China and health food
products
REAREME (0 FREFARE(ARE]) ZERREPERRE
8l)/hEn 102,000,0007C BRER
BERI)EEERERAA! The PRC/Mainland ~ Registered capital - - 100% 100%  Property holding
China HK$100,000,000
PE/HERS 1 & 7100,000,000% 7T NERE

Rr e E R AT
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

I e % B RE )

1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. AvREEE R @)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEARZER (&)

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
AAREERERDL

Place of
4680 Direct Indirect

96

incorporation and  Issued ordinary/

business registered share capital E#
2022

TMATREXE DY BEROEE/ERRE it it

FME*AERRARAA The PRC/Mainland  Registered capital - -
China RMB61,220,000

TE/PEAY AMEXARKE

61,220,0007C
READNEEIERATS The PRC/Mainland  Registered capital - -
BRARH China RMB180,610,000

(2021: RMBB8,500,000)
HE/FEA A ARARK

180,610,0007T
(ZEZ-F:ARK
88,500,0007C)
INEEBREMLETS The PRC/Mainland ~ Registered capital - -
BRAE China RMB34,285,700
("Yulin Hongjin") (2021: RMB76,230,000)

INEERIERRETEER B/ HEAY AMEXARK

RE([EmEE]) 34,285,7007C
(2% AR%
76,230,00075)
IREENTRERERAA The PRC/Mainland ~ Registered capital - -
China RMB320,000,000

TE/PEAY AMEXARRE

320,000,000
PMEEREAIERBETS The PRC/Mainland ~ Registered capital - -
BRAR: China RMB450,000,000
PE/REME AMERARE
450,000,0007
RHEERBZERYEDS The PRC/Mainland ~ Registered capital - -
BRAE! China 15$23,230,000
DE/HEAE & £23230000% 7T
RETERAERHETS The PRC/Mainland ~ Registered capital - -
BRARY China RMB443,000,000

T/ PEAL AMERARRE
443,000,007

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022

27.22%*

53.37%

27.22%*
(note)

(&)

53.37%

53.37%

53.37%

53.37%

27.22%¢

5337%

34.69%

5337%

5337%

5337%

5337%

Principal activities

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation

BERERRHTS

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation

BERERRHTS

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

BERERRFTER
NEHE

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

BERERRFTER
NEHE

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

BERERRHTER
NEHE

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

BERERRFTER
NEHE

Agricultural produce
exchange market
operation and
property sales

BERERRITHR
NEHE



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

5 e % B RE 49)

) B SR & B ()

MEARZ &R (F)

1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Percentage of equity attributable to the Company

KAREEREEDL

Place of
4680 Indirect

Direct

incorporation and
business

EMRIRER A

Issued ordinary/

registered share capital E#
2022

ZECCF

BRALE/ERRA

Principal activities

BEZERBERBETS The PRC/Mainland ~ Registered capital - - 40.03%* 4003%:  Agricultural produce
NG China RMB140,000,000 exchange market
operation and
property sales
PE/PERK HMERARS BERERRITHR
140,000,0007C NEHE
BRTERAESRETS The PRC/Mainland  Registered capital - - 53.37% 5337%  Agricultural produce
NG China RMB200,000,000 exchange market
operation and
property sales
PE/RERM HERARE BERERRITHR
200,000,000 NEHE
#RAERMTARAR:  ThePRC/Mainland  Registered capital - - 53.37% 5337%  Agricultural produce
China 1U5$35,000,000 exchange market
operation and
property sales
PE/PERAM 1 & 4835,000,000% 7T BERERRITHR
NEHE
ERZERBEREETS The PRC/Mainland ~ Registered capital - - 42.70%* 4270%:  Agricultural produce
BRARH China RMB2,000,000 exchange market
operation
PE/PERAM HMERARE BERERRHTS
2,000,0007T
Note: On 18 June 2021, Century Choice Limited (“Century Choice”), an indirect M3 R—T-—FA+N\B EHE

BREI(EH APHEEESRZ
HE2ENBRR) EEMNE#E
FERB(PEARRDFI L& -
NEABMEBERBEREMREE
ZHMERNTENHHE - RIEA
B PEREAEZBEMN
RETIR 2B ARE40,950,000
T (FBE 749,214,000 7T) 2 #EF) -
WHEREEBSBEN FER
BE B EAM R MR M & AT
B DA R#41,944,0007T (FHE B
42,328,000/ L) 2 & 5 o BN M
FTEHMEATEMRY  EER
MR 2 R EE BOS%E D E
51% ° HAL  AEBEREMREEN
5 R RE B134.69% % 2 27.22% o

wholly-owned subsidiary of CAP, and a substantial shareholder of Yulin
Hongjin (the “PRC Shareholder”) entered into an agreement in relation
to the reduction of registered capital contribution of Century Choice in
Yulin Hongjin. Pursuant to the agreement, the PRC Shareholder waived
its entitlement to the dividend declared by Yulin Hongjin in the amount
of RMB40,950,000 (equivalent to HKS$49,214,000) and directed the
same amount to Century Choice, and the amount of registered capital
contribution by Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin was reduced by an
amount of RMB41,944,000 (equivalent to HK$42,328,000). As a result of
such reduction of registered capital contribution, Century Choice’s equity
interest in Yulin Hongjin was decreased from 65% to 51%. Accordingly,
the Group's effective equity interest in Yulin Hongjin was decreased from
34.69% to 27.22%.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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Corporate and Group Information (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

*

*%

##

CAP is a company incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. It is an investment holding company
and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are the management and sale
of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets.

The non-voting deferred shares carry no voting rights nor rights to
dividends. On the winding up of WYT Medicine Company, holders of the
non-voting deferred shares have a right to repayment in proportion to
the amounts paid up on all ordinary and deferred shares after the first
HK$1,000,000,000,000 thereof has been distributed among the holders of
the ordinary shares.

Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

Sino-foreign equity joint ventures under PRC law.

Listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

A subsidiary of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and,

accordingly accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the Company’s
control over it.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022
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*

* ¥

##
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment properties, financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income which have
been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2022.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the
assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the
carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (i) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

100

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time
for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS
39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions

beyond 30 June 2021

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS
16 address issues not dealt with in the previous amendments
which affect financial reporting when an existing interest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative risk-free rate ("RFR").
The amendments provide a practical expedient to allow the
effective interest rate to be updated without adjusting the
carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities when accounting
for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows of financial assets and liabilities, if the change is a direct
consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform and the new
basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically
equivalent to the previous basis immediately preceding the
change. In addition, the amendments permit changes required
by the interest rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge
designations and hedge documentation without the hedging
relationship being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could
arise on transition are dealt with through the normal requirements
of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise hedge ineffectiveness.
The amendments also provide a temporary relief to entities from
having to meet the separately identifiable requirement when an
RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief allows an entity,
upon designation of the hedge, to assume that the separately
identifiable requirement is met, provided the entity reasonably
expects the RFR risk component to become separately identifiable
within the next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments require
an entity to disclose additional information to enable users of
financial statements to understand the effect of interest rate
benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments and risk
management strategy.

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB based on the Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR”) and the RMB base lending
rate, respectively, as at 31 March 2022. The Group also had interest
rate swaps whereby the Group pays interest at fixed rates and
receives interest at variable rates based on HIBOR on the notional
amounts. The Group expects that HIBOR will continue to exist and
the interest rate benchmark reform has not had an impact on the
Group's HIBOR-based borrowings and interest rate swaps.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(continued)

102

(b)

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021 extends the
availability of the practical expedient for lessees to elect not
to apply lease modification accounting for rent concessions
arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic by
12 months. Accordingly, the practical expedient applies to rent
concessions for which any reduction in lease payments affects
only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022, provided
the other conditions for applying the practical expedient are met.
The amendment is effective retrospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendment recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits at the beginning of the
current accounting period.

The Group has adopted the amendment on 1 April 2021 and
applied the practical expedient during the year ended 31 March
2022 to all rent concessions granted by the lessors that affected
only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022 as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. A reduction in the lease
payments arising from the rent concessions of HK$3,860,000 has
been accounted for as a variable lease payment by derecognising
part of the lease liabilities and crediting to profit or loss for the
year ended 31 March 2022. There was no impact on the opening
balance of equity as at 1 April 2021.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual Framework!

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Insurance Contracts?

Insurance Contracts®*

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 - Comparative Information?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current*
Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before
Intended Use'

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract’

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative
Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 417
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

104

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong Interpretation

5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of
a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised
in October 2020 to align the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020,
HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits
insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning
before 1 January 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception
to its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual
Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The
exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that
would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were
incurred separately rather than assumed in a business combination,
an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition
at the acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 January 2022. Since the amendments apply
prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is
on or after the date of first application, the Group will not be affected by
these amendments on the date of transition.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do
not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction
is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was
removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader review of
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or
non-current. The amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying with specified
conditions, the entity has a right to defer settlement of the liability at
the end of the reporting period if it complies with those conditions at
that date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that
the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement
of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

106

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information rather
than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier application
is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the amendments to
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for
these amendments is not necessary. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of the amendments on the Group’s accounting policy
disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also
clarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates
that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as leases
and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required to
recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions. The amendments are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases
and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or other
component of equity as appropriate at that date. In addition, the
amendments shall be applied prospectively to transactions other than
leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from the
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from
selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or
loss. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to items
of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the
beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial statements
in which the entity first applies the amendments. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract.
Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract
(e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and administrative costs
do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts for which an entity
has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annua
reporting period in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially applying
the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
equity at the date of initial application without restating the comparative
information. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments to
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 41. Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable
to the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity
includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified
financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the
original financial liability. These fees include only those paid or
received between the borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s
behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities that
are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendment.
The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from the
lessor relating to leasehold improvements in lllustrative Example
13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential confusion
regarding the treatment of lease incentives when applying HKFRS
16.

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which
it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group's share of net assets under
the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the consolidated
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the Group,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill
arising from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group's investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead,
the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method.
In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the associate,
the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair
value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate
upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

110

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired
set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's previously held
equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference
is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of
and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act
in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

112

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, financial assets,
properties under development, properties held for sale, investment
properties and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4 EZE&FBORME m)

(continued)
Related parties BER
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ETIBERT AREALHERE
HAEEAFHE
(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family @ BEAXAR—BALHZAL
and that person ZRERR Mz AL
() has control or joint control over the Group; () FEHIEREHIAREE
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HEAEBMEFEARTE
75k
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group (i) BAAEEFIAEEER
or of a parent of the Group; AMEFZEEREABKE:
or %
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions (b) BEALREBEEATERYE
applies: o E e
() the entity and the Group are members of the same group; () ZEBERASEBEBER-—
SEKERA
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (il ZEBAZ EB(EHS
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other —ERBONILE B
entity); NGNS NEIDE-of
B DRI AE SR
(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third (i) ZERBEALEERRE—
party; BE=ZFMEaEE
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other (ivy —BERBAE—F=ZF7EE
entity is an associate of the third entity; Weehtx mMs—%
BAZE=-HEBNOB
NG
(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit (V) ZEBRAREEBEFER
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the SEHERENERBNE
Group; SRR EEF G A
(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (i) ZEBXQIEFMHERA
identified in (a); o+ 2 il 3k R
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the (i) R@O)BFTHE AR AT
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of ZEBBEEATE ?%
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and ZEE(ZEEBERF)
ITE2EBAEBKE K
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, (vii) ZEBXEMBEEED
provides key management personnel services to the Group FRAKERB WAL
or to the parent of the Group. AEESE QAR HE

ITE2EBAEBRE -
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, including owned assets and right-of-use
assets classified as property, plant and equipment, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. When an item of
property, plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is
part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. The cost of an item
of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

Owned assets

2-33% or over the terms of the relevant
leases, whichever is shorter

Buildings

Leasehold improvements  20-33%3% or over the terms of the relevant
leases, whichever is shorter

Plant and machinery 10-20%
Furniture and equipment ~ 20-33%:%
Motor vehicles 10-20%
Computer equipment 20-33%3%

Right-of-use assets

2% or over the terms of the relevant leases
ranging from 27 to 68 years, whichever
is shorter

Over the lease terms of 2 to 6 years

Leasehold land

Buildings

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets (other than those meet the definition of an investment
property) are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located. Right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis.

If ownership of the leased assets is transferred to the Group by the end
of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

116

(continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement or
disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties
or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent accounting
is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a property occupied by
the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation”
for owned property and/or accounts for such property in accordance
with the policy stated under “Right-of-use assets” for property held as
a right-of-use asset up to the date of change in use, and any difference
at that date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for as a revaluation. Changes in the values are
dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. On disposal
of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve
realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits
as a movement in reserves.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible assets may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised
and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available
for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to
measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Product
development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis over the
commercial lives of the underlying products not exceeding five to
seven years, commencing from the date when the products are put into
commercial production.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

118

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-
of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. The
right-of-use assets which meet the definition of investment property
are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at fair value in
accordance with the Group's policy for “Investment properties”. Other
right-of-use assets are included in property, plant and equipment, the
accounting policy of which are included in the policy for “Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” above.

(a) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in other payables and
accruals.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of buildings and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset,
the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-
lease basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets that are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in profit
or loss. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases. At the commencement date, the cost of the leased
asset is capitalised at the present value of the lease payments and
related payments (including the initial direct costs), and presented as a
receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. The
finance income on the net investment in the lease is recognised in profit
or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of return over the lease
terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as a
finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to
which the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition exemption,
the Group classifies the sublease as an operating lease.
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W 5 % B BE (4

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

120

(continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value and comprise construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees, payments for land use rights and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development period.
Net realisable value is estimated by the directors based on the prevailing
market prices on an individual property basis.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless the
construction of the relevant property development project is expected
to complete beyond the normal operating cycle. On completion, the
properties are transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Sales deposits/instalments received and receivable from purchasers
in respect of the pre-sale of properties under development prior to
completion of the development are included in contract liabilities.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties under development, they are subsequently measured at the
lower of cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group's
policy for properties under development.

Properties held for sale
Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the total land and
building costs attributable to unsold properties. Net realisable value is
estimated by the directors based on the prevailing market prices on an
individual property basis.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties held for sale, they are subsequently measured at the lower of
cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group’s policy for
properties held for sale.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured
at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to
give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.
Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income,
interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses
or reversals are recognised in profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining
fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in other
comprehensive income is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition of
equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or
loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except when the
Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost
of the financial asset, in which case such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and certain investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
also recognised as other income in profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability
or non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as
a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not
closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms
as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative;
and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there
is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies
the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a
financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host
together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its
entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part
of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e.,
removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs")
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income,
the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At each reporting
date, the Group evaluates whether the debt investments are considered
to have low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation,
the Group reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments.
In addition, the Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and net investments
in sub-leases which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 -

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and net investments in sub-leases that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and net investments in sub-leases that contain a
significant financing component, the Group chooses as its accounting
policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies
as described above.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings and
payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, lease liabilities, interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, derivative financial liabilities, unsecured
notes and convertible notes.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred
for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as
defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised
in profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
does not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition,
and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in
profit or loss, except for the gains or losses arising from the Group’s own
credit risk which are presented in other comprehensive income with no
subsequent reclassification to profit or loss. The net fair value gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any interest charged on
these financial liabilities.
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(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and payables)

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment
of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Unsecured notes and convertible notes

If the conversion option of convertible notes and the early redemption
option of unsecured notes and convertible notes exhibit characteristics
of an embedded derivative, it is separated from its liability component.
On initial recognition, the derivative component of the unsecured notes
and convertible notes is measured at fair value and presented as part
of derivative financial instruments included in financial assets/liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the derivative component is recognised
as the liability component. Transaction costs are apportioned between
the liability and derivative components of the unsecured notes and
convertible notes based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and
derivative components when the instruments are initially recognised.
The portion of the transaction costs relating to the liability component
is recognised initially as a reduction of the liability. The portion relating
to the derivative component is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments included in financial
assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, such as interest
rate swaps, to hedge its interest rate risk. Such derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at
fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive
and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are
taken directly to profit or loss, except for the effective portion of cash
flow hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive income and
later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects profit or
loss.

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective hedging
instruments are classified as current or non-current or separated into
current and non-current portions based on an assessment of the facts
and circumstances.

Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an economic
hedge (and does not apply hedge accounting) for a period
beyond 12 months after the end of the reporting period, the
derivative is classified as non-current (or separated into current
and non-current portions) consistently with the classification of
the underlying item.

Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the host
contract are classified consistently with the cash flows of the host
contract.
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(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of
(i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance with the general
policy for provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, the amount of income recognised in accordance with
the policy for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the Group
with a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense accreted
on the contract liability under the effective interest method. For a
contract where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally
on delivery of goods.

Some contracts for the sale of Chinese and Western
pharmaceutical and health food products provide customers
with rights of return. The rights of return gives rise to variable
consideration:

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to return the
goods within a specified period, the expected value method is
used to estimate the goods that will not be returned because this
method best predicts the amount of variable consideration to
which the Group will be entitled. The requirements in HKFRS 15
on constraining estimates of variable consideration are applied in
order to determine the amount of variable consideration that can
be included in the transaction price. For goods that are expected
to be returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised.
A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment to cost
of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover products from a
customer.

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the point in
time when the purchasers obtain the physical possession and/or
the legal title of the completed property and the Group has the
present right to payment and the collection of the consideration is
probable.

Provision of management, promotion and property
ancillary services

Revenue from the provision of management, promotion and
property ancillary services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Commission income from the agricultural exchange
markets

Commission income from the agricultural exchange markets is
recognised at the point in time when the services are rendered in
accordance with the terms of the agreement.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group
transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Costs of obtaining contracts

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract were those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer it would not
have been incurred if the contract had not been obtained e.g., sales
commission to sales agents. Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
are capitalised when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will
be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs are expected
to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a contract are expensed when
incurred.

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the goods
expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured at the
former carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any expected
costs to recover the goods and any potential decreases in the value of
the returned goods. The Group updates the measurement of the asset
for any revisions to the expected level of returns and any additional
decreases in the value of the returned goods.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or
all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a customer and
is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will have
to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of refund
liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the
end of each reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Share-based payments

The Company and CAP each operate a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The
fair value is determined by an external valuer using a trinomial model,
further details of which are given in note 34 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the
likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an
award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance
and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or
non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if
the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as
measured at the date of modification.
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(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute to a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e, assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised.
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they
are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item (i.e,, translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date
of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises
the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment
or receipt of the advance consideration.
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(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and associates
are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the translation reserve. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

Significant Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Significant Accounting Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties including commercial and industrial properties
in Hong Kong and agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland
China are revalued at the end of the reporting period on a market value,
existing use basis by independent professionally qualified valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are subject to
uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results. In making
the estimation, information from current prices in an active market for
similar properties is considered and assumptions that are mainly based
on market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period are
used. Further details of the valuation are included in note 15 to the
financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development and
properties held for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale are stated
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of each unit is
determined using the weighted average method. The estimated net
realisable value is assessed at the end of the reporting period on a
market value, existing use basis by independent professionally qualified
valuers. Such valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results.
In making the estimation, information from current prices in an active
market for similar properties is considered and assumptions that are
mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of the reporting
period are used.

Impairment of non-financial non-current assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment of
all non-financial non-current assets (including the right-of-use assets) at
the end of each reporting period.

Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
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Significant Accounting Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of non-financial non-current assets (other than
goodwill) (continued)

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, financial assets,
properties under development, properties held for sale, investment
properties and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in use is calculated to assess for
impairment, management applies assumptions to prepare cash flow
forecast, i.e., discount rate, growth rate for the asset or cash-generating
unit to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

The carrying value of an item of property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) is reviewed for impairment when
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may not be recoverable in accordance with the accounting policy
as disclosed in note 2.4 to the financial statements. Given that the
carrying amount of the net assets of the Group is more than the
Company's market capitalisation, while evidence is available from
internal reporting that indicates that the economic performance of
both the Chinese pharmaceutical and health food products cash-
generating unit (the “Chinese Pharmaceutical CGU") and Western
pharmaceutical and health food products cash-generating unit (the
“Western Pharmaceutical CGU") (together, the "CGUs") are better
than expected, the directors of the Company performed an impairment
assessment of the property, plant and equipment relating to the CGUs
to determine their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount of
an item of property, plant and equipment or a CGU is calculated as
the higher of its fair value less costs to disposal and value in use, the
calculations of which involve the use of estimates.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on their products and services and has four reportable operating
segments as follows:

(@)  production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products — manufacture, processing and sale of traditional Chinese
medicine which includes Chinese medicinal products sold under
the brand name of “Wai Yuen Tong” and a range of products
manufactured using selected medicinal materials with traditional
prescriptions, mainly in Mainland China and Hong Kong;

(b)  production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health
food products — manufacture, processing and sale of Western
pharmaceutical products and personal care products under the
brand names of “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s”, respectively;

(c)  property investment - investment in commercial and industrial
premises for rental income; and

(d)  management and sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets.

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted
profit/loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group's profit/loss before tax except that other
income and gains, net, finance costs, fair value gains/losses on financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, net, head office
and corporate income and expenses, loss on disposal of investment in
an associate, loss on disposal/redemption of debt investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income, net and loss on disposal
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are excluded from
such measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued)

Segment revenue and results
Year ended 31 March

4. BEZHER @)

B EREE
BE=ZA=t—-HLEE

Production and sale of  Production and sale of
Chinese pharmaceutical ~ Western pharmaceutical
and health food and health food
products products
LERHENER LERBERER
RERRER RERRER

2022

Property investment

nERE

Management and
sale of properties in
agricultural produce

exchange markets

EERHERER

b T AL b
2022

Eliminations

Segment revenue: ARhE:

Sales to external customers HETINIER 512,568 453380 0,1 25669 7,101 8704 830469 620812 - - 1391411 1108565

Intersegment sales FPEEE il 1206 1,818 - 13,083 12388 - - (14942 (1359 5 -

Total it 512,609 454586 43,091 25,669 20,184 21092 830,469 620812 (14,942) (13504) 1,391,411 1108565
Segment results pinE+ | (19,448) (860)  (18,997) (#2391 (30,952) (25,649) 75,559 33551 - - 6,162 35,349)
Otherincome and gains, M ARYE

net et 144,869 120629
Unallocated income and expense,  &ARBARER -

net ] (29,483) 49072)
Finance costs HERE (95,695)  (107724)
Fair value gains/(losses) on RATEEREAR

financial assets and liabilities LHBEERR

at fair value through profit or E2ATHENS/

[oss, net (BB) 58 (31,693) 6,601
Loss on disposal of investmentin &R~ EBERQF

an associate LREER - 1)
Loss on disposal/iedemptionof % /BEZATE

debt investments at fair value EEf2ENE

through other comprehensive Az ER#RE

income, net BB 5B (40,865) 476)
Loss on disposal of financial assets  HERAFELBE

at fair value through profit or MNEZUBEE

loss 1EE (599) -
Loss before tax BRnER (47308)  (303131)
Income tax expense fERA% (40,519) (148130
Loss for the year FEEE (87823)  145163)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

4. Operating Segment Information (continued)

Other segment information
Year ended 31 March

Production and sale of  Production and sale of
Chinese pharmaceutical ~ Western pharmaceutical
and health food and health food
products products
LERHENER LERBERER
RERRER RERRER

Property investment

NERE
2022

Other segment information: £t 2545
Interest income HERA - - - - - -
Capital expenditure (note) BERE (W) 6,391 935 340 140 - 47646
Depreciation ik 65,265 50812 11,504 11448 8,261 7810
Fair value losses/(gaing) on ROTEEREAR

financial assets and labilties CHBEERS

atfarvalue though profitor ~— EZAFEFE/

[oss, net (hm) 58 - - = - = -
Net losses from fair value HEERENEZD

adjustments for owned THEZERR

investment properties g = - = - 33,453 20830
Net losses from fair value ARRENELAT

adjustments for sub-leased BAEERRE

investment properties o - S - - -
Loss on disposal/edemptionof % /BEZLATE

debt investments at far value EEHRENE

through other comprehensive Az ER#RE

income, net BB 5E = - = - = -
Loss on disposal of financial assets  HERAFELBE

at fair value through profit or NEZUBEE

loss BB - - > - = -
Loss on disposal of tems HENE  BERRE

of property, plant and ERZEE

equipment, net 2E 8 37 - - - -
Gain on disposal of investment ~ HERENE M-

properties, net 28 - - - - = -
Impairment losses/[reversal HBEERERR/

of impairment losses) on (REEEER)

financial assets, net 28 5175 (1,158) (44) 3 - -
Impairment losses/[reversal 0% BEREER

of impaiment losses) EEE/ (R

on property, plant and BERE):

equipment, net A8 96 8020 (8,226) 4074 1,735 9820
Investments in associates RBENFZRE 3,804 282 - - - -
Share of profits and losses of AEBEADRR

associates I (1,572) (485) - - - -
Loss on disposal of investmentin &R ~EBERQF

an associate LREER - - - - = -
Allowance for obsolete inventories  EERF & 2,247 79 273 3955 - -

5 e % B RE 49)

B WA R )

Ht o ME R
BE=ZA=t—-HLEE

Management and
sale of properties in
agricultural produce

exchange markets

EEREERER

bE LT AL
2022

Eliminations

H#

- - (15316)  (457) (15376 (4570
088 3158 5 M 754 s
7612 173 515 SM0 107797 968
(60677 200 3760 (6% 31693 (6601)
980 1126 - - B3 30%
3,764 2076 - - 36 297

- - 40865 46 40865 176

- - 59 - 599 -
5,577 - - - 635 el
(150) - (30m9) - (8169) -
2809 444 4805 B 05 A6

: . - - (63%)  ngi

- - - - 38m 283

- - - (1572) @6

= - - B - B

- - = - 4

Note: Capital expenditure includes additions to investment properties and
property, plant and equipment (excluding the additions of leased buildings
included in right-of-use assets).

M AAMEOER R RENER
M BERRECRRER ST
AEREEENRERT) -

T E BRI ER AR
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued) 4. BIESHE R @)
Geographical information & &
(a) Revenue from external customers (@) XREIBEEFZWZH
2022 2021
—_E_— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong BB 417,994 373,494
Mainland China AR A 929,120 716,463
Macau S PY 40,554 17,236
Others Hfth 3,743 1,372
1,391,411 1,108,565
The revenue information above is based on the locations of the Lt E R IR B PR
customers. EE D -
(b) Non-current assets (b) FARBEE
2022 2021
—E_-_= B —F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FB T
Hong Kong B 1,160,730 1,221,727
Mainland China A A HE 3,341,909 3,238,817
Macau B P9 20,068 11,686
4,522,707 4,472,230
The non-current assets information above is based on the LHERBDEEERHIKE
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments and EfffHwEE S  BTERES
deferred tax assets. RMTARBEERBEEE -
Information about major customers FRXEEFZER
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no revenue from HE_Z__FR_ZF-_—F=FH
transactions with a single external customer amounted to 10% or more ST —HLEFE WEKRGHE—
of the total revenue of the Group. INEBEPR Gz Wb A& B =

BEMI0%B LA E o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net

5. Wedk K IHABKA R i o B

il
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income and gains, net is as NEE R HMW WA BRI
follows: BH2OMWT:
2022
—E-=
HK$’000
TER
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFAHZ Wz 1,180,132 935,858
Revenue from other sources o0 E A K RZ W
Gross rental income from investment REMEKREHEZES K
property operating leases Y 211,279 172,707
1,391,411 1,108,565
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHZWE
Disaggregated revenue information (i) oFKBER
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE-ZE--—f=ZA=+-—H
LFE
Segments o
Management
and sale of
Production and Productionand  properties in
sale of Chinese sale of Western agricultural
pharmaceutical pharmaceutical produce
and health food and health food exchange
products products markets Total
EERHE
LERMETE LERWHERE EBERRETS
RRERRER RREBRRER ZN¥ @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TR
Types of goods or services ENRREEA
-Sale of goods -HEED 507,223 41,273 11,429 559,925
-Management and promotion services -1 & E & R 5,345 - - 5,345
-Sale of properties -HENME - - 418,564 418,564
~Commission income from agricultural -2ERX 5T HE2EE
produce exchange markets WA - - 94,909 94,909
~Agricultural produce exchange -RERRSGMHIEE
market ancillary services PR % - - 101,389 101,389
Total revenue from contracts with REEPAHN KRB
customers 512,568 41,273 626,291* 1,180,132
Geographical markets &5
Hong Kong Sl 388,093 22,800 - 410,893
Mainland China H R )3 84,271 14,380 626,291 724,942
Macau BP9 36,461 4,093 - 40,554
Others Hit 3,743 - - 3,743
Total revenue from contracts with REEPEN = EE
customers 512,568 41,273 626,291*% 1,180,132
Timing of revenue recognition I 2 1 3R
Goods or services transferred at a RE-BHSBEREDMR
point in time MR 507,223 41,273 524,902 1,073,398
Services transferred over time BEREEBRE 5,345 - 101,389 106,734
Total revenue from contracts with REEPAN KRBT
customers 512,568 41,273 626,291* 1,180,132
* Gross rental income from investment property operating leases * Ol FR AT R R
of HK$204,178,000 (2021: HK$164,003,000) that was attributable to EERHEREMR ST
the management and sale of properties in agricultural produce BMED BB EY X
exchange markets segment was not included in the above REMEZHSKRABE
disclosure. 204,178,000% 7T (= F = —
F 1 164,003,000 7T) °
T S R A R AT 145
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5.

146

Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

()

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Segments

Production and
sale of Chinese

5. Wk K IHABKA R d o B

()
REEEA N2 IR 35 ()

(i) 2FREER(H)

HE-_Z-_—4=-A=+—H

EFE

4\ 1

77 A

Management and
Production and sale of properties
in agricultural

sale of Western

pharmaceutical ~ pharmaceutical produce
and health food and health food exchange
products products markets
BB RHE
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT
Types of goods or services ENRREER
-Sale of goods -HEEY 449,226 25,669 41,961 516,856
-Management and promotion services -& 2 R EERH 4,154 - - 4,154
—Sale of properties -HEME - - 233,183 233,183
~Commission income from agricultural -Z2ERX5mH2HE
produce exchange markets WA - - 83,276 83,276
~Agricultural produce exchange -RERRSGMHELRE
markets ancillary services R % - - 98,389 98,389
Total revenue from contracts with REEPEN NEEE
customers 453,380 25,669 456,809* 935,858
Geographical markets WET S
Hong Kong E# 357,756 7,034 - 364,790
Mainland China FE R 79,237 16,414 456,809 552,460
Macau B9 15,015 2221 - 17,236
Others Hity 1372 - - 1372
Total revenue from contracts with RERFPANZUHEEE
customers 453,380 25,669 456,809* 935,858
Timing of revenue recognition BEBARE
Goods or services transferred at a RE-FBEHEBED L
point in time PR & 449,226 25,669 358,420 833,315
Services transferred over time REES R E B R 4,154 - 98,389 102,543
Total revenue from contracts with REEPEN = EE
customers 453,380 25,609 456,809* 935,858
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts
with customers to the amounts disclosed in the segment

5 e % B RE 49)

5. Wtk RHEHAMBA KK &
)

REFEFAEHZKE(H)

(i) 2FREER(H)
TR KEEFPEDHZH R
HOoHEMMBEESENY

information: BR -
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE-Z--—f=ZH=+—H
LLFE
Segments P
Management
and sale of
Production and Productionand  properties in
sale of Chinese sale of Western agricultural
pharmaceutical pharmaceutical produce
and health food and health food exchange
products products markets Total
EERHEE
EERHENE LERHERE BERRENS
ERERRER RRAEBRRER Y% @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Revenue from contracts with REBRFANZHE
customers
External customers SNBEP 512,568 41,273 626,291* 1,180,132
Intersegment sales DEEHE 41 1,818 - 1,859
Segment revenue 2Bk & 512,609 43,091 626,291*% 1,181,991
Intersegment adjustments and DHEAERHE
eliminations (41) (1,818) - (1,859)
Total revenue from contracts with REEPANZ N HER
customers 512,568 41,273 626,291* 1,180,132

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Segments

Production and
sale of Chinese

HEzE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—H
IHFE

7 8

Management and
Production and sale of properties
sale of Western ~in agricultural

pharmaceutical  pharmaceutical produce
and health food and health food exchange
products products markets
=B RHE
HERHEDE FERHERE 2
AR I R E
HK$'000
THET
Revenue from contracts with REEEGHZUE
customers
External customers HNEEP 453,380 25,669 456,809* 935,858
Intersegment sales HEBHEEE 1,206 - - 1,206
Segment revenue 2Bk & 454,586 25,669 456,809* 937,064
Intersegment adjustments and DEHEAEREE
eliminations (1,206) - - (1,206)
Total revenue from contracts with REEPEN = EE
customers 453,380 25,669 456,809* 935,858
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5. Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in
the current reporting period that were included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised
from performance obligations satisfied in previous periods:

Revenue recognised that was included in

RIEMUFAGHNREZ

5.

W 4

B LA e A\ B W 3 -

()
REEEA N2 IR 35 ()

(i)

2 1 W 55 BB
TR BUR AR 5 4 e as 1
Rze® ERBESHOFA
ABREE UEBEHRER
R2zBAOBEEER:

2022
—_E__F

2021

B —F
HKS$'000
T T

HK$'000
THERT

contract liabilities at the beginning of W &5 R
the reporting period:
Sale of goods HEE 9,991 8,173
Sale of properties HEWE 389,427 43,447
399,418 51,620
(ii) Performance obligations (i) BREME

The following information about the Group's performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods
and payment is generally due within 7 to 120 days from delivery,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. Some contracts provide customers with a right of return
which gives rise to variable consideration subject to constraint.

Management, promotion and property ancillary services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered.

Commission income from agricultural produce exchange
markets

The performance obligation is satisfied upon the completion of
the related sales transactions.

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied when the physical
possession and/or the legal title of the property is obtained by the
purchaser.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022

148

BRI EEEDE TN E R
T

HERY
BHEEREMZNEER
HEERRZMER7EI20HE 2 H
M- EFEPBEARANN
R HBrANRAETFPREHESE
BAmMELZREIOAEAL
-

EE EFRWFEERY
BROEERRBERMARZERX -

BERXZHEZHENRA

BORTRERAMBERS
B o

HEWE
BHOEBEENRETRGEWENE
BHARR/REEERR



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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5. Wk K IHABKA R d o B

Revenue and Other Income and Gains, Net

(continued) ()
2022 PAVA
—E-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Other income Hh g A
Interest income on loans receivables ERE R ZF B A 4,486 3,798

Interest income on financial assets at fair value ZAFELEZAKRZUBE
through profit or loss and financial assets BERZAFESHEMEEK
at fair value through other comprehensive m AR BEE MBI

income A 6,842 16,284
Interest income on bank deposits RATFRZF B WA 4,048 4,489
Finance income on net investments in subleases 2 1% & % %8 ~ 81 % g A 555 705

RERAFELER AKRZH
BEERRAFEELEME

Dividends from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive

RS AR ZMEEE 2K
=]

income B 9,414 4,383
Rental income from other properties REEMYEZHESRA 44,608 37,188
Government subsidies** I T 47 B 2,166 26,673
Compensation from litigation judgement A EA FIR 2 85 18 (B[ 5E42)

(note 42) 48,572 -
Others EAh 8,544 11,299

129,235 104,819
Gains, net W F8E
Gain on modification/termination of lease e/ RIEAEE Nz =

contracts 491 13,737
Gain on disposal of investment properties, net  HE®REYE 2N - F5B 8,169 -
Exchange gains, net N W FE 6,974 2,073

15,634 15,810
Other income and gains, net Em A R FEE 144,869 120,629

*%

For the year ended 31 March 2022, government subsidies represented the
PRC government subsidies of HK$2,166,000 granted to the Group by the
local governmental authority in Mainland China for the business support
on its investments in an agricultural produce exchange market in Mainland
China (“Agricultural Produce Subsidies”).

For the year ended 31 March 2021, government subsidies represented: (i)
Agricultural Produce Subsidies of HK$23,433,000; (ii) one-off subsidies of
HK$3,080,000 granted by the Anti-Epidemic Fund under The Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region’s Retail Sector Subsidy
Scheme and Food Licence Holders Subsidy Scheme; and (iii) one-off
subsidies of HK$160,000 granted by The Government of the Macao Special
Administrative Region’s 10-Billion-Pataca Fund.

The Group has complied with all attached conditions before 31 March 2022
and 2021 and recognised these grants in profit or loss as “Other income
and gains, net” in the respective accounting periods.

*%

BHE-_T-_—F=ZA=+—BIL*F
E BRNHEDEASEEHRER
A b B BT A BRI T2 R B
JF 48 852,166,000 7T - JATE B H
RAEBEANEERERRSH TS
CEBIR(EERBY®D -

BT -_—F=ZA=+—HLHF
B BSMA I (VRE MR
23,433,000/ 7T (i) &F B8 A7 K
ERREEXEFERFER
MERNEDFTETHHENE
&2 # & — & M 4 863,080,000
7 7T ¢ R (i) B PR B 4T BUR BUAT
MEENERDESREN—K
14 %6 B5 160,000 7T °

AREBERZ-ZZTE=-ZFR=-FT=—
FZAZT—BAETHEMER
W EEBEEREE S
MrEERERAIE M A RIK

o FE e

R B BRI IRERAR]
o :%?:X:if%& 149
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150

Other Expenses

An analysis of other expenses is as follows:

Loss on disposal of items of property, LEME BMEIXEEREE

6.

Fo At B 52

HMFAX AT :

—g-=

2022 2021
B —F
HKS$'000
TFHT

HK$'000
THERT

plant and equipment - 6,355 237
Loss on redemption of convertible notes §& B A] # i Z ¥ > /&5 18 31 - 3,933
Loss on disposal/redemption of debt HE BRI A FEE M

investments at fair value through 2EHKEARZEBRE

other comprehensive income, net BEoEE FE 40,865 476
Loss on disposal of financial assets at fair &R A FELE R AR

value through profit or loss ZHBEEZER 599 -
Loss on disposal of investment in an HER—BHBEATZEE

associate 2B @) - 237,740
Impairment losses/(reversal of ME - BRERZEZRER

impairment losses) on property, plant B/CREBERER) F

and equipment, net ) 14 (6,395) 21,914

41,424 264,300
Note: B 5%

(a) On 4 May 2020, Caister Limited (“Caister”), which is wholly and beneficially

owned by the Chairman of the Company, Mr. Tang Ching Ho (“Mr. Tang"),
requested the board of Easy One Financial Group Limited ("Easy One’,
the then associate of the Group) to put forward a proposal of privatisation
of Easy One at the cancellation consideration, comprising the cash
consideration of HKS$0.3 per share of Easy One and the consideration shares
on the basis of eight (8) ordinary shares of Wang On held by Caister, for
each share of Easy One (the “Proposal”).

The Proposal was approved by the shareholders of Easy One at the court
meeting held on 8 September 2020 and was sanctioned by the Bermuda
Court on 17 September 2020. Loss on disposal of investment in an associate
of HK$237,740,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. The Proposal became effective
on 16 October 2020. Further details of the Proposal are set out in the
Company'’s circular dated 24 July 2020.
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Loss Before Tax

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories recognised as an

BRAAXZEFERA(R

5 e % B RE 49)

B B Wil Jies 15

REMZBRBABERINGR(GTA)
TR IAR EER:

2022
—E-Z

2021
—E_—F
HKS$'000
THET

HK$’000
FTERT

expense (including allowance for FE R 8 17 & # 54,970,000

obsolete inventories of HK$4,970,000 B ZE_—F:

(2021: HKS4,747,000)) 4,747,000 7T)) 329,948 338,909
Cost of properties sold EEMEKAE 352,932 224,745
Cost of services provided FIT 2 i R 75 2 A A& 138,141 99,629
Research and development costs 7 I F B A AR 1,302 4,972
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEABHEZHE

measurement of lease liabilities E:N 16(c) 12,398 13,044
COVID-19-related rent concessions AR A BT R B T AU R AR

from lessors SMABEENESER 16(c) (3,860) (6,888)
Auditor’s remuneration % ERT BN & 5,580 5,600
Depreciation of owned assets FMBEEEENE 14 61,000 58,999
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 14 46,797 33,624

107,797 92,623
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERFMRAZ(TEEES
directors’ remuneration (note 9)): B & (P 529)) -
Wages and salaries and other I& HehkHEmBEN*
benefits* 204,769 204,044
Equity-settled share option expense LA BR R 45 B ) B8 AR
3 1,139 -
Pension scheme contributions** RIK G T B R 8,981 6,890
214,889 210,934
Foreign exchange differences, net ERERE T8 (6,974) (2,073)
Impairment losses/(reversal of M EEREEECRE

impairment losses) on financial assets, B8R @) - H4E

net:

Trade receivables B 5 W R E 22 5,381 (1,160)

Financial assets included in FABNRIE - ZER

prepayments, deposits and H {th & W k1B 2 B 1%
other receivables BE 24 31 (646)
Debt investments at fair value ERAFELEME2ER
through other comprehensive B ARZEBRE
income 18 4,913 382
Loans and interest receivables W E R RFE 23 2,550 42,051
12,875 40,627
Gross rental income HEaWABE (255,887) (209,895)
Less: Direct outgoing expense W EEX N 87 656
(255,800) (209,239)
Net fair value losses on sub-leased NHEREMEZAFES
investment properties*** 1B g 15 3,764 2,976

T E BRI ER AR

T FFR 151



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

I e % B RE )

7. Loss Before Tax (continued) 7. BRBLRE 18 (a0
* Wage subsidies of HK$26,986,000 granted by the Employment Support * BHE-_Z-_—F=A=+—HIL#F
Scheme under the Anti-Epidemic Fund for the use of paying wages of E AEEEURBBEREES
employees from June to November 2020 had been received during the year WRMEFEHEAEIN =T
ended 31 March 2021. The amount was recognised in profit or loss and had —EFRAET-ARBIEMNT
been offset with the employee benefit expenses. & 17 826,986,000 T - B & 58
ERERER LEESRENH
K -
o There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the ** A E I R AT AR B A B
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. T HHARIEERA KT -
**%  The expense is included in “Cost of services provided” above. R X EA EXTRR MRS 2 K
K] e
8. Finance Costs 8. MIEMA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MERRZDWWT :
2022 2021
—_E=-_— — T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FA T
Interest on bank and other borrowings WITREMEE ZFE 59,372 53,631
Interest on lease liabilities HEaBEZME 4,838 6,303
Interest on unsecured notes BERREZAE 23,049 21,529
Interest on convertible notes Al AR R 2 AR 8,436 26,261
95,695 107,724
9. Directors’ Remuneration 9. HHME
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The Rules RIEE AP MBI TE# L
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing MAITERHRA D - FERFRDE
Rules”) issued by the Stock Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) 383(1)@) ~ (b) * (R g XAT
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies BEZNZEMMANE S HREF
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as NHESEMamT:
follows:
2022 2021
—E=-= —T—_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER T
Fees wme 996 791
Other emoluments for executive directors: BMITESEZHMM S
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e REREDANR 9,450 11,108
Performance-related bonuses* BRI E N 2 TEAT” 1,044 354
Pension scheme contributions RIKE 5T S 54 108
10,548 11,570
11,544 12,361
* Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments * RARETHTEFTERZAIEL
which are determined with reference to the Group's operating results, MEAD2ESEFEAEERSE
individual performance of the directors and comparable market practices ¥E EFEANKAERITHLER
during each of the years. 2T ERREE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Directors’ Remuneration (continued)

The remuneration paid to executive directors and independent non-
executive directors during the year was as follows:

5 e % B RE 49)

9. HFHMEmw)

FRN - BENRTEETRBLIFERT
E=ZBEOT:

Salaries,
allowances and Performance- Pension scheme Total
Fees benefitsinkind related bonuses contributions remuneration
e 2ER
kA BENANE BARAHBZEL BRASHAMK
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TET TET FHET TET
2022 —E-CE
Executive directors: BITESE:
Mr. Tang WEE 240 7,800 650 18 8,708
Ms. Tang Wai Man HEHLL - 1,050 224 18 1,292
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita BEERL - 600 170 18 788
240 9,450 1,044 54 10,788
Independent non-executive BUFNTES:
directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho ZEEEE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon BNRLE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Cho Wing Mou EkELE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David FREAE 204 - - - 204
756 - - - 756
Total @it 996 9,450 1,044 54 11,544
2021 —E--%
Executive directors: WTESE:
Mr. Tang -5 35 7,800 325 18 8,178
Mr. Chan Chun Hong, Thomas* 0 % B 2 A - 1,585 - 33 1618
Ms. Tang Mui Fun** Bigsatr - 1,102 - 36 1,138
Ms. Tang Wai Man HEgat - 551 29 18 598
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita*** BB - 70 - 3 73
35 11,108 354 108 11,605
Independent non-executive BURTES:
directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho REERE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon BYRRE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Cho Wing Mou BxELE 184 - - - 184
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David FRELE 204 - - - 204
756 - - - 756
Total @it 791 11,108 354 108 12,361
* Resigned as a director on 8 February 2021. * RZE-_—F_A)\BHEEEZE -

** Resigned as a director on 31 March 2021.

***  Appointed as a director on 8 February 2021.
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-
executive directors during the year (2021: Nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

*¥

F-—F=AS+—ABEE

o |1

T_-S_A/\BEZERE

o |1

#

FAETEAMENBIFATE
FrMe (T —F )

HE_T-__FK=-_T=_—F=H8
Tt+—HLEFE HEETEERER
REREEMNMSHZE -
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10. Five Highest Paid Employees

The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2021:
two) directors, details of whose remuneration are disclosed in note 9
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three
(2021: three) non-director, highest paid employees are as follows:

10. huadm v #i e B

FA O AAEREFEEREMA(Z
Zo-F MBES EMEFE
REXHEFWE -#BT=5R(=F
TR ZR)FEERSFERED

FAMSFHEBOT
2022 2021
—E=-= —E_—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e REUREYH = 2,875 3,274
Discretionary bonuses B 15 B B2 TEAL 147 92
Pension scheme contributions RIKE BB 5k 47 52
3,069 3,418

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

FEERSHFEEZABEMEN
FUTEE

Number of employees
EE A"

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

Z%1,000,0007% 7T

1,000,001 7T 21,500,000 7T 1 3

11. Income Tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2021:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the
Group operates. The provision for PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT") is
estimated according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC
tax laws and regulations. LAT has been provided at ranges of progressive
rates of the appreciation value, with certain allowable deductions.

11. B3 s

BENGHENFAREBELZ
ity R B AR B 0 M 42 B E16.5% (= F
T F16.5%) EH M o HiinE
ZRERREMN 2R BERAEEE
BEBMEBR FAEEMNBRT
MEHE PE L ZER (L
BERDBEEVRABTEERZR
ERBREER G o LHIEE
HEREENRER TELRE
WHEE T AIHBER °

2022 2021
—E-= —E_—F
HKS$'000

FE T

HK$’000
FERT

Current - Hong Kong KE-FB

Charge for the year REF X 2,155 1,707
Current — other jurisdiction NE - EfhEl AR R

Charge for the year REEZH 96,235 126,902

LAT 4+ b (B R 28,863 8,819
Overprovision in prior years BAFEBBEEE (15,686) (234)
Deferred taxation (note 32) i FE B 18 (B 5532) (71,048) 10,938
Total tax charge for the year REEHRBLHIH 40,519 148,132

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022

154



11.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Income Tax (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax at the
statutory/applicable rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at

5 e % B RE 49)

11. P Bt

RIBARRR R E KB K E R
ERZEENEE ERABENE
B B B0 A 1R E A RO B R IR R B AR IR

the effective tax rates is as follows:

EREREAENRBREROT

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$/000
FTERT FHIT
Loss before tax W 152 A 5 18 (47,304) (303,131)
Tax at the statutory/applicable tax rates of BARBRBERRZEE
different countries/jurisdictions BRABEFE 2 BHIA (5,382) (56,435)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BTHM 2 WA IEEL 2
previous periods =S (15,686) (234)
Profits and losses attributable to associates 5? {“E NAE G 2w A & A (259) (768)
Income not subject to tax BARBEA (17,069) (27,323)
Expenses not deductible for tax R 16,084 152,466
Tax losses utilised from previous periods BERATHE 2BEES (3,089) (2,924)
Tax losses not recognised RERBIBEE 50,103 33,789
Utilisation of deductible temporary differences & i 1+ & # 58 2 7] 0 T & B5
previously not recognised Z5 (6,148) (6,720)
Deductible temporary differences not RHER 2 AT E I =
recognised 458 29,747
Effect of tax concession NBEEsEE (140) (80)
Effect of withholding tax at 10% on the 10%5‘]?5\ ?D %)EE AN E A E W
distributable profits of the Group’s PRC AENTE
subsidiaries - 20,000
LAT provided o+ b 3 (B T 28,863 8,819
Tax effect on LAT THEEROR G E (7,216) (2,205)
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate NAEEERBEAE 2BIE
X 40,519 148,132
For the year ended 31 March 2022, the weighted average applicable HE-_T-__F=ZA=+—-HLF

tax rate was 11.4% (2021: 18.6%). The change in the weighted average
applicable rate was resulted from changes in the profitability of the
Group in the respective jurisdictions.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the share of tax attributable to
associates amounting to HK$652,000 is included in “Share of profits and
losses of associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

B mEFHEARERNAR (ZF
——F:18.6%) o HIHEFI9E AR K
2 EJJJEEE’\$’§§E$EE57/Z$E
[ & 2 A BE ) IR &

%:ti_g —F=ZA=tBRLEE"

PRl 63%272%R15652 000 T2

quA,n BELEGE2EKRAERA
DIEEE R EEN R EBE] -

T EHEEERBRA
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12.

13.

156

Dividends

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of any
dividends in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

Loss per Share Attributable to Ordinary Equity
Holders of the Parent

The calculation of the basic loss per share for the year ended 31
March 2022 is based on the loss for the year attributable to owners
of the parent of HK$108,912,000 (2021: HK$375,995,000), and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year of
1,231,642,888 (2021: 1,231,642,888).

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amount
presented for the year ended 31 March 2022 in respect of a dilution
as the impact of the share options issued by CAP and the convertible
notes issued by CAP outstanding either had no dilutive effect or an anti-
dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amount presented.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amount
presented for the year ended 31 March 2021 in respect of a dilution as
the impact of the share options of the Company and the convertible
notes issued by CAP outstanding either had no dilutive effect or an anti-
dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amount presented.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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12.

13.

Ji B,

EECTEERBE-S-__F=
A=+—BLEFERMEMEKE(Z
To—F 8\

=

B 20w 3 0 HE 4 4 A N AN
(537 F i

Bz Z2-_-_##=ZA=+—HI#F
ERNEREARABEDRES AR
%A A FEAG R F [ B 18108,912,000
B T(= T = — 4 :375995000%
TIRANEECBITE BB MEF
¥ £1,231,642,8880% (= & — — 4
1,231,642,888%) 5+ &

HRPEEEREBITHERERF
EREMBEITHMRERITRRE
BYHE2IWEREXNEBENE®S
MRIEAREFTUR WA EY
HzE—_Z2-_—_F#=-A=+—81tF
EE2AMEREANBEBESBELE

aBE

AR E R AR N h B R A B
T B 1) R B2 4 W) R iR 3R 4R B P 2 W
ZEBERERAERMERTARIA
ERESHR RUBHEE-T
T—FZA=Z+-HIEFEEZNN
FREABBESHEFELETAE -
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment 14. i3k ~ Wi Kk i
Owned assets Right-of-use assets
it 1 kRREE
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold ~ Plantand  and office Motor  Computer Leasehold
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment  vehicles  equipment Total [and  Buildings Total
KRR
Br  BEXE HERAE  HOTRR hE  EHRE & REty BF it
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'00  HKY'000  HKS000  HKY000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000
T TAn £ TEr TEn T T T &7 TE7
31 March 2022 bt Jufet 3
Zhz1-8
1 Al 001 H-g--#mp-p:
(ost A 698,411 93,665 97,6% 64,204 130 2,274 989,571 26,482 215,544 4,06 1,431,603
Accumulted deprecition ZHAERRE
and impairment (115039) (67600  (38734)  (29597) (1966)  (17819) (70755  (48.248)  (10,825) (199073 (469,828)

Net carrying amount RETE 583312 26,005 58,962 34,607 5,361 10,455 718,822 178,234 64,719 24,953 961,775
At 1 Aprl 2001, netof I

accumulate depreciaion AREHAERGE

and impairment 583372 26,005 58,962 34,607 5,361 10,455 718,822 178,234 64,719 24,953 961,775
Additons #E 1,205 3,764 23 17,666 616 1,882 26,036 - n91 n91 98,333
Depreciation provded duing e £MztfelF &

Jedr (22291 (125%9) (9223 (11589) (1391) (391 (61,000 (6379) (o418 (46797)  (107,797)
Reversal of inpaiment/ HERA/(E)

(impairmen) 20,086 (1,266) - (174) - (m) 18,575 2,04 (14.204) (12,180) 6,395
Disposl it E/H - (894) (175) (5,261) (488 (420) (738) - - - (7,238)
lease modfcationfieisonofs ~ BEGH/BERT

|ease term - - - - - - - - 212 [2121) [2121)
Exchange realignment EifE 2,756 15 - 1337 155 308 5,008 118 908 2,051 7,089
At 31 Match 2022, net of RE_CE

acumulated depreciation ) =

and impairment NREFHERNE 585,142 15,582 50,487 36,586 4,53 8,153 700,203 175,082 81,155 256,197 956,400
At 31 March 2022 .

o !
(ost ik 703,291 94,391 98310 76,514 6,676 3008 1009272 2119 183,308 411,09 142030
Accumulted depreciton EHAERRE
and impgirment (118,149) (78,809) (47,885) (39.928) (2423) (21,875 (309,069) (52749) (102,153 (154902  (463971)
Net carrying amount RETE 585,142 15,582 50487 36,586 4,253 8,153 700,203 175,082 81,155 256,197 956,400
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 14. Y3k ~ Wil B i (a0

Buldings  imp

31 March 2001 5k
i
At 1 Aorl 2000: RIZZRERA-B:
(ost i T05.331 18167 97861 57618 6082 0757 965,636 00359 170,168 s 133,163
Accumulated depreciation EiERRAE
and impairment (76:808) (54853) (2980 (21167 (153 (13834 (198038 (LINR)] (123060) (163,185) (36123
Net carrying amount REFE 628543 1314 67837 36451 453 6933 1675% 160236 47106 0134 974940
At 1 Aprl 2000, netof HZEZE0A-8
accumulete deprecizion NREHAERAE
and impairment 628543 B34 67837 36451 453 6933 16759 160236 47106 0134 974940
Additions #E 2016 14279 5% 6930 181 6,869 32650 26,66 4%6 69032 101682
Depreciation provided dung the ~ EMzteHF &
year (2059) (12.268) 9.3) (10461) (1173) (3807) (38999) (5,700) (19 (336 (92623)
mpaiment AE (18867) (199) - - - - (19066) (2848) - (2849 (919
Disposal/witten off e /i (5% - ) (73 (149 i B 8 - (%) {1485
lease modificafonfevisonof s~ AE /B
Iease tem - - - - - - - - 1634 163 163
Transferto ivestment poperties EBZRE9% (3403 - - - - - 8403 71 - 7 1)
Bxchange reaignment L 4535 939 - 140 39 465 8690 00 97 1%8 116%
At31 March 2021, net of RB-%
acumulated deprecition ZRE-R
and impairment NREFHERNE 58331 16065 58962 34607 5,301 10455 718822 178,34 64719 14293 91,775
At 31 Mrch 2001 i
BN
(ost g 698411 93,665 978% 04204 30 ng 989577 10648 15544 442020 1431603
Accumulated depreciation ZHAERRE
and impairment (15039 (67600) (38734 (20597) (19%6) (17819) (270755) (48218) (150829) (199073) (£69828)
Net carrying amount FEFE 58331 16065 5892 34607 5,301 10455 71882 17834 64719 242853 91,775
At 31 March 2022, certain of the Group’s owned buildings with an RZEBE-_—_F=ZA=+—8 ' &%£H
aggregate carrying amount of HK$168,799,000 (2021: HK$175,692,000), B T 48 {H168,799,000% T (=& =—
leasehold land, which is included in right-of-use assets, with an F:175692,0008 T) 2 & T A&
aggregate carrying amount of HKS$134,846,000 (2021: HK$114,450,000) F & B8R ™ 48 {8134,846,0005% st (=
and furniture and equipment of HK$3,340,000 (2021: HKS$3,852,000) were T — — 4F : 114,450,000/ JT) 5t A&
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note RAEEEZETHE LI REM
30). N 5% 13,340,000 st (Z T = —F:

3,852,000 L)  ERBMBRTEAE
Bz — RIRTTE B F RO &
30) -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had property, plant and equipment,
before current year impairment, of HK$865,174,000 (2021:
HK$891,275,000) relating to the Chinese Pharmaceutical CGU and
Western Pharmaceutical CGU. As mentioned in note 3 to the financial
statements, given that the carrying amount of the net assets of the
Group is more than the Company’s market capitalisation, while evidence
is available from internal reporting that indicates that the economic
performance of CGUs are better than expected, an impairment
assessment has been performed. For the purpose of impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment, each individual retail
store is identified as a separate CGU.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, as a result of the impairment
assessment, impairment losses of HK$1,796,000, HK$174,000, HK$71,000
and HK$14,224,000 were recognised based on value in use in respect of
the leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and office equipment,
computer equipment and buildings included in right-of-use assets,
respectively, of certain retail stores which continued to underperform
during the year ended 31 March 2022 and were therefore fully impaired
(2021: Nil). The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was
12.0%.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, as a result of the impairment
assessment, impairment losses of HK$3,430,000 and reversal of
impairment losses of HK$1,695,000 (2021: impairment losses of
HK$7,222,000 and HK$2,598,000) were recognised based on fair value
less costs of disposal in respect of the owned buildings and leasehold
land of certain retail stores due to the decrease/increase (2021: decrease)
in the respective recoverable amount of those retail stores for the year
ended 31 March 2022. As at 31 March 2022, the aggregate carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment amounting to HK$193,400,000
(2021: HK$195,200,000) represented the recoverable amount of owned
retail stores of the Group for which an impairment loss has been
recognised or reversed during the years. The recoverable amount was
determined based on the fair value less costs of disposal under direct
comparison approach determined by an independent professionally
qualified valuer, which took into account current prices of properties
of similar locations and conditions and other unobservable inputs, and
accordingly the fair value measurement was categorised within Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy.

B4 % e % B wE o)

14. M3 ~ W5 R @

R—_ZTE-_—_F=ZA=Z+—8" K
SEBEHEPEIRSEEHEMMN
FPHEERSEALAEMNARZY
¥ BEEAIZBEHBRAFERMA
) 865,174,000/ T (= & — — F:
891,275,000/ Jt) ° 40 BF 7% ]’ & i 5
3T ERAKEEMEEFEREB
ERBARQAFTME: L RIPR
EEBREBRIESELEBUMNLEE
REBBHY ASECHETRE
AfE-mE BEEREBEZRE
FEmMmE SESEEHREE A
BB SESEN -

BE_Z-_—#=-A=1+—HItEE
HMRETRESE REREEE
T E-_FZA=+—BHIEEEX
ﬁ% KFW%? EEzHEHR

KA -EBERBLAERE B
““ﬁu&dkﬁ%%QFmE$
£ FAEE S 5 iR R E K5 181,796,000
7 7T~ 174,0005% 7T~ 71,0008 7T K&
14,224,000 70 » W E 2 E R E(Z
To—F:@-RenEEAER
R EAE12.0% °

HE-_T-_—_F#-A-1+—HILFE
RARETR ERER $Eﬁ
TEEBCERAEFRAE L
7 & Ak 7K B 52 080 (B &5 183,430,000
7 7T &R (B B 18 # [811,695,0000% T
ZE - —F R (B E 87,222,000
JC %2,598,0008 7t) © W AR E =
ZE-__F=ZRA=+—HBLFE-
ZETEEHNMABTND S ER
LN CEZ—F R R
TE-_F=ZA=+—"H YV%E BE
o 5% 1% H BR | 48 18 /193,400,000
T (=& = — % :195,200,0007% JT) °
MAEENERTEENAKE S
R FANE B UL R SR BB EE
BeaAliEcmBHIREBIEES
EREEMETCZHELEAER
AFEREEK A W EERIEMU
MNERMRZYMEZZRERRE
A ERGgAREES AtA
FEAEFADTFEBRANE=4 -
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 14. Y3k ~ Wil B i (a0

In addition, reversal of impairment losses of HK$23,516,000, HK$530,000
and HK$349,000 (2021: impairment losses of HKS$11,645,000, HK$199,000
and HK$250,000) were recognised for the year ended 31 March 2022
in respect of the owned buildings, leasehold improvements and
leasehold land of the Group's manufacturing facility respectively due
to the increase in the recoverable amounts as evidence is available
from internal reporting that indicates the economic performance of
CGUs is better (2021: worse) than expected. As at 31 March 2022, the
aggregated carrying amount of HK$376,000,000 (2021: HK$358,000,000)
represented the aggregated recoverable amount of these assets for
which impairment losses have been recognised or reversed during the
years. The recoverable amount was determined based on the fair value
less costs of disposal under depreciated replacement cost approach
determined by an independent professionally qualified valuer which
took into account current prices of properties of similar locations and
conditions and other unobservable inputs, and accordingly the fair value
measurement was categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key input
to the valuation of property, plant and equipment:

o HE2-_ZT-_—_F=A=+—
AIEFE - AR E S 5L (R
HREEFEERRSELEEMNNL
ERERBHE(CEZ—F 8B
HE) BERAEELEERKEZ B
AEFx HEEgURBEELH Y
B 7 7R 6 (B B 18 # [£123,516,0007
JC ~ 530,000 7T &% 349,000/%& st (=
T — F R B B 811,645,000/
JC ~ 199,000/ JT K 250,000 JT) °
RZE-_—_F=ZA=+—8B ' @\
4 {E376,000,0008 T(ZZT - —F:
358,000,000/ T) AR EBEFANE
REBEBEEENEE 2T K E
EE o Al Yol & FE LI R A FER
HERAENBLEELAERBE
METZHEEERANE  L&E
EEUNERMR R ZYWEZZRE
BREMT ARG AHEET -
AUEAFEAFEFEARTFEEBRDN
B

TEBAME BMERKREEEMR
RAZEETEARETEHAME:

Significant
Valuation technique unobservable input
fh{E 7 % EXRTUBEBARE
Commercial properties Direct comparison Price per square foot
method
[l kZES HE L BUA BFHIRER
Manufacturing facilities Depreciated replacement Construction cost per
cost method square metre
HEERM TEEERRE BFFIRBERAE

A significant increase/(decrease) in the price per square foot in isolation
would result in a significantly higher/(lower) recoverable amount of
the property, plant and equipment. A significant increase/(decrease)
in the construction cost per square metre in isolation would result in a
significantly higher/(lower) recoverable amount of the property, plant
and equipment.

160 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022

HK$9,000 to HK$8,000 to
HK$137,000 HK$143,000
9,000 T & 8,000 T=
137,0007% T 143,000 7T

HK$28,329 HK$24,819
28,329t 24,8197 7T

YT REREBRELA (TR
BEHME BELREITRES
BMABBM/(RD) e BFHKZ
ERABBBRE L (TR)EE
HWE BERRBAITEEDSHEX
g, O D) -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

15. Investment Properties

5 e % B RE 49)

15. &EW%

2022 2021

—E-= =95 = —%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHIT

Carrying amount at beginning of year FYHREE 3,507,623 3,190,791

Additions during the year FRRE 51,558 30,725

Transfer from owner-occupied property BRMEER - 85,800

Transfer to properties under development EREBERPYE (3,205) -

Disposals during the year FRHE (35,802) -

Accrued rent-free rental income EFt 2 HHES WA (147) 32
Net losses from fair value adjustments for FEEMEATERAEZ

owned properties BB (83,253) (32,056)

Net losses from fair value adjustments for sub- DAV EAFEREZ

leased properties & B F (3,764) (2,976)

Exchange realignment ME 5 5 B 129,493 235,307

Carrying amount at end of year FAREEE 3,562,503 3,507,623

The Group’s investment properties are commercial and industrial
properties in Hong Kong and agricultural produce exchange markets
in Mainland China. The investment properties were revalued by Asset
Appraisal Limited and RHL Appraisal Limited, independent professionally
qualified valuers, at 31 March 2022, respectively. The finance department
of the Group has a team that reviews the valuation performed by the
independent valuers for financial reporting purposes and reports
directly to the senior management of the Company. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held between management and
the valuers twice a year when the valuation is performed for interim
and annual financial reporting. At the end of each reporting period,
the finance department holds discussion with the independent valuers
to verify major inputs to the independent valuation reports. The
finance department also assesses property valuation movements when
comparing to the prior year valuation reports.

AEBRENERUREEZB
ERTIEMERCNPEAMLZ B
EmXHmE N_T__F=H
=T—R RENEHRBIEEA
EREEMTHREEEFERHRA
RARFAKMITHEBRBAERAA
DRIER(A1E - NE BB AR
ERENBELAEMSYERRE
MAETHHE TEZRART
SRERBERSE - EIREE G ERM
Rt R FEY B RMETEE
WEE SFRTMABHEMER
FRh#ERDF® REREHR
B % 2B P BB L B AP HE 1T R AT
NEEBLHERENIZS AR
o MM B EFE A ER
B AEMEHEZY -

T B AR AR
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15. Investment Properties (continued)

162

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further details of which are included in note 16 to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2022, the Group's owned investment properties with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$1,946,740,000 (2021: HK$1,385,453,000)
and certain rental income generated therefrom were pledged to secure
the general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 30).

As at 31 March 2022, certain investment properties of the Group
situated in Mainland China, with an aggregate carrying amount of
HKS$475,418,000 (2021: HKS$371,174,000), did not have the property
certificates registered under the names of the respective subsidiaries
of the Group. In the opinion of the Company'’s directors, the risk of the
Group not being able to obtain the legal titles for the relevant properties
is low and the Group will continue to complete the ownership
registration of the investment properties.

Further particulars of the Group's investment properties are included on
page 227.

Fair value hierarchy

The recurring fair value measurement for all the commercial and
industrial properties and agricultural produce exchange markets of the
Group uses significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) and details of their
movements are disclosed below.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2021:
Nil).
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15. Investment Properties (continued) 15. HEWE @
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AFEER(HE)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of DERAFEHERE=RNRATE
the fair value hierarchy: AR HEK:
Agricultural
produce
Commercial Industrial exchange
properties property markets Total
BEM
[0 R/ES T RE M st
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET T T T T
Carrying amount at RZZTZZTEFMNA—-—HBHZ
1 April 2020 BREAE 351,700 - 2,839,091 3,190,791
Accrued rent-free rental st AHES WA
income 10 22 - 32
Additions during the year FARE 21,198 - 9,527 30,725
Transfer from owner-occupied & F3 4 3 &3
property - 85,800 - 85,800
Net losses from fair value FEEMEATEARZ
adjustments for owned BEFE
properties (17,009) (3,822) (11,225) (32,056)
Net losses from fair value DEMEATEAEZ
adjustments for sub-leased BB F
properties - - (2,976) (2,976)
Exchange realignment [E & 58 %% - - 235,307 235,307
Carrying amount at 31 March  RZZT=——4%F
2021 and 1 April 2021 ZA=+—HEK
W A—H
ZBRHEE 355,899 82,000 3,069,724 3,507,623
Accrued rent-free rental Bt EHES WA
income (136) (11) - (147)
Additions during the year FARE - - 51,558 51,558
Disposals during the year FRAHE (20,200) - (15,602) (35,802)
Transfer to properties under  EEEHEHYE
development - - (3,205) (3,205)
Net gains/(losses) from fair FEEEMERATEARZ
value adjustments for W /(B 18) F 58
owned properties (37,464) 4,011 (49,800) (83,253)
Net losses from fair value SHEMEATFEARZ
adjustments for sub-leased BB IFE
properties - - (3,764) (3,764)
Exchange realignment VE 5, 78 B - - 129,493 129,493
Carrying amount at 31 March  RZZT = =4
2022 —A=+—BZzKAEE 298,099 86,000 3,178,404 3,562,503

T S R A R AT
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15. Investment Properties (continued) 15. HEWE @
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AFEER(HE)
Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the TR EYEEERKA 2
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: EREREE@E AHE:

164

Significant
Valuation technique unobservable input
fh{E 5 % ERTUBEHARE
Commercial properties Direct comparison Price per square foot HK$58,000 to HK$42,000 to
method HK$96,000 HK$112,000
[ElikZES HEELEE FFHFRER 58,0002 tE 42,0008 TE
96,0007 T 112,000 7T
Industrial property Direct comparison Price per square foot HK$3,992 HKS$3,806
method
TEMHE HELEE BYFHRER 3,992 T 3,806/ 7T
Agricultural produce Direct comparison Price per square foot HK$384 to HK$352 to
exchange markets method and HK$389 HK$367
investment method
REMXSH% HELBOERKEX BFHRER 384T E 3NETE
389 T 3678 7T
Estimated rental value per HK$143 to HKS115 to
square foot and per HK$1,131 HK$1,052
month
BRABVYHRMEFEESE 1438 T & N5ETE
(] 1,131% T 1,052% 7T

Capitalisation rate

BRI R

As at 31 March 2022, the valuations of investment properties were based
on either the investment method which capitalises the rent receivables
from the existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rent
of the properties or the direct comparison method by reference to
comparable market transactions.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the price per square foot in isolation
would result in a significantly higher/(lower) fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental value
per square foot in isolation would result in a significantly higher/(lower)
fair value of the investment properties. A significant increase/(decrease)
in the capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significantly lower/
(higher) fair value of the investment properties.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

16. Leases

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of leasehold land,
buildings and equipment used in its operations. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with
lease periods of 27 to 68 years, and no ongoing payments will be
made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of office properties
generally have lease terms of 5 to 6 years, while retail shops generally
have lease terms between 2 and 6 years. Other equipment generally
has lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually of low value.
There are several lease contracts that include extension and termination
options and variable lease payments, which are further discussed below.

B4 5 e % B Rk )

16. #lH&

REBEREEA

ARBEFTAREEERZZRES
T BFERREIMERY A
SEERAE-RENRAMEE
U HETE B m27 =68 F ey 1 & £ 1 -
MBEZELHEEZGEKX
GREBEIXNEFARE - RRAEVE
HEHPATERECH  TEE
MZERMABEN F2E6F - Hip
BEZHBBEER2EARATR,S
FEMNEERE - BAIGTAE TE
EEARKIEERMATZERAEN

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are disclosed in note 14 to the

financial statements.

Lease liabilities

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under other

RZEERD FHHBE—FW

g o
a) ERAREE
AEEEREEE Y EEER

& o

(b) HE&E

FREBN M MERM 145

HE & EGHA &R RA

payables and accruals) and the movements during the year are as REFERABE T ZEEER

follows:

FRNEBHOT

HK$'000
TET

Carrying amount as at 1 April 2020 RIZ_ZFWNA-BZKHEE 141,437
New leases e HEE 46,538
Accretion of interest recognised during the year  F AR Z 2L F) 8 6,303
Payments BE (68,671)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors HH AR A BT 2 BT B AR O B K
ElNHeER (6,888)

Reassessment of a lease term arising from a RTE TR A HR R

decision not to exercise the extension option 2 5 &1 14 7 88 (11,430
Lease modification HEEE] (673)
Exchange realignment M X, 38 # 2,027
Carrying amount at 31 March 2021 and R-ZE_—F=ZR=+—HEZZE_—F

1 April 2021 MA—HZEAEME 108,643
New leases eI EE 84,195
Accretion of interest recognised during the year ~ FRER 2 25 & 4,838
Payments EA (69,180)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors A P 3R A R T AL AR R & b A

FANHeESL (3,860)

Revision of a lease term arising from a change in [ 8 & -~ 7 51 4 HA A &

the non-cancellable period of a lease i E & 2 HEEE] (1,145)
Lease modification HEEFT (1,473)
Exchange realignment P X R 1,034
Carrying amount at 31 March 2022 R-ZZE-_—_F=ZA=+—HZEHEE 123,052

e BT RARAT
R _FFIR
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16. Leases (continued) 16. M8 @)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEEREAHEA(HE)
(b) Lease liabilities (continued) (b) HEAEHE)
The carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under other HEBBEG AEMEMNKIEA
payables and accruals) and the movements during the year are as REAEBRETN) 2 CEREEBER
follows: (continued) FREHHOT: (B)
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$/000
FTER T T
Analysed into: DR
Within one year —FR 50,883 55,558
In the second year EZF 36,036 28,535
In the third to fifth years, inclusive EZZNF(BREERMF) 32,164 21,739
Beyond five years AFEUE 3,969 2,811
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—BzKHE 123,052 108,643
The maturity analysis of undiscounted lease liabilities is disclosed AHREEREZ2HBEIWN
in note 45 to the financial statements. FBA TS R Y ST 453 BE o
() The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to () REZERIAZHEEBELSE
leases are as follows: mT:
2022
—=-=
HK$’000
FTER
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEZFE 4,838 6,303
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets £ AEEE 2 T EFM X 46,797 33,624
Expense relating to short-term leases EEMEERE R
(included in selling and distribution GTASHER D HAX)
expenses) 3,487 5132
Expense relating to leases of low-value HEEEEEHERBEZHAX
assets (included in administrative (GTATTBRAX)
expenses) 897 765
Variable lease payments not included in Kt ATHEBEFE 2 &
the measurement of lease liabilities HERMNRK
(included in selling and distribution GTAHEERDHEAX)
expenses) 8,014 7147
COVID-19-related rent concessions from  HM A FFiR B H TR ES
lessors MAEBENEERSR (3,860) (6,888)
Gain on modification/termination of lease {&&] /R IEFE&H 2 Wi
contracts (491) (13,737)
Impairment of right-of-use assets FRAEEERE 12,180 2,848
Total amount recognised in profit or loss HRIBx R 2 858 71,862 35,194
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

16. Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Extension and termination options

The Group has leases with remaining lease terms ranging from
less than 1 year to 16 years (2021: 1 year to 17 years). The leases
containing extension and termination options are managed
locally and vary in terms. The Group has included extension or
termination options in the measurement of the lease obligations
when it is reasonably certain to exercise the options.

Variable lease payments

The Group leased a number of retail stores which contain variable
lease payment terms that are based on the Group’s turnover
generated from the retail shops. There are also minimum annual
base rental arrangements for these leases. The amounts of
the fixed and variable lease payments recognised in profit or
loss for the current year for these leases are HK$27,942,000 and
HK$8,014,000 (2021: HK$25,315,000 and HKS$7,147,000), respectively.

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 37(c) to the
financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

(i

Operating leases

The Group leases its properties consisting of 5 (2021: 5)
commercial properties, 1 (2021: 1) industrial property in Hong
Kong and 11 (2021: 11) agricultural produce exchange markets
in Mainland China under operating lease arrangements. The
terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay security
deposits. Rental income recognised by the Group during the year
was HK$255,887,000 (2021: HK$209,895,000), details of which are
included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2022, the undiscounted lease payments receivables

B4 5 e % B Rk )

16. & )

REBEEREBEA(E)

(d)

(e)

(f)

FHEARKILERER
REBETBRBEAN F LR
TFEIF(CE - —F 155
VR ZHEE BEEERK
TEEgE2HEREE TR
HEIE KRB MR - &K
SEABBETEAMBELK
R HEAEEZHE
SAAGRREAN -

CIE-E:=0-E0E
AEEHEZHTEEH
‘:F'@.:.*E?F$%@ %EMﬁ
B2 S HENKER -
EZ%%E%DTJ%FﬁiF%
rEeLH ANEERZEME
ERBERERZETE RATEMHE
& 3 5 Bl &£27942,0007% TT
8,014,000 T (ZE=—F :
25,315,000/ T &7,147,000%
7L e

HEzRERBRER
%MT u_{37( )&Eﬁ °©

8175 ¥

REEESEAA

(i)

KERE
AEBBELERE TN
HEME ERREECE
TE SN EBIEE
WERBEB(ZEZ—F:11)
TEWE UENBE(CZT=_—
FNBE)NRPEANZ 2
EMRSmME - xSHE 21§
FEPERAFIMNRES -
AEEBFANBERZEASHRAR
255,887,000 T (ZE =— 4 :
209,895,000/ 7r) B A & 1B
O B 7S SRR T 55 o

R-_E-_—_F=ZA=+—8"

by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating REBRBEERBA S 2T
leases with its tenants are as follows: WKL HERRKREBHEZ
EB AT REENRAT
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER T T
Within one year —FRX 222,531 211,696
After one year but within two years —FREMFR 83,937 81,755
After two years but within three years MERB=ZFRA 23,597 16,227
After three years but within four years —FRENFA 9,632 7,230
After four years but within five years MERERFR 5,116 5,089
After five years AFi& 12,762 12,264
357,575 334,261
T2 BEERERA

:2::@@&
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16. Leases (continued) 16. M8 @)
The Group as a lessor (continued) AEBEERLEHEA (HF)
(ii) Finance leases (i) MEHE
The Group sub-leased office premises to its fellow subsidiaries A& BRI ﬂ 5 HEZHER
and 4 (2021: 3) retail shops to its franchisees under finance lease ERZEZMBRARI AR AME

arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms of 3 years (2021:
2 to 3 years). The terms of the leases require the tenants to pay
security deposits.

The carrying amounts of net investments in subleases and the
movements during the year are as follows:

Ko 17) 0 B2 78 5 5FE4F§(*7**
F3NTEES BTHES
3@(:T_—$ 2E3F) -

ERAREFBEPINRESR -

SHRBEEFBZEABERFA
gEmn:

HKS$'000
TFHT

Carrying amount at 1 April 2020 RZZT-_ZEFNA—HBZEHAE 20,145
Additions arising from new leases A HEMARE 4,058
Accretion of finance income recognised during FRER 2 RIEH B WA

the year 705
Proceeds from subleases SIS RIA (11,560)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2021 and RZZEZ—F=A=+—HK

1 April 2021 —E-—GWA-BZEEE 13,348
Additions arising from new leases A HEmMRE 11,381
Accretion of finance income recognised during FANER 2 RIEHBHA

the year 555
Proceeds from subleases S HEFTFRIE (10,599)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2022 RIZE-_—_F=A=+—HzKEHE 14,685

2022
—ZE-=
HK$'000
TER
Analysed into: DR

Current portion mE I 5,592 8,852
Non-current portion B A 9,093 4,496
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—BZKHEHA 14,685 13,348
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16. Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

(ii)

Finance leases (continued)

At 31 March 2022, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by
the Group in future periods under non-cancellable finance leases

with its tenants are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

5 e % B RE 49)

16. & )

AEBEREHEA (HE)

(ii) AMEHEE(E)
R-—ZE-_—_F#=A=+—8"
AEBERBEEMBFEIZL 2T
BEMmERERRKREBZ
FEWARITBEBREMZTOT

2022
—E_=

HK$’000

FERT
Within one year —F R 5,880 9,268
After one year but within two years —FREMFA 3,426 3,597
After two years but within three years MEFRE=FN 958 1,023
10,264 13,888

In addition to the above, the annual contingent rental is calculated

on a percentage of the turnover of the store.

17. Investments in Associates

BLatEs FEXRRELE
EREXBEZADLAHE -

17. RBEBEARZRE

2022
S

—_—_——

HK$’000
TERT

Cost of investments in associates:

KRB ERRZRE KA

Unlisted shares, at cost SEEMRG - AR 4,331 4,331
Less: Impairment losses recognised B EERREEIE (831) (831)
3,500 3,500
Share of post-acquisition profits/(losses), net of  FEE UK BE& EF|/(E18) -
dividends received BB WE AR B 304 (668)
3,804 2,832

The Group's trade receivable balances with the associates are disclosed

in note 22 to the financial statements.

REBEEE 2 NF 285 ENKA
AN B RRM T2 E -
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17. BB ARZIE ()

TERHBEAREEEE QEERNNE
ARHELTBERBE:

17. Investments in Associates (continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate summarised financial
information of the Group's associates that are not individually material:

2022

—=E—_—

HK$’000
THERT

Share of the associates’ profits and losses J& {5 Bk & X B AN 2 O R R

18.

170

for the year B 1,572 485
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive BB E QR AR EBE

income 1,572 485
Dividend received 2 WAk B 600 3,873
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBRBEERRZREZ

investments in associates HAERHEE 3,804 2,832

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other
Comprehensive Income

18. #2458 H At 2 v Wk 25 A
B Z B 5

2022
—E=-=

HK$’000

FHET
Listed equity investments, at fair value LW RERE - LA FE i), (i) 147,126 146,857
Listed debt investments, at fair value LIHEBKRE  RAFE (i), (i), (iv) 19,839 124,378
Unlisted debt investment, at fair value FEFTEHIKE - 1B F@E i), (iv) - 11,580
166,965 282,815
Portion classified as current assets DEABRBDEERD (19,839) (47,944)
Non-current portion ERENEB D 147,126 234,871

Notes: B 3% -

(i

(ii)

The above equity investments are investments in companies listed on the
Stock Exchange and were irrevocably designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income as the Group considers these investments to be
strategic in nature.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group received dividends in the
amount of HK$5,531,000 (2021: HK$4,334,000) from the equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income and
recognised them in profit or loss.

The Group’s listed equity investments consist of investment in Wang On of
HK$120,172,000 (2021: HK$113,305,000). The remaining are shares of certain
companies listed in Hong Kong. The fair value of each of these companies
represents less than 1% of the net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2022
and 2021.

Assuming the portfolio of the Group’s listed equity investments and listed
debt investments remained unchanged, the market values of the Group's
listed equity investments and listed debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income at the date of approval of these financial
statements were HK$148,452,000 and HK$19,420,000, respectively.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

18. Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other
Comprehensive Income (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

At 31 March 2022, certain of the Group's equity investments and
debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
of HK$54,081,000 (2021: HK$54,817,000) and HK$19,839,000 (2021:
HK$135,958,000), respectively, were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 30).

Impairment assessment of debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

As at 31 March 2022, except for a defaulted listed debt investment of
HK$1,825,000 (2021: HK$1,788,000) which was categorised within Stage
3 and a listed debt investment of HKS$2,649,000 (2021: Nil) which was
categorised within Stage 2, none of the listed debt investments were
overdue and all of them were categorised within Stage 1 for the assessment
of expected credit losses.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering
the expected credit losses, which are estimated by applying the probability
of default approach with reference to risk of default and loss given
default of the issuers or comparable companies. As at 31 March 2022, the
probability of default applied ranged from 2.8% to 100% (2021: 0.2% to
100%) and the loss given default ranged from 63.0% to 92.4% (2021: 56.5%
to 73.8%).

The movements in the loss allowance for the impairment of debt
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income are as
follows:

5 e % B RE 49)

18. ¥ V18 48 2o 2wk 25 A
e 2 BA 75 & PE ()

MaE: ()

(iii)

(iv)

RZEBEZZF=ZA=+—H &%
HEFRETRATFELEMEZE
W AR RIERERBEBRE
7 554,081,000 L (Z T =—F ¢
54,817,0007% 7T) }&19,839,000/% 7T
— & — — £ :135,958,000/% T) °
LRERFAEEZ —RRTEE
(P 5£30) »

BAVEKLEM2EREARZ
B ERE 2B E T

RZZEZ=ZF=A=1+—H0 K&
#) ™ & % 1% #1,825,00058 T (=
T — —4F:1,788,000% 7t) » A
FE=PEE R ETE 1% E2,649,000
BL(ZEZ—F @B EARE=
FEERSN - Hih ETEBHRELE
mH BEREHREEBENTE
mME MEZSEBRES DS
RBE—BEE -

REBEAHBEBERBHEER
BRETHEI T MBEHEE
EBREDEBAERAEAMEELS
ZEHNRABMBEITALATELR
REBAHWEBETHE R
- _F#=ZA=+—H EH
R A F2.8% E100% (= T = —
F:02%E100%) F BEHBEN T
63.0%%92.4% (=& ——4F : 56.5%
Z£73.8%) °

BATEELEbzEREARZ
BEHRREZHEBREGEZHN
T

2022
—E-=
HK$’000
TER
At beginning of year R EH 10,021 10,165
Assets derecognised BIETERZEE (699) (526)
Impairment losses, net (note 7) WEEE  FECEE7)
Changes in risk parameters R EE ) 4,913 112
New investments purchased BEMRE - 270
4,913 382
At end of year R EF R 14,235 10,021
T S R A R AT 171
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19. Properties Under Development 19. 3

2022
—E=-=

HK$'000
87 FiB 7T

Properties under development expected to be  FEHIE R 2 B E P Y

completed:
Within the normal operating cycle included RIEE & EB IR
under current assets FItEREE BE 189,944 68,528
Properties under development expected to be completed within the TEHRESSEEABRNZRK R E
normal operating cycle and recovered: ZERPYE:
2022
—E-=
HK$’000
TER
Within one year —F R 17,816 -
After one year —F1& 172,128 68,528
189,944 68,528
20. Properties Held for Sale 20. FFEHEWZE
2022
—E-=
HK$’000
TER
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—RAZKEHEE 1,490,847 1,886,497
Notes: B 5
(i) At 31 March 2022, the Group's properties held for sale with an aggregate (i) R-ZEBE-_—_F#=ZA=+—H &%
carrying value of HK$501,572,000 (2021: HK$565,032,000) were pledged to B % 4 B 1 48 (8 A501,572,0007%8 7T
secure the Group's general banking facilities (note 30). — & —— £ :565,032,000/ 7T) Z

BELEME  URERTAEE
Z—RRITEE(ME30) -

(ii) During the year ended 31 March 2021, a write-down of properties held for (if) HE_EZ-_—4=-A=+—HLHF
sale of HK$6,326,000 was charged to profit or loss, which was related to two & F{E B ¥ 2 MOR6,326,000
agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland China with aggregate BIURE RN - EApE AR
carrying value of HK$166,531,000 as at 31 March 2021. =A==+ —BZRKEA

8 /166,531,000 7T & i @ =2 &
mRE5m5HER -

(i) Further particulars of the Group's properties held for sale are included on (i) AEERFELEMEZE T
page 227. BEE N L2278 -
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22.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

5 e % B RE 49)

Inventories 21. #+8&
2022

HK$ 000 HK$ (0]0]0)
THT FHIT
Raw materials and consumables RE K EE & 69,443 56,958
Work in progress + B K 4,612 3,529
Finished goods &YX 114,124 102,183
188,179 162,670

Trade Receivables

22. H 5 MWK IHE

2022
—s=-=
HK$’000
FET
Trade receivables B 5 MW R IE 79,515 71,542
Less: Accumulated impairment o BRETRE (16,169) (18,242)
63,346 53,300

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit.
The credit period ranges from 7 to 120 days. Each customer has a
maximum credit limit and the credit limit is reviewed regularly. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that
the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

Included in the Group's trade receivables are amounts due from
the Group's associates of HKS$6,828,000 (2021: HK$8,181,000) which
are repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the major
customers of the Group.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

AEBEEZPHNEZBRREER
EFEE- GEEHNF/AEI0R - &
EPHRERSERRE MEH
ERRESTHEN TEEYHH
*%%mﬁWmﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁ £ LA
HEERARRERE BHRFES
HEREREEEHEN AU L
FiT st e 7N 55 [ 6 5 18 R IR S T
RETRARF Y BEKREER
B - NEEW EL B 5 R UK
EREABEENERGIEMLEER
RiE - BHERBKEARRE -

AEBEE S EWRES R EERAK
& [F B & R\ 2 5XIE6,828, OOO/% 7E
—F - —4:8181,000/8 ) H7E
BERGETFTAEEETEEFHEEN
EEBRREE -

BHRUKBERBERRBREER

EI%&?DB?ESTE%%’&ZE&%@%M
W

2022
—==-=
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Within 1 month &8 A AR 36,209 25,272
1 to 3 months 12318 A 7,172 8,186
3 to 6 months 3Z6(E A 8,267 10,167
Over 6 months B iEefE A 11,698 9,675
63,346 53,300
RITEEEZERERA 173
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22. Trade Receivables (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

22. © 5 MWK IE ()

ESEKRE AEBARRED
mE

2022
—=E—_—

HK$’000

TER
At beginning of year 4 18,242 18,801

Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment RmEEE,/ CRE/BERD) -

losses), net pe:E:} 5,381 (1,160)
Exchange realignment e X 38 8 547 624
Amount written off as uncollectible B 85 2 A U Bl k1B (8,001) (23)
At end of year NS 16,169 18,242

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for
more than one year and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2022

REHREARGRBEBIEMET
WMEIH U EEHMEEER -
BEZDLDERNEARAABAUBRE
AWZETF » BETTH A8
MBHtEARERE  ERE
B BEPRUEFE) - ZiERBR
HAKMEAER  EEREINR
SHMASNERBESEMN - BA
AR B R SR AR B RO TR ) A IR K
AEEAER - —KRMEF - HWEHEG
—FERABARBAITIED - M
58 5 e W ROR -

MR AREEN AR BRES
MEZERKRENERERRE R

R-ZB-Z-=A=+—-H

Past due
g
Within 1 1to3 3to6 Over 6
Current month months months months
BE 1EANMR 1ZE38B 3Z6fF HEBE6MAEA
Expected credit loss rate EHEEEEX 2% 4% 4% 6% 65% 20%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) sEEE(TET) 42,339 5,551 4,900 3,776 22,949 79,515
Expected credit losses (HKS'000) BHEEER(TEL 703 197 211 239 14,819 16,169
As at 31 March 2021 RZEBE-_—F=A=+—H
Past due
Within 1 1to3 3to6 Over 6
Current month months months months
e 1EANAR  1E3EA  3Z6fEA  @BB6MEA
Expected credit loss rate EHEEEEX 0.6% 2% 2% 2% 99% 25%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BEEETET 34,497 7,863 9,166 2,239 17,777 71,542
Expected credit losses (HKS'000) BHEEBE(TEL 212 151 201 50 17,628 18,242
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23. Loans and Interest Receivables 23. MW B K A S
2022
—E-—

HK$’000

FET
Loans receivables JE B % (i), (i) 56,616 51,955
Interest receivables JE W F) 2 19,865 23,183
76,481 75,138
Less: Impairment allowance R (B (iii) (45,613) (44,837)
30,868 30,301

Less: Portion classified as non-current WD ERIERBEE

assets o (13,340) -

Portion classified as current assets DERRDHEEIND 17,528 30,301

Notes: B £ -

(i) As at 31 March 2022, these loans receivables were stated at amortised cost (i) R-BE-_—_&#=ZA=+—8" %%
at effective interest rates ranging from 1% to 12% (2021: 1% to 12%) per JEWE R BHK AR - BE
annum. The credit terms of these loans receivables range from 1 year to 6 FRENFIZRE(ZE=Z—F 11
years (2021: 1 year to 6 years). ERE)  ZERBERZ2EES

NF-—FERF(CT—F:—
FENRF) -

(i) As at 31 March 2022, except for loans receivables of HK$13,340,000 (2021: (i) R-_ZE-_—_F=A=+—8 KE
Nil) with maturity over one year, the remaining loans receivables are either I & 313,340,000 (=& = —
overdue or with maturity within one year, and they have been classified as FoE)R—FRINEIN HHE
current assets accordingly. WERHBEBARRN —FARE -

(i) The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of loans and interest (i) EWERRF SR EEBEE
receivables are as follows: ST

2022 2021

—E-CfF ES
HK$'000

FE T FHAT

At beginning of year RF A 44,837 1,290

Impairment losses, net REBE  FE 2,550 42,051

Exchange realignment i X 1,876 1,496

Amount written off as uncollectible B8 2 m R N e R (3,650) -

At end of year REF R 45,613 44,837
As at 31 March 2022, except for loans and interest receivables with gross RZTZZF=A=+—80 kg
amounts of HK$1,922,000 and HK$58,351,000 (2021: HKS$1,656,000 and % £1,922,0007% st & 58,351,000/
HK$57,475,000) for which had a significant increase in credit risk since TT(=ZZ = — §:1,656,000% T &
initial recognition and were categorised within Stage 2 and Stage 3 for the 57,475,000 7T) 2 FE W B X & F
assessment of expected credit losses, respectively, none of the loans and EEVERRAURZEERBRE
interest receivables were overdue and all of them were categorised within EEMEBREHEEBBTMGM
Stage 1 for the measurement of expected credit losses. EARNERE_RE=ZMREEIN -

BREFRRMNEHELY B3t
BHEEBRNGEMS WA
ZERBERRMNEBDBRE

—PEER -
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering RERERHEREEBHREE
the expected credit losses, which are estimated by applying the probability BRETRES T TEHEE
of default approach with reference to the risk of default and loss given BREDERERENREEAZ
default of the borrowers or comparable companies. As at 31 March 2022, EZEYRBRMERALAE LR
the probability of default applied ranged from 0.2% to 100% (2021: 0.2% to RAIBHBHERETHEE - R
100%) and the loss given default ranged from 56.8% to 80.9% (2021: 56.5% —E--F=ZR=+—8" &Y
to 78.0%). BE & F0.2% E2100% (=T = —

F:02%ZE100%) - EHBEN F
56.8%%280.9% (=T =—4F : 56.5%
%£78.0%) °

T S R A R AT
PREREENARLD 175
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24. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

176

24, VAR - % 8 KA RN

K IH
2022
—E=-=
HK$’000
FTER
Prepayments T8 1 1B 31,610 30,418
Deposits paid for the acquisition of property, WEME BERZREZ
plant and equipment EffEe 3,040 3,040
Rental and other deposits HekHEMEs 114,933 102,353
Other receivables H b & Y 5 1E 84,442 124,018
Right-of-return assets REREE 1,301 1,393
Cost of obtaining contracts MBEHZ KA 25,524 66,781
Total prepayments, deposits and other TERRIE - EE& K
receivables Hih B KIB B 58 260,850 328,003
Less: Impairment allowance B ORE R (288) (237)
260,562 327,766
Less: Portion classified as non-current assets WD ERIERBDEENID (16,558) (19,134)
Portion classified as current assets DEARBEENLS 244,004 308,632

Cost of obtaining contracts represented the prepaid sales commission
paid in connection with the sales of properties. The Group has
capitalised the amounts paid and will charge them to profit or loss as
selling and distribution expenses when the revenue from the related
property sale is recognised. During the year ended 31 March 2022,
sales commission of HK$30,063,000 was charged to profit or loss (2021:
HK$4,082,000).

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental deposits,
deposits with vendors and receivables from counterparties which have
no history of default. The financial assets included in the above balances
were not overdue and categorised in Stage 1 for the measurement
of expected credit losses, except for the balance of HK$14,327,000
(2021: HKS$14,274,000) which was categorised within Stage 2 for
the measurement of expected credit losses. Where applicable, an
impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by considering
the expected credit losses, which are estimated by applying the
probability of default approach with reference to the risks of default
of the counterparties. As at 31 March 2022, the probability of default
applied ranged from 0.2% to 2.0% (2021: 0.2% to 1.6%) and the loss given
default was estimated to approximately range from 56.8% to 63.0%
(2021: 56.5% to 62.9%).
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ERANZKRAERBEEDEMR
INWENEHERS - AEEEE
FAE P XA £ B H I8 B % 8
ERMSEamRAEIEHERS
HRXEEEMNR BE_F_—
FZA=+—-HLHFE HEMAS
30,063,000 7T B 18 & H R (= F
Z—% : 4,082,000 7T) °

RehHEMBERRATZEEASR
E HTEAZRRKBRERE
W2 XS F 2 EKFOR - 7
ALitiEsrz FBEEL BB
THEREEERENFTEMEOHA
RE—BE B ME 2 #E14,3270008 7T
ZF = — 4 :14,274,0007% JT) Bt 18
HERBEENGFEMSIBAE -
R -EERBERLT  REMEAR
HEREBREHEEERETRE
o MEREEEBRDEBRER
BAOMEZELS2ERXFHFHNED
RBETHE RZZE__F=H
=t+t—8B EHOBEERNF0.2%E2.0%
TEZ—F02%E1.6%) R EE
2B B T #56.8% £63.0% (ZF
Z—F:56.5%%629%) °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables 24, FRHSKIA - 2 4 B it W
(continued) K IH (1)
The movements in the loss allowance for the impairment of financial AN RIE - e R H A EKRK
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as BrHEEERBEEEBREZS D
follows: N
2022
—=E—_—
HK$’000
TER
At beginning of year 4 237 835
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment MERE CREBHEER)
losses), net pe:E:} 31 (646)
Exchange realignment e X 38 8 20 48
At end of year R F R 288 237
Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value Through  25. #& 2 Vi & iH 48 AR W B
Profit or Loss ¥ a Al
Financial assets MBEE
2022
—Eg=-=
HK$’000
FET
Unlisted funds, at fair value FLEmES EATE (@) 99,644 98,672
Listed equity investments, at fair value THRERE  RATE (b) 112 67
Derivative component of unsecured EEBERZMTETIA 29
notes o 9,849 3,864
Interest rate swaps ) % 5 B () 135 -
109,740 102,603
Less: Portion classified as non-current WD ERIERBEE
assets i) (135) -
Portion classified as current assets DERRDEEIND 109,605 102,603
Financial liabilities BBas
2022
—ZE-=
HK$’000
FTERT
Derivative component of convertible AMBREREZITETA 31
notes i) - 37
Interest rate swaps | % 5 B3 (© - 810
- 847
Less: Portion classified as non-current W DERIERBEE
liabilities =5 = (810)
Portion classified as current liabilities DERRDEEID - 37

Rr e E R AT
EEREEEERD 177
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25. Financial Assets/Liabilities at Fair Value Through
Profit or Loss (continued)

178

Notes:

(@)

The above unlisted fund investments were mandatorily classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their contractual cash
flows are not solely payments of principal and interest.

Except for the unlisted funds with a fair value of HK$99,644,000 (2021:
HK$58,600,000) as at 31 March 2022 that are determined based on the
quoted market prices provided by fund administrators with reference
to prices derived from the over-the-counter market, the fair value of the
remaining unlisted funds was determined with reference to valuations
performed by CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Limited, an independent
professionally qualified valuer, at 31 March 2022 and 2021, based on the
discounted cash flow model by applying observable inputs including
interest rates and the value of the underlying asset.

At the end of the reporting period, the unlisted fund investments that are
denominated in USD, other than the functional currencies of the respective
group entities, amounted to HK$99,644,000 (2021: HK$98,672,000).

The above equity investments were classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss as the Group has not elected to recognise the fair
value gain or loss through other comprehensive income.

At 31 March 2022, the Group had several interest rate swaps with a notional
amount of HK$50,000,000. The Group pays interest at a fixed rate of 1.08%
and receives interest at a variable rate of 1-month HIBOR. These interest
rate swaps will mature over the next 2 years (2021: 3 years) and are used to
manage its interest rate exposures arising from bank loans at floating rates.

These interest rate swaps are not designated for hedge purposes and are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in the fair value of
the non-hedging interest rate derivatives amounting to HK$945,000 were
credited to profit or loss during the year (2021: HK$810,000 were charged to
profit or loss during the year).

At 31 March 2022, certain of the Group's unlisted funds at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$65,963,000 (2021: Nil) was pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 30).

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022
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oAt

(a)

(0)

()

FRFLTESRERB D E
REBEATELREZARZIUBKE
E BEARERERAEAMANER R
MEAFEREERARASRNE -

BR—_ZE-——F=ZA=+—HZ3
FHES 2 AF(EI9,644,0007% T
— & — — % :58,600,000/ 7T) 1
BFHESEBAREZMEME
K2ERABBIINRHGTIHZEE
BET BTHEEIMESZATE
RS2 ERBIEELERMGME
MEHFZATHEERIARANR-E
ZZFRZFE—F=ZRA=+—H
ERERTEZGAZE(BER
ERAMEEEBR)MRRERE
BRI ZBEEE -

RMEBK UEBEEEEIGE
BN EEE T EZEL
mHE & &% & 599,644,000/ T (=
T~ —4:98,672,00038 7T) °

LREREDBREAFER
BaARCHBEE RARAE
SETEEELEMEE RS E
RAFERERER -

R-ZT-_—_F=ZA=+—H K
EBEITNTETRERERLRASEAR
50,000,000/ jt 2 F| 42 85 - KN &
iz & A R1.08% % F & I
BREER—EABSBRITRAER
EZFEFRKEF L - ZEF
ERBERRRNE (ZT=—F:
SE)NEIE TARERREY
FEHBZRITEREE ZF X
e

HENKEHTRRERHYFE
B MR AFEFARR - FA -
FEMPMEFTETAZAFEE
9450008 TE A B R(ZE
Z—F:F R 810000FTERE
@mHIER)

R-E-_—_F=ZA=+—H A&
BETRATFELBEAKRZIE
W E£65963,0008 T (ZF=——
FEIEANBETAEERZ—
MR 1715 B (E 4K 17 (B 7£30) -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Restricted Bank
Balances and Pledged Deposits

5 e % B RE 49)

26. Bl& R Bl& 5 FEH - Z R

) SRAT 45 R DA B 3K 40 47 5K

2022
—_EgE—-=

HK$’000

FET
Cash and bank balances Re RW|ITHEH 513,450 454,363
Time deposits 7E B 17 3K 35,257 75,173
548,707 529,536
Less: Restricted bank balances W XBREBIRITE % (7,311) (22,302)
Pledged deposits BT R (31,250) -
Cash and cash equivalents ReEkReERIER 510,146 507,234

Notes:

(a) According to the relevant mortgage facility agreements signed by certain
subsidiaries of the Group with their banks, the subsidiaries are required
to place at designated bank accounts certain amounts as deposits for
potential default of mortgage loans advanced to property purchasers.
The deposits can only be used for payments for construction costs of the
relevant properties. These guarantee deposits will be released after the
property ownership certificates of the relevant properties are passed to the
banks.

(b) As at 31 March 2022, the bank balances amounting to HK$31,250,000 (2021:
Nil) were pledged to a bank to secure certain bank borrowings granted to
the Group (note 30).

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$442,946,000 (2021:
HK$374,443,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and six months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time
deposits rates. The bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Trade Payables

() HBRAEEETHWEBRAEILR
TR ZEBERBERMFE &
EWBRAATHR —ELBERIE
EROTEFPIERES  AURE
RIBBERZMERRRHEER -
ReEARBRIXNEBMDEZR
ERE - ZEREFETFRBRE
BMMELFEZERZRIRITERTIHU
ARRR

by WH-ZT-——F=A=+—8" #£177
% £231,250,0008 T (Z T = — 4 ¢
EIDHEB Y —MRITUREET
AEBEZETRITEE(ME30) -

RBEBHR AEBUAREE
2B & MERTT 4 £ B442,946,0007%
JT (= ZT = — 4 : 374,443,0005 7T) °
ARBTAIEALBRBHEMEY -
SR+ AR 78 TP B A M (O P R MR £ )
M(EE - -EBERNFEEE R TE)
AN 5 B AT R R S INE TS
ZHRITEBAREBHRBAEMER -

RITFEFIRRIESHRTERA X
HEZIBHMNEBREBMAE - BHE
PERZEFRABNF —REXHE
H BAEEZRBESFLME
I #2 48 B8 52 5 TE B F AROR R BRERA
B ROTEHREEREFFOERR
THEENE L BIEER T2 RIT -

27. HHREAHRIE

2022
—E-=

HK$’000

Trade payables B 5 ENRIE

FTERT

86,357 72,204

T S R A R AT
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27. Trade Payables (continued) 27. H5MEAT I (w0
An ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting BORNBRERBRERRBERER
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HHZBRE T :
2022 2021
—E=-= —ET-_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER T T
Within 1 month 1MEAA 22,339 15,134
1 to 3 months 1£231E A 9,753 9,039
3 to 6 months 3E6fE A 9,328 9,073
Over 6 months 2 R6ME A 44,937 38,958
86,357 72,204
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term EORNREREE  FTHHRA
of 30 to 180 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in 30F180H  AEE B ] A M5 AR
place to ensure that all payables are within the credit time frame. ERBK  BIRFTAENKERE

EEEHRAN -

28. Other Payables and Accruals/Contract Liabilities ~ 28. iy B £ 5 J6 &% W& st # Al

H R Ak
2022 2021
—E-= —E -4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH T
Receipts in advance T8 IR I8 243,961 234,864
Rental and other deposits received e EMIZE 102,107 100,638
Contract liabilities EHEE (a) 242,967 596,568
Refund liabilities BRRAaE 1,934 1,939
Other payables H ftb & 1~ 51 1A (b) 281,664 332,906
Accruals EsrER 89,255 86,809
Lease liabilities HEAE 16(b) 123,052 108,643
1,084,940 1,462,367
Less:Portion classified as non-current WD ERIERDEE
liabilities 3o (72,589) (56,089)
Portion classified as current liabilities NEARDEABESD 1,012,351 1,406,278
Represented by: &
Contract liabilities AHEE 242,967 596,568
Current portion of other payables and HMENREBEREGSER
accruals 2 mENEB D 769,384 809,710
Portion classified as current liabilities NEAERBEBERY 1,012,351 1,406,278
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28. Other Payables and Accruals/Contract Liabilities

28. H- A B AT S OE R R E

(continued) Al o)
Notes: B 5 -
(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a) AHABEFBOT:
31 March
2022
—E=-=
SVHISETES
HK$’000
THET
Advances received from customers [F] B 5 44 BR A 3 50
Sale of goods HEEY 9,240 9,991 8,173
Sale of properties HEME 233,727 586,577 540,656
242,967 596,568 548,829

Contract liabilities include advances received from customers in relation
to sales of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health food products
and advances from buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sales of

properties.

(b) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled within

one year.

29. Unsecured Notes

Contractual
interest rate (%)
per annum

B 8 FF = (%)

ENAEEREMIEEPEERR
iR E AP YRELR B R
ERAKERENERERERD

B -

(b) HMENKRERTES BFE—F

Unsecured Notes 2024, liability component
—TONFEEERRE BEHD

1%

A ri‘l:l 8 °
O P mw?%

Maturity 2022
ZH A =F=C

HK$’000

TERT

2024
—E-HF 219,497 199,348

On 19 May 2014, CAP established a HK$1,000,000,000 medium term
note program. The notes issued under the program are listed on the
Stock Exchange by way of debt issue to professional investors only. CAP
further announced that interest on the notes will be payable annually in

arrears at the interest rate of 1% per annum.

CAP has totally issued 40 batches of notes with the principal amount of
HK$400,000,000 which bear interest at 1% per annum on 30 May 2014,
11 June 2014, 25 June 2014, 2 July 2014, 10 July 2014, 18 July 2014, 28 July
2014, 29 July 2014, 26 August 2014, 30 September 2014, 6 October 2014
and 7 October 2014, respectively (the “Unsecured Notes 2024"). The
entire Unsecured Notes 2024 will mature on 30 September 2024.

R-Z—MNERA+NLE FEE
EE;DD* 371,000,000,0005 7T 2 * HA
= m%u REBFEBETZZREIN
ERIZEREERTEENFIAR

BXmLEm e FREERE T E
MEENSBRFHRIN  F7
ER1% °

FEEEREOAIR-_ZE—UER
ﬂf-?—El o E— E‘E/\ﬂ"’ =
—E-MFEASA-+HEB  -ZZET—@O
F+A-HF - ZZE—NELA+AH-
ZE-WHFELATNR ZE—@
F+rA-+N\B - —ZFE—MWMELA
:+hH CTE— Eiﬂﬂ*+ﬁ5

—mEALA=FTA — P F
‘HEJ/\EIISZ_T E¢+ﬂt5m/\
% 17404t AN £ 58 A400,000,00078 7T
FHERBU2ER(ZE-_MNEE
EREB)D T _NNFEEKHFZ
BHE2BR-_ZT_mFLAZ +E
EIHg o

7 R R AR A
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29. MEHCIH IR )

29. Unsecured Notes (continued)

Details of the Unsecured Notes 2024 are as follows:

Redemption period by CAP: Three specified redemption dates from 31
December 2023 to 30 June 2024

Redemption amount on the maturity date: 96.85% of the principal
amount

CAP has repurchased and cancelled the Unsecured Notes 2024 in
an aggregate principal amount of HKS$110,000,000 in prior years.
Accordingly, a principal amount of HK$290,000,000 remained
outstanding as at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$290,000,000).

The interest expenses on the Unsecured Notes 2024 were calculated
using the effective interest method by using the effective interest rate
of 11.1%.

The fair value of the unsecured notes had been split into the liability and
derivative components at initial recognition and their movements are as
follows:

TEONEEERRBZFBOT:

FHEEEREOHNE: ZEEE
BOHH T -_=F+_A=+—
AE-Z-_WENA=+8

RSB ZEREZR AR
96.85%

RBEFE FREEREED
K 5 88 K & 4 %8110,000,0007% JT
RO EmE B ER o it
RZE-_—_F#=ZA=+—H &=
%6290,000,000% m(= T = — F:
290,000,000/ 7o) M AR (E & o

—SEomEmERERZNEML
.55 B IR 811,10 2 B I RS O%
EE

FEMRR 2 DT ERD B ERS
EFHREERITETIASS  H
BT :

Unsecured Notes 2024
—E_NEEEARERE

Liability Derivative
component component Total

FTEITR
EETD i et
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FAT FAT F& T

(note 25)

(Fff 5£25)
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-_FTFMYA—H 181,220 (6,220) 175,000
Accretion of interest ZIEF & 21,028 - 21,028
Interest paid BATF B (2,900) - (2,900)
Fair value loss NEEEE - 2,356 2,356

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZEZ—F=A=+—H

—E-—FMA—A 199,348 (3,864) 195,484
Accretion of interest RIEF B 23,049 - 23,049
Interest paid [RENEIESS (2,900) - (2,900)
Fair value gain AR - (5,985) (5,985)
At 31 March 2022 RZEBE-_—_#=A=+—H 219,497 (9,849) 209,648
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Current:

wE:

Bank loans - secured
RITEH-HER

Bank loans - secured

BTN -HER

Other loan - unsecured

EER - RER
- Loan from a fellow subsidiary
-RE-HRZNBRARZER

Non-current:
¥R
Bank loans - secured

BITER-HER

Other loan - unsecured

EER - RER
- Loan from a fellow subsidiary
-RE-RRZNBRARZEH

Contractual interest
rate (%)
& #71%E (%)

HIBOR+(1.5t0 2)
EBRATRERE
+(1.5EZ2E)
HIBOR+

(1.56 to 1.85)/

RMB base lending
rate + (0 to 3)/
2.60t07.35
ERRATRAERE
+(1.56E 1.85E) /
ARBEEERAE
+(0EZ3E)/
2.60F £7.35E

10
10E

HIBOR+1.56/

RMB base lending
rate + (0 to 2.11)/
5.50t07.35
ERRTRAERE
+1.56E /
ARBEEERAE
+(0EZ2.11E)/
5.50F £7.35E

N/A
TER

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2022
- —

N

Maturity
£4

On demand
2022-2023
—E_CEZ
—E-=f%
2022
—E_CE
2023-2029
“E-=f3%
BN
N/A

TER

821,403
1,461,665

5 e % B RE 49)

30. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings 30. wHE SRAT B FAth % 5

2021
2%
Contractual interest
HK$'000 Maturity HK$'000
TET ANMEC) FH TET

On demand 162,000

132,350 HIBOR+(1.5t0 2)
ERRTRERE
+(15SEZ2E)
HIBOR+

(1.56t0 1.75)/

RMB base lending rate
+(0t01.85)/
0.8607.35
ERRTRERE
+(156EE175E),/
ARBEEEHFX
+(0EZ185E),/
0.86E £735E

437,912 2021-2022 466,736

70,000 N/A N/A -
TER TER

640,262 628,736

HIBOR+1.56/

RMB base lending rate
+(0to 1.85)/
550t07.35
EARTAERKE
1561 /
ARBEEEEHF %
+(0EZ185EB),/
S50EZETIE

821,403 2022-2029 626,092

ZRC-CER

—TohE

- 10 2022 75,000
0 =—B-Z%

701,092

1,329,828

T E BRI ER AR

T FFR 183
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30. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

(continued)

30.

af o R AT B 3L Ath £ 8 ()

2022

—Eg-=

HK$'000

Analysed into:
Bank loans repayable:

Within one year or on demand (Note (a))

AR
BT FMEREZRITER:
—FARPEEERE

FHET

(Pt 5% (a)) 570,262 628,736
In the second year BEF 192,263 99,736

In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FZAF
(BIEEEMF) 592,156 309,085
Beyond five years AFENUE 36,984 217,271
1,391,665 1,254,828

Other loan repayable: BRI FHER 2 EMER

Within one year —F R 70,000 -
In the second year FF - 75,000
70,000 75,000
1,461,665 1,329,828

Notes:

(a) As further explained in note 45 to the financial statements, the Group's term
loans with an aggregate amount of HK$130,000,000 (2021: HK$162,000,000)
containing an on-demand clause have been classified as current liabilities
of which HK$41,400,000 (2021: HK$41,400,000) are repayable within one year
based on the respective loan agreements. For the purpose of the above
analysis, the loans are included within current interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and analysed into bank and other borrowings repayable

within one year or on demand.

At the end of the reporting period, the maturity profile of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings based on the scheduled repayment dates set

out in the loan agreements is as follows:

00 B RS 3R & MY AEASET i — S M
& K £ @ 8 % 5130,000,0008
L (=% —— % :162,000,0005% 7T)
ZCEHERSE AN EEEREE
REF BEsEARBAE H
741,400,000 (= & = — F:
41,400,000 TT) R B & A B B K
HEER-—FABE-R LA D
Mims  ZEERFTARBT SR
TREMEER TR —FAK
REESEREEEZRITIREM
BEETOM -

RBEHR FERTREME
ERBERBEMBZAAEER
FHEs B HREANT:

HK$’000
FHET

Bank loans repayable:

BRI FEREREZRITER:

Within one year —FR 481,662 508,136

In the second year FE_F 274,903 141,136

In the third to fifth years, inclusive EZEZRFREEEWNE) 598,116 388,285
Beyond five years HEEMN E 36,984 217,271
1,391,665 1,254,828

Other loan repayable: RTHNFHERZHMER:

Within one year —FR 70,000 -

In the second year FF - 75,000
70,000 75,000

1,461,665 1,329,828
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b) Certain bank loans of the Group are secured by the Group's property, plant
and equipment (note 14), owned investment properties and certain rental
income generated therefrom (note 15), financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (note 18), properties held for sale (note 20),
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 25) and pledged
deposits (note 26).

(©) As at 31 March 2022, except for the bank loans of HK$337,232,000 (2021:
HK$331,943,000) and other loan of HK$70,000,000 (2021: HK$75,000,000)
from a fellow subsidiary which bear interest at fixed rates, all bank loans
bear interest at floating interest rates.

(d)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other borrowings which are
denominated in the following currencies are as follows:

30.

B4 5 e % B Rk )

af o R AT B 3L Ath £ 8 ()

MaE: ()

(b) AEBEETRITERIAAEH
ZWE - BB R &AM 14 B
BEEREMERAELEZETH
WA BATFELH
2w E ARZ M5 E E (&
18)  # {F & ¥ % (M 7£20) - 1%
RFPELESARZWEEE (W
#E25) & B 1R 7 5% (P 7E26) 15
o

() R-ZZE-_—_F#=ZA=+—8 KR
17 & 337,232,000/ T (=% ——
£ :331,943,000 7T) KRB —R A
Z M B A 2 H b B 370,000,000
B (ZZFE=——4 :75000,000/% 7T)
DEREEFEFTLIN FIERITE
FLLF BRI R E -

d) AEBEUATIEHEFEBZRITR
Htfe B2 BREENT

2022

—E__F 25
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR R
HKS BT 761,990 885,519
RMB AR 699,675 444,309
1,461,665 1,329,828

31. Convertible Notes 31, W B R

On 19 October 2016, CAP issued convertible notes in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$500,000,000 which bear interest at 7.5% per
annum (the “CN 2021"). The CN 2021 will mature after 5 years from the
date of issuance and can be convertible into ordinary shares of CAP at
any time between the date of issuance of the CN 2021 and the maturity
date. The CN 2021 are convertible at a conversion price of HK$0.4 per
share.

The interest for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 was calculated
by applying an effective interest rate of 11.48% to the liability
component.

On 27 November 2020, the Company served partial redemption notices
pursuant to the terms and conditions for the early redemption of the CN
2021 for an aggregate amount of HK$130,000,000. Loss on redemption
of convertible notes of HK$3,933,000 was recognised and included in
“Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2021.

RZE-—RFE+A+LA hEE
EE an % 17 AN & 42 %8 /3500,000,00078
T AR F R KT7.5% 5T B 2 A 3R R
BIZZ2=—FARKRRE) - —F
o FURRERARETAHRE
SARAFRIE YRR _FE-—F7
BERBRBETEHEE A L
MEREBEASTEEEMEBMK -
—ECFUBRERRAURBKE
FROABT TIAER -

BHE-_ZT-_—_FgR=-_FT=-_—F=A
=+ —RALEFEZHNB T EE I
DERBANAS% T BEREFRFHE -

RZEZZEF+—AF=+tH &2
AIRBERREHE LB EDBR
Mo AEMEL S - —Fa %R
= ¥ A #£130,000,000/8 7T - BH = =
E_—FZA=Z+—HALFE  EMO
AR % = 9 2 85 183,933,00008 T E
ERALFAGLAEZREMEZE
RSN ETEMFAS] -

e BT RARAT
R _FFIR

185
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31. Convertible Notes (continued) 31. wI¥% B S8 ()

32.

186

On 18 October 2021, the outstanding CN 2021 were fully redeemed by
CAP.

The fair value of the CN 2021 had been split into the liability and
derivative components at initial recognition and their movements are as
follows:

RZZEZ—F+A+N\RA FRERE
MERYEBEBRHABEZ - =—
FOBRBEEE -

TR -FABRREBRZATFER
NEHERHERIREBERITET
Bgfn - H#gm T

Liability Derivative
component component

FTETR

BN D

HKS'000 HK$'000

FHET FH& T

(note 25)

(B £ 25)
At 1 April 2020 R-ZE-_ZFTFWMA—H 249,814 621 250,435
Accretion of interest 2R 8 7,849 7,849
Early redemption REEE (125,762) (305) (126,067)
Fair value gain AR - (279) (279)

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 N\ —F=A=+—H

—ZE-—FmMA—H 131,901 37 131,938
Accretion of interest ZIEF B 2,899 - 2,899
Redemption upon maturity I B I g [a] (134,800) - (134,800)
Fair value gain NFERE = (37) (37)
At 31 March 2022 RZTZ=ZF=A=+—H - - -

Deferred Tax

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are

32. Bt B
FRETHAERRREEZ BN

as follows: T
Deferred tax liabilities EEFEBEEE

Depreciation Fair value
allowance adjustment
in excess arising from
Withholding of related  Revaluationof  acquisition of
tax for dividend depreciation properties subsidiaries
BEHEAT
EBHBREL fifEiH A FE
REBMH RERBE NEEMR BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TAT TET BT
At 1 April 2020 WZZZZEMA-H - 30,368 477,577 152,965 660910
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to profitor  ERRBEE M/ (5IN) 2
loss during the year EREHE 20,000 (1183) 3,850 (13,443) 9,224
Deferred tax charged to other FRARAMZARENRZ
comprehensive income during the year ELEHE - 582 - - 582
Exchange realignment EHAZ - - 30934 9,073 40,007
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZFZ-F=ZA=+-HR
“E--fNMA-H 20,000 29,767 512,361 148,595 710,723
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to profitor  FRREHEERNG/GTIA)Z
loss during the year ELHIE (20,000) 4,145 (21,291) (30,166) (67,312)
Exchange realignment EHAE - - 21,710 6,194 27,904
At 31 March 2022 R-F--f=zA=1+—-H - 33,912 512,780 124,623 671,315
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32. Deferred Tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Loss available
for offsetting
against future
taxable profits

o] i {F 45 8 R 3R
ERBURR 2
oF

HK$'000

TR

5 e % B RE 49)

32. EHEBEIH (1)
LB EEE

Depreciation
in excess

of related
depreciation
allowance

Impairment
of financial
assets

BANMBNE

ARBEZHE HHEERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THEL

@it
HK$'000
F

At 1 April 2020 NZZT-ZTFNA—-A 26,384 48 610 27,042
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss FARBERNKZ

during the year R E (1,349) - (365) (1,714)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 WZEZ_—-E=A=+—H

k=—ZE-_-FmA—H 25,035 48 245 25,328

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to profitor  ERREBRE XA/ (FH)

loss during the year ZIERBE 3,826 - (90) 3,736
At 31 March 2022 R-E-_—#=ZA=1+-H 28,861 48 155 29,064
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities HEHEHME ETECEHEE
have been offset in the consolidated statement of financial position. ErBEBEEEGAMBEMRARARK

The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for
financial reporting purposes:

3 o AT AR AN 5% Bl 6 O T B R 45 £R
B EB N SIELADT

2022 2021
—E=-= —T-_—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHIT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the PR & B RS IR 3R A B SR A
consolidated statement of financial position RIEFLIE A EFE 48 48
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the AR S B R R R R R
consolidated statement of financial position RERIBEEEFHE (642,299) (685,443)
(642,251) (685,395)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses RBERR XEBEREAELE
arising in Hong Kong of HK$919,018,000 (2021: HK$882,865,000) that 2 KA B IR E B /919,018,000
are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits B (= T = — % :882,865000%
of the companies in which the losses arose. Except for tax losses of _) AERBAAERBELRERE
HK$174,915,000 (2021: HK$151,727,000) have been recognised as deferred NAZKRRERB AT - RILIE

tax assets, deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the remaining amount of HK$744,103,000 (2021: HK$731,138,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. The Group also has unused
tax losses arising in Mainland China and Macau with an aggregate
amount of HK$522,936,000 (2021: HK$455,024,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

JE% 1#8174,915,000/ T (=T = — F:
151,727,000/ JT) B 1 R A iE 1T § 18
BEN BRRKEFRIRERAE
&T 0 WU R B Bh 8 EE £9744,103,000
B (=T = — % :731,138,0007% 7T)
MRAELEHBEE - A£EBITER
REANM MR EE 2 AB AR IE
E5 18 4 522,936,000 L (=& ——
F 1 455,024,0005% 7T) 0 A A E K

ARERB AN XN —E0F
WER -

T E BRI ER AR

TTCFER 187
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32.

33.

188

Deferred Tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement
is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
HK$286,044,000 at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$326,748,000). In the opinion
of the directors, the Company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference and, accordingly, the Group has
taken into consideration, among others, the probability the temporary
difference being reversed in the foreseeable future, and recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable in the foreseeable future
on distribution of unremitted earnings by the Company’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

32. ¥EREBEIH ()

EERIREE ()
REFHECEMSHE RPERA

HEK S 2 ANEIIR B D E M IR
EESRZKEABHMN10% BN
MO&EﬁmﬂfYYAE A—
ARREM BARZ-ZZEZLHF+=
A=+— Eé%ﬂi@ﬂo%#ﬁ
Wm@@%&ﬁ%%ﬁﬁi%&ﬂ
BHBEGL  Blel g AREEN
ﬁfoﬁ$ﬁlﬁg BAMERS%
810% ° At - AEEERBERF
BAMKIZHEBARRE-ZEZ
NE—A—BEELXZEBADIKZ

B BB BINE o

RZEZZ—F=ZA=+—H  #4
AERECHBEABZHRBERA M
BRI RERBBZEREZRA
H 49286,044,000 T (Z T ——F:
326,748,000 L) c EER A AR
ﬁz;%ﬂ@@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ§§ﬁzﬁ-ﬂ% I
CAEBBEERETBER

?Eﬁﬂi%@@%ﬁﬂ%ﬁgﬁzﬁf%ﬁ’
ERAIBRERK  ERAARFE
Wiz 2B AR EE 4+
ZBAMDBERELBANE  BRY
NEEAENBHAMEN -

AR B R TR B 3 B
EAREREE -

Share Capital 33. A&
Shares g
2022
—E_-_—
HK$’000
TET
Authorised: VETE
60,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 60,000,000,000 %
HKS$0.01 each BROOTE T 2 E @R 600,000 600,000
Issued and fully paid: EETRERE:
1,231,642,888 ordinary shares of 1,231,642,888%
HKS$0.01 each FRO01E T 2 B AR 12,316 12,316

Share options
Details of the Company'’s share option scheme are set out in note 34 to
the financial statements.
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34. Share Option Scheme

The Company’s Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 September
2003 (the “2003 Scheme”) was terminated with the approval by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting held on 22
August 2013 and a new share option scheme of the Company (the “2013
Scheme”) was approved to be adopted by the shareholders of the
Company on 22 August 2013. The 2013 Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years from that day, unless otherwise terminated earlier
by shareholders in a general meeting. As a result, the Company can no
longer grant any further options under the 2003 Scheme.

Upon the termination of the 2003 Scheme, no share options were
granted thereunder but the subsisting share options granted prior to
the termination will continue to be valid and exercisable during the
prescribed exercise period in accordance with the terms of the 2003
Scheme.

The 2013 Scheme is for the primary purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to selected eligible persons for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Company and its subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, the board of directors may grant options
to directors and eligible employees of the Company or its subsidiaries to
let them subscribe for shares in the Company at a consideration equal
to the higher of the closing price of the shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange at the date of offer of grant and the average closing
price of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant of the options.

Options granted must be taken up within 30 days from the date of grant,
upon payment of HKS1. Options may be exercised at any time from the
date of grant of the share options up to the tenth anniversary of the
date of grant as determined by the directors at their discretion.

The maximum number of shares of the Company in respect of which
options may be granted, when aggregated with any other share option
scheme of the Company, shall not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time excluding any shares issued
upon the exercise of options granted pursuant to the 2013 Scheme.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2013 Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at
the date of approval of the 2013 Scheme.

B4 % e % B wE o)

34. I HE RS

RATZ BRERE
ARARE_ZZE=FNLA+N\BK
MBRESS((ZE2=F58))
REZFZ-—=ZFN\A-FT-HARTZK
RBFRELEARBRELI A
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34. Share Option Scheme (continued)
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The Company’s Share Option Scheme (continued)

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
to an eligible person under the 2013 Scheme is not permitted to exceed
1% of the aggregate number of shares for the time being issued and
issuable under the 2013 Scheme.

No share option has been granted as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 since
the adoption of the 2013 Scheme.

The following share options were outstanding under the 2003 Scheme
during the year ended 31 March 2021:

At beginning of year R E
Expired during the year RERNE R
At end of year NS

There were no share options granted or exercised during the years
ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

There was no share-based payment recognised during the years ended
31 March 2022 and 2021.

There were no outstanding share options outstanding under the 2003
Scheme as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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34. Share Option Scheme (continued)

CAP’s Share Option Scheme

CAP adopted a share option scheme (the "CAP 2012 Scheme’) on
3 May 2012 whereby the directors of CAP are authorised, at their
discretion, to invite selected eligible persons (the “CAP Participants”)
to take up options for their contribution to CAP. The CAP 2012 Scheme
will remain in force for 10 years. Under the CAP 2012 Scheme, the
board of directors of CAP ("CAP Board") may grant options to the CAP
Participants to subscribe for shares in CAP for a consideration of HKS$1 for
each lot of share options granted. The exercise price is to be determined
by the CAP Board and shall not be less than the highest of:

(@)  the official closing price of the shares of CAP as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the offer date which
must be a business day (and for this purpose, shall be taken to
be the date of the CAP Board meeting at which the CAP Board
proposes to grant the options);

(b)  the average of the official closing prices of the shares of CAP as
stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(¢)  the nominal value of a share of CAP.

Pursuant to the CAP 2012 Scheme, the maximum number of shares in
CAP in respect of which options may be granted when aggregated
with any other share option scheme of CAP is not permitted to exceed
995,306,782 shares, representing 10% of the issued share capital of CAP
as at the date of this report. Subject to the issue of a circular and the
approval of the shareholders of CAP in general meeting and/or such
other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to
time, the CAP Board may refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the
total number of CAP’s shares in issue as at the date of approval by the
shareholders of CAP in general meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
the shares of CAP which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the CAP 2012 Scheme
and any other share option schemes of CAP at any time shall not exceed
30% of CAP's shares in issue from time to time.
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34. Share Option Scheme (continued)
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CAP’s Share Option Scheme (continued)

The number of shares of CAP in respect of which options may be
granted to the CAP Participants in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the total number
of CAP’s shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of
options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of
the shareholders of CAP in general meeting. The participant and his
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) are abstained from voting
and/or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from
time to time. Options granted to substantial shareholders of CAP
or independent non-executive directors of CAP in excess of 0.1% of
CAP’s share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be
approved in advance by CAP’s shareholders.

There is no specific requirement that an option must be held for any
minimum period before it can be exercised but the CAP Board is
empowered to impose, at its discretion, any such minimum period at
the time of grant of any particular option. The period during which an
option may be exercised will be determined by the CAP Board at its
absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than ten
years from the date of grant.

No options under the CAP 2012 Scheme have been granted, exercised or
cancelled or have lapsed during the year ended 31 March 2021.

On 2 January 2022, CAP granted share options to the chief executive
officer and certain employees of CAP Group, the exercise of which will
entitle the holders to subscribe for an aggregate of 226,000,000 shares
of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of CAP.

The following share options were outstanding under the CAP 2012
Scheme during the year:

At beginning of year R #)
Granted during the year REREH
At end of year MER

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022
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34. Share Option Scheme (continued) 34. ke HE R E ()
CAP’s Share Option Scheme (continued) TEEERZ BRESE(E)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options RBERRRMKRITEZBREZT
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: EERITESRNAT :
2022 —Fg=-=
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREZE TEE* 17 1 5
‘000 HKS per share
6 ERER
45,200 0.118 3.1.2025 to 2.1.2032
—E-HF¥-AZBE=-ZT==F—H=H
45,200 0.118 3.1.2026 to 2.1.2032
—EC-AR¥-H=ZHE-E==-f-—-A=H
45,200 0.118 3.1.2027 to 2.1.2032
—EC-tF¥-AZHE=-ZE=Z=F—H=H
45,200 0.118 3.1.2028 to 2.1.2032
—E-N\E-AZHE=2B==F—H=H
45,200 0.118 3.1.2029 to 2.1.2032
—E_hE—-—HA=HE=-ZZE=—f—HA=H
226,000
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case * B % 4 2 17 (£ B T 20 4t AR SR AT AR
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in CAP's share capital. BEAAPERERBRAPELER
fhAB L B BS T A EE o
The fair value of the share options granted during the year was REARBEREZATER
HKS$21,915,000 (HK$0.097 each) (2021: Nil), of which the Group recognised 21,915,000 7T (& A80.0977% T)(=
a share option expense of HK$1,139,000 (2021: Nil) during the year ended To—F:E) BEPEHE_Z -
31 March 2022. A=+ RALFE AEEER
B % # B9 321,139,000 T (=& = —
FE) e
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34. Share Option Scheme (continued)
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CAP’s Share Option Scheme (continued)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year
was estimated as at the date of grant using a trinomial model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

o T R S ) )

B E iz BB R B ()
REARBABRDET ZBREZ
ATFERBELARAEA=EXER
Bat EFCrkELBEREZGK
RS - TREIIMARE 2 &
ANBUR

2022
—E__F

Dividend yield (%) P& B R (%)

Expected volatility (%) T& HA 82 1 (%)
Historical volatility (%) JEE 520K 12 (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) A [ B ) 2 (%)
Expected life of options (year) 8 HA B BAF B (4F)

Weighted average share price (HK$ per share)

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility
of CAP’s share price over the approximately previous 10 years. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on the
directors’ best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, CAP had
226,000,000 share options outstanding under the CAP 2012 Scheme.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Reserves

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 89 and 90 of the consolidated financial
statements.

(i) Special reserve
The special reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of ordinary shares issued by the
Company and the aggregate nominal value of the issued ordinary
share capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group
reorganisation in 1995.

(ii) Contributed surplus
The contributed surplus represents the credits arising from the
capital reduction effected by the Company less the amount
utilised for the purpose of the bonus issue of shares by the
Company.

(iii) Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options
granted which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in
the accounting policy for share-based payments in note 2.4 to
the financial statements. The amount will either be transferred
to the share capital when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits should the related options expire or
be forfeited after the vesting period.

(iv) Reserve funds
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China,
a portion of the profits of the Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland
China has been transferred to the reserve funds which are
restricted to use.

(v) Otherreserve
The other reserve represents the Group's share of other reserve of
its associate. During the year ended 31 March 2021, other reserve
had been transferred to retained profits upon the completion of
disposal of an associate.

(vi) Capital reserve
Capital reserve represents the difference between the amounts
of net consideration and the carrying values of non-controlling
interests acquired or disposed of.
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36. Partly-Owned Subsidiaries with Material Non-

196

Controlling Interests

Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material non-controlling
interests are set out below:

BAEEANIFERRE
REFBEHBT

36. BEfy B OKJE 952 BEAE 4 2 AE 4
i A7 P g 2 W)

w2 A& S

Percentage of equity interest held by
non-controlling interests:

CAP B R EE

FERERBAEZBERNL

46.63%

46.63%

Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to non- PREREMFEERERES R

2022
oo —

—_— ——

HK$’000
FTERT

2021
—E—F
HKS$'000
FAE T

controlling interests of CAP ZAFERF,(EE) 21,184 (75,208)
Accumulated balances of non-controlling RBEBBRFERERIEER
interests of CAP at the reporting date Hmz B EH 1,440,104 1,380,220

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of
the CAP Group. The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company
eliminations:

TREATEREEREBEZUBE
M2 BREZEEANKEMNE
EAXAFESHE 2SR

2022 2021

—E-= B —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTERT FHIT

Revenue for the year FRK R 830,469 619,716
Loss for the year FAEBIE (16,609) (212,332)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEERZE 130,104 134,702
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year FR2E Kz (E8B) 4258 113,495 (77,630)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEXBME HEREFHE 160,216 321,693
Net cash flows used in investing activities KEESMAZREREFHE (105,655) (21,291)
Net cash flows used in financing activities METBAAZRESREFHE (43,827) (243,040)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RekReFREIGNFHE 10,734 57,362
2022 2021

—E=-= —T-_—F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FTER FHIT

Current assets MEE E 2,380,679 2,685,114
Non-current assets IREBEE 3,275,543 2,147,498
Current liabilities mE A& (1,885,439) (1,780,793)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (1,338,488) (1,191,956)

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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37. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash

Flows

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions
The Group has the following major non-cash transactions during

the year:

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities of HK$72,297,000 and HKS$84,195,000
(2021: HK$42,966,000 and HK$46,538,000), respectively, in respect
of lease arrangements for leasehold land and buildings.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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37. HA B e R LN

(a) EIEHBEEXH
G AEBETHIEER
£%5:

FA AEEREE LB RE
FZHERHZEREEER
HEABZIEREARENHR
72,297,0007% 7T %84,195,0007%
(=T Z— % :42966,000%
7T }46,538,0007% 7T) °

(b) METBHELZEEEDH
Unsecured

Bank and Lease Convertible

other borrowings liabilities notes notes

BITRAMEE HEAR BERRE

HK$'000
FA7

HK$'000
THET

At 1 April 2020 R-ZZ-ZFNA—A 1,369,725 141,437 250,435 181,220
Changes from financing cash flows BERERELY (74114) (68,671) (130,000) (2.900)
New leases MIRE - 46,538 - -
Lease modification HBEB - (673) - -
Interest expense FBRX - 6,303 7,849 21028
Loss on redemption of convertible notes BEOURREEZER - - 3933 -
Fair value gain on derivative components of AR IREEZITETATHZ

convertible notes AFEkE - - (279 -
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors 1 A FTiR B B E M7 5

BAEBNHEESR - (6,888) - -

Reassessment of a lease term arising from RREFMIREBMERE

a decision not to exercise ELESEEE

the extension option - (11,430 - -
Foreign exchange movement IME K B 34217 2027 - -
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZZZ-5=ZA=+t-BRk

“Z--¥MA-A 1,329,828 108,643 131,938 199,348

Changes from financing cash flows BEREREED 109,504 (69,180) (134,800) (2,900)
New leases HAHE - 84,195 - -
Lease modification HEBET - (1,473) = =
Interest expense FIERAX - 4,838 2,899 23,049
COVID-19-related rent concessions HEAFMRRAHETRAS

from lessors MAEBNEEESR - (3,860) - -
Revision of a lease term arising from REERTFHAHED

a change in the non-cancellable period of MEL ZEBET

alease - (1,145) - -
Fair value gain on derivative components of AR IREEZITETALH 2

convertible notes ATENR - - (37) -
Foreign exchange movement SME K B 22,333 1,034 - -
At 31 March 2022 RZZT-Z4=ZA=+—-H 1,461,665 123,052 - 219,497
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37. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash

Flows (continued)

(c) Total cash inflow/(outflow) for leases
The total cash inflow/(outflow) for leases included in the statement
of cash flows is as follows:

37. BB EREEXMEE @

() HERSRA (R HEE
AFARERERZEERER
A G @gmT

2022 2021
—E-_—F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Within operating activities EE T 2,061 5,404
Within financing activities REE (69,180) (68,671)
(67,119) (63,267)
38. Pledge of Assets 38. &K

Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group's bank and other
loans are included in note 30 to the financial statements.
39. Commitments

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the
reporting period:

RAEERTRAMEFTIEERD
AEBEEEFBHNYBRRM T
30 °

39. &

R|RERKR  AEE 2 EREEN
T

2022 2021
—E-= —ETE-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Contracted, but not provided for: ERTABRFHR B -
- Property, plant and equipment -ME BELREE 14,360 5,780
— Properties under development -BRERPYE 16,693 326
- Properties held for sale - BEHEDE 61,508 62,046
— Investment properties -REME 180,289 174,405
272,850 242,557

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

40. Related Party Transactions

(a)

Transactions with related parties

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following material transactions
with related parties during the year:

5 e % B RE 49)

40. BT 2 5

(a) EHEEBEZXS
Briz & B R H A0 B4 5
ZRHON  REBENFRER
BETBETATEARRS

2022

HK$’000
FTERT

Wang On and its subsidiaries e R EN B AR
(other than the Group) (BrA £ = 45N
- Rental income earned by the -AEERDES
Group* N (i) 2,924 2,733
- Finance income on net -DHEKREFEZ
investments in subleases B 75 WA (vi) 345 602
- Sales of pharmaceutical products - REEHEER
by the Group* (i) 8,245 4,628
- Recognition of a right-of-use -HMREAEEE
asset** (iv) 3,996 1,351
— Interest expense on a loan - REBEAZ
incurred by the Group BN B (iif) 7,433 7,500
- Management fees incurred by the - REBELZEIE
Group 2 (0) 585 1,155
Associates RN
— Sales of Chinese pharmaceutical - REEEERLE
products by the Group E& (i) 22,144 24,270
- Rental income earned by the -AEERNzZES
Group WA (i) 1,720 1,642
- Finance income on net -DHEREFHEL
investments in subleases B 75 W A (v) 165 73
- Management and promotion fees - ZX £ @ Bt EL 2
earned by the Group EREBERSEE (i) 1,044 1,076
Easy One and its subsidiaries, a group S 5= R EH B AR -
of companies controlled by Mr. BB EEFN AT
Tang £H
- Interest expense on convertible -AHBMREEZHE
notes X (i) 3,462 10,199
- Recognition of a right-of-use -HRAEREEE
asset (vii) 313 -
Notes: B &t

(i) The transactions were based on terms mutually agreed between the
Group and the related parties.

(i) The sales to the related parties were made according to the
published prices and conditions that the Group offered to its
customers.

(i)~ The interest was charged by a related party on a loan advanced to
the Group. Details of the terms of the relevant loan are set out in
note 30 to the financial statements.

0] ZERXHTHIREAEE LR
673 A B E 2 R FRAEAT

(i)  HEABIIELZHEEDRE
AREMAERTFREEZEA
o (B 18 T A 1 7T o

(i) FEEAIRRATAKREZE
BT S o H8 B R 2 &
RZABEAYBRERM
530 °
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40. Related Party Transactions (continued)

200

(a)

Transactions with related parties (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iv)

(vii)

*%

On 2 June 2021, the Group entered into a three-year lease agreement
with a fellow subsidiary in respect of leasing a retail premise for the
Group’s retail operation. The amount of rent payable by the Group
under the lease was HK$115,000 per month, which was determined
with reference to the prevailing market conditions in the vicinity. At
the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognised a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability of HK$3,996,000 and HK$3,912,000,
respectively. (2021: On 1 June 2020, the Group entered into a three-
year lease agreement with a fellow subsidiary in respect of leasing
a retail premise for the Group's retail operation. The amount of rent
payable by the Group under the lease was HK$38,000 per month,
which was determined with reference to the prevailing market
conditions in the vicinity. At the commencement date of the lease,
the Group recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease liability of
HK$1,351,000 and HK$1,267,000, respectively.)

The Group entered into certain sub-licensing agreements with
certain associates in respect of the sub-licensing of certain retail
premises. The aggregate amount of rent payable by the associates
under the sub-licensing agreement was HK$211,000 per month,
which was determined with reference to terms mutually agreed
between the Group and the associates.

The Group entered into certain sub-licensing agreements with two
fellow subsidiaries in respect of the sub-licensing of office premises.
The aggregate amount of rent payable by the fellow subsidiaries
under the sub-licensing agreement was HK$619,000 per month,
which was determined with reference to terms mutually agreed
between the Group and the fellow subsidiaries.

On 20 April 2021, the Group entered into a three-year lease
agreement with a subsidiary of Easy One, in respect of leasing a
premise for the Group's retail operation. The average amount of rent
payable by the Group under the lease is HK$9,317 per month, which
was determined with reference to the prevailing market conditions
in the vicinity. At the commencement date of the lease, the Group
recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease liability of HK$313,000.

These related party transactions also constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

These related party transactions also constitute connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Related Party Transactions (continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

B4 5 e % B Rk )

40. BT A 5 ()

(b) FEEEIREBABZME

2022 2021

—E=-= —E_—4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TER T T

Fees e 996 791

Short term employment benefits HRHIEERT 12,386 14,291

Post-employment benefits Bt B3k 12 42 A 82 159

Total Bt 13,464 15,241
The above compensation of key management personnel includes LR EZEEBRABZHMEEE
the directors’ remuneration, details of which are set out in note 9 EEMe FBHRTBHIRE

to the financial statements. B 359 ©

(c) Outstanding balance with related parties
Details of the Group's trade balances due from associates as at
the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note 22 to the
financial statements.

Financial Guarantees

As at 31 March 2022, the Group provided guarantees of approximately
HK$45,474,000 (2021: HKS$56,787,000) to customers in favour of certain
banks for the loans provided by the banks to the customers of the
properties sold. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of
default on mortgage payments by these purchasers before the expiry of
the guarantees, the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and penalties
owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of any sales
proceeds as described below.

Pursuant to the above arrangement, the related properties were pledged
to the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, in the event of default
on mortgage repayments by these purchasers, the banks are entitled to
take over the legal titles and will realise the pledged properties through
open auction or other appropriate means. The Group is responsible
for repaying the banks when the proceeds from the auction of the
properties cannot cover the outstanding mortgage principals together
with the accrued interest and penalties.

The Group's guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance of real estate
ownership certificates to the purchasers.

The fair value of the guarantees is not significant and the directors of
the Company consider that in the event of default on payments, the net
realisable value of the related properties can cover the repayment of the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and
penalties.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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42. Litigations

202

In 2007, the CAP Group acquired Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural By-
Product Grand Market Company Limited (“Baisazhou Agricultural”)
from independent third parties, Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang") and
Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial Development Co. Ltd (“Tian
Jiu") for their respective 70% and 20% interests in Baisazhou Agricultural
(the "“Baisazhou Acquisition”).

Since 2011, the CAP Group has been involved in a number of civil
proceedings in Mainland China and Hong Kong. The key civil
proceedings in Mainland China and Hong Kong in respect of the
Baisazhou Acquisition are set out below:

In Mainland China, proceedings concerning Ms. Wang, Tian Jiu
and the CAP Group:

In May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced proceedings against
the PRC Ministry of Commerce (“MOFCOM") in the Beijing Second
Intermediate People’s Court, seeking, inter alia, a direction that MOFCOM
revoke its approval in respect of the Baisazhou Acquisition.

It is alleged by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu that:

a) Baisazhou Agricultural forged share transfer agreements (the
"Contended Agreements”) in relation to the Baisazhou
Acquisition wherein the related consideration was understated and
the manner of settlement of the consideration was inaccurately
described;

b)  Baisazhou Agricultural forged the related documentation for filing
with MOFCOM and the Hubei Administration For Industry and
Commerce (the "Hubei AIC"), and that such documentation and
the Contended Agreement involved forged signatures; and

Q) MOFCOM and the Hubei AIC approved the Baisazhou Acquisition
and processed the related fillings on the basis of the above
documents that are allegedly forged.

In December 2015, the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court
directed MOFCOM to reconsider its approval decision. In May 2016,
MOFCOM decided that its approval issued in relation to the Contended
Agreements shall not be revoked and shall remain to be in force (the
“Reconsidered Decision”).

In August 2016, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced administrative
proceedings against MOFCOM in the Beijing Second Intermediate
People’s Court seeking to set aside the Reconsidered Decision. In March
2017, the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court dismissed the
application of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (the “31 March Judgement’).
On 20 December 2018, the Beijing Higher People’s Court upheld the
31 March Judgement (the “20 December Judgement”). Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu applied to the Supreme People’'s Court for a retrial and
for dismissal of (i) the 31 March Judgement, and (ii) the 20 December
Judgement, but this application was dismissed by the Supreme People’s
Court on 29 December 2020.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

42. Litigations (continued)

In Mainland China, proceedings concerning Ms. Wang, Tian Jiu
and the CAP Group: (continued)

As advised by the CAP Group’s PRC legal advisor, the approval issued by
MOFCOM in 2007 in relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be
revoked and remain to be in force, and the CAP Group continues to be
the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

In May 2015, the CAP Group commenced legal proceedings against
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu in the Higher People’s Court of Hubei Province
("Hubei Court”) seeking, inter alia, declarations and orders that the sales
and purchase agreements for the Baisazhou Acquisition (the “SPA”) have
been legally made, and that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu shall assist Baisazhou
Agricultural to discharge its contractual duties under the SPA to make
the necessary filing with MOFCOM (which were subsequently withdrawn
in April 2019 in light of the decisions in respect of the MOFCOM
approvals). Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu filed their counterclaim for, inter alia,
the return of the CAP Group's 90% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural,
which was dismissed by the Hubei Court in December 2019 (the “23
December Judgement”).

In January 2020, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the 23
December Judgement. On 29 March 2021, the CAP Group received the
judgement of the Supreme Court dated 29 December 2020 (the “29
December Judgement’) which upheld the 23 December Judgement
and dismissed the appeal of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu. As advised by the
PRC legal advisors of the CAP Group, according to the 23 December
Judgement and the 29 December Judgement, the CAP Group continues
to be the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

In Hong Kong, CAP as plaintiff against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as
defendants:

In 2011, CAP issued a Writ of Summons in the Court of First Instance in
the High Court of Hong Kong (the “CFI") against Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu. CAP (as purchaser) sought damages from Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu
(as vendors) for their breach of various provisions of the SPA. Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu counterclaimed for, amongst others, an order that CAP
shall cause and/or procure the shares in Baisazhou Agricultural to be
transferred back to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.
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42. Litigations (continued)

204

In Hong Kong, CAP as plaintiff against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as
defendants: (continued)

In 2012, CAP obtained a court order from the CFl to the effect that
undertakings (the "Undertakings’) were given by Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu not to (i) indorse, assign, transfer or negotiate the two
instruments (purportedly described as promissory notes in the SPA)
(the “Instruments”); and (ii) enforce payment in relation to the SPA by
presentation of the Instruments until the final determination of these
proceedings or further court order. Pursuant to the Undertakings, the
Instruments will no longer fall due for payment by CAP on 5 December
2012.

The CFI handed down its judgement on 18 January 2021 awarding
damages in favour of CAP for sums exceeding the sum owed under the
Instruments. The CFl also ordered that the damages awarded to CAP be
set-off by the sum owed under the Instruments, and that Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu not be allowed to enforce the Instruments against CAP. In effect,
CAP is not required to make any payment under the Instruments to Ms.
Wang or Tian Jiu. CAP is seeking legal advice for the recovery of the
balance of the damages awarded to it. Further, as the counterclaim of
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu was dismissed, CAP continues to be the legal and
beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

Prosecution commenced in the PRC by Wuhan Jianghan District
People’s Procuratorate against the former director of Baisazhou
Agricultural, Mr. Zhou Jiu Ming

According to the judgement of Hubei Wuhan Jianghan District People’s
Court ("Jianghan Court”) dated 19 November 2021 (the “19 November
Judgement”’), the former director of Baisazhou Agricultural, Mr. Zhou
Jiu Ming ("Mr. Zhou"), during the period of 2009 under the employment
of Baisazhou Agricultural, instructed other associated personnel of
Baisazhou Agricultural to unlawfully misappropriate funds of Baisazhou
Agricultural in the sum of RMB40,000,000 for his personal use. Wuhan
Jianghan District People’s Procuratorate commenced prosecution
against Mr. Zhou for a penalty. Jianghan Court ordered in the 19
November Judgement that: (1) Mr. Zhou was guilty of misappropriation
of funds and was sentenced to five years of imprisonment; (2) Mr. Zhou
shall return the misappropriated funds of RMB40,000,000 to Baisazhou
Agricultural in accordance with the law.

According to the judgement of Hubei Wuhan Intermediate People’s
Court ("Wuhan Court”) dated 11 January 2022 (the “11 January
Judgement’), Wuhan Court ordered that the appeal by Mr. Zhou
against the 19 November Judgement be dismissed. The 11 January
Judgement is final.

The case has now come to an end.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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42. Litigations (continued)

43

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Prosecution commenced in the PRC by Wuhan Jianghan District
People’s Procuratorate against the former director of Baisazhou
Agricultural, Mr. Zhou Jiu Ming (continued)
On 1 March 2022, Baisazhou Agricultural received the sum of
RMB40,000,000 returned by Mr. Zhou. Compensation from litigation
judgement of HK$48,572,000 was recognised and included in “Other
income and gains, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Further details regarding the civil proceedings of the CAP Group can be
found in the interim/annual reports and announcements issued by CAP.

Financial Instruments by Category

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

31 March 2022
Financial assets
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43.
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MBEE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

BATERBEARZHBEE
Financial assets
at fair value Designated
through other as such Mandatorily  Financial assets
comprehensive upon initial designated at amortised
income recognition as such cost
RATESHS
2HUEAEZ REREZ% RBHREZ
HEEE W EE BEWEEE HEEE o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR Tz Tz TR
Listed equity investments THARERE 147,126 112 - - 147,238
Listed debt investments FHEBRE 19,839 - - - 19,839
Unlisted funds kEMES - - 99,644 - 99,644
Derivative component BEAZEZ
of unsecured notes NETAEHH - - 9,849 - 9,849
Interest rate swaps M= - - 135 - 135
Trade receivables B 5ERFIE - - - 63,346 63,346
Net investments in subleases NEREFR - - - 14,685 14,685
Loans and interest receivables ERERRFE - - - 30,868 30,868
Financial assets included FAEMARE  RER
in prepayments, deposits, Hih U2
and other receivables HBEE - - - 170,868 170,868
Pledged deposits BERER - - - 31,250 31,250
Restricted bank balances XBHFTER - - - 7,311 7,311
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkBLERER - - - 510,146 510,146
166,965 112 109,628 828,474 1,105,179
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43. Financial Instruments by Category (continued) 43. FEREE o 00wk TR o)
31 March 2022 (continued) —E--F=ZRA=+—H(#&)
Financial liabilities BgaE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

REBHER AR
HEaE
HK$'000
FTET
Trade payables B Z M RIA 86,357
Financial liabilities included in other payables and AAEMENREREASERCVBKESE
accruals (excluding lease liabilities) (HEBERIN 383,771
Lease liabilities HEBE 123,052
Unsecured notes mERRE 219,497
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FHEERAT R H A & 5K 1,461,665
2,274,342
31 March 2021 —E-—-%=HA=+—H
Financial assets MKEE

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial assets
at fair value Designated
through other as such Mandatorily Financial assets

comprehensive upon initial designated at amortised
income recognition as such

Gl

Listed equity investments FRERE 146,857 67 - - 146,924
Listed debt investments IHEBRE 124378 - - - 124378
Unlisted debt investment FEMEBERE 11,580 - - - 11,580
Unlisted funds FEmES - - 98,672 - 98,672
Derivative component of unsecured EEAZ & 2

notes TETAHS - - 3,864 - 3,864
Trade receivables B 5 RN HE - - - 53,300 53,300
Net investments in subleases NIEREFR - - - 13,348 13,348
Loans and interest receivables B E R F| & - - - 30,301 30,301
Financial assets included in FABNHRIE Be R

prepayments, deposits, and HiEREEZ

other receivables UKEE - - - 143,309 143,309
Restricted bank balances SBHIRITEH - - - 22302 22,302
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEREA - - - 507,234 507,234

282,815 67 102,536 769,794 1,155,212
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Financial Instruments by Category (continued)

31 March 2021 (continued)
Financial liabilities

5 e % B RE 49)

43. 28 5 B 43 0 4 ik . (w)

“E--F=ZA=t-RH#)
HEAE

Financial liabilities

at fair value
through profit or Financial
loss mandatorily liabilities at
designated as such amortised cost

Trade payables BHERTE - 72,204 72,204

Financial liabilities included in other payables and FAEMENTEREGERZUBAER
accruals (excluding lease liabilities) (AEBERN - 433,544 433,544
Lease liabilities HEEE - 108,643 108,643
Unsecured notes EERER - 199,348 199,348
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings HERITREMER - 1,329,828 1,329,828
Convertible notes ABRRER - 131,901 131,901
Derivative component of convertible notes RREEZITEIERS 37 - 37
Interest rate swaps FEEH 810 - 810
847 2,275,468 2,276,315

Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those carrying amounts that reasonably
approximate to fair values, are as follows:

44. S THZ 2P0 & AP
F
AEESBTAREERAFES

EHESMERIARIN ZREER
AR ER U

Carrying amounts Fair values
REE AFE
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2022 2021
—E-= —E_—F
=H=+—H =HA=+—8
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FA T FEx FH T
Financial liabilities MKkasE
Interest-bearing bank and FFERTERHEMEE
other borrowings 1,461,665 1,329,828 1,498,839 1,349,925
Unsecured notes mE R E R 219,497 199,348 195,630 204,010
Convertible notes Al ¥ % % - 131,901 - 133,982
1,681,162 1,661,077 1,694,469 1,687,917

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted bank balances, pledged deposits, trade
receivables, net investments in subleases, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, loans and interest
receivables, trade payables and financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.
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44. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

208

Instruments (continued)

The Group's finance department headed by the directors of the
Company are responsible for determining the policies and procedures
for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The finance
department reports directly to the director and the audit committee. At
each reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements
in the values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the
director. The valuation process and results are discussed with the audit
committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair
value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 March 2022 were assessed to
be insignificant. The fair values of the liability portion of the convertible
notes and unsecured notes are estimated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using an equivalent market interest rate for similar
securities with consideration of the Group’s own non-performance risk.

The fair values of listed equity investments and listed debt investments
are based on quoted market prices. The fair values of unlisted fund
investments are determined based on the quoted market prices
provided by fund administrators with reference to prices derived
from the over-the-counter market. The fair values of unlisted debt
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income have
been estimated using a discounted cash flow valuation model based
on assumptions that are not supported by observable market prices
or rates. The directors of the Company believe that the estimated fair
values resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and the related changes in
fair values, which are recorded in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values
at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of the embedded derivatives in unsecured notes is
determined by valuation techniques and based on assumptions on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period. The
valuation model requires the input of subjective assumptions, including
the expected volatility, discount rate, risk-free rate and mean reversion.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Instruments (continued)

44. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity

analysis as at 31 March 2022 and 2021:

Valuation technique
RES %

Significant
unobservable input
EXATABZGANE

5 e % B RE 49)

44. &R THZ NP &A A
=353

UTERZTEZ_FR_F_—F=
A=+ BRI AFBEZEAAR
ABERAHENERTEHRE
DT

Sensitivity of fair value to the input
ATEHRAREZBRE

As at 31 March 2022

R-ZB-_%#ZA=+-H

A derivative component from unsecured notes
classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

PERBRATESBEANRZUBEEL
EERZBZIEIASS

Hull-white one factor
trinomial model

HRERE-EZ
“HEAEEER

As at 31 March 2021

RZBZ-%=R=+-H

A derivative component from unsecured notes
classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

AERBEATERBEEAGLUBEEL
EEMEBZNETESD

Hull-white one factor
trinomial model

HRAESRE-RAR
“EAEEER

Volatility
& 18

Discount rate
iR

Mean reversion
HEER

Volatility
B

Discount rate

RX

Mean reversion

HEDS

73.8% 1% increase/(decrease) in volatility
would have no material impact on
the fair value

HEEM/ (RPN TS YA FEER
EPN-Z

14.7% 1% increase/(decrease) in discount rate
would have no material impact on
the fair value

WREEN/ (AP 1T EHATEE
REXYE

0.6% 1% increase/(decrease) in mean
reversion would have no material
impact on the fair value

HEBEEMN/ (RO %TEHATE
EREATE

0.3% 1% increase/(decrease) in volatility
would have no material impact on
the fair value

HIEEM/ (RPN TE YA TFEER
BAYE

11.7% 1% increase/(decrease) in discount rate
would have no material impact on
the fair value

FREEM/ (RPN BT EHATEE
RERTE

24.6% 1% increase/(decrease) in mean
reversion would have no material
impact on the fair value

HEBEEN/ (RO %TEHATE
EREATE

T E BRI ER AR
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44. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial

Instruments (continued) S 8% ()
Fair value hierarchy DNREZER

TERFALREEEBMIAZAFE

HESM:

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value: BRAFEFEZEE:

Fair value measurement using
ERTIERZAVERE

Significant

observable

Significant

Quoted prices in unobservable

active markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

BEATEE EXFABE

REBHHZHRE BAHE BAHE
(B—#) (B=8) (B=R) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

TR TiET TRT TR

As at 31 March 2022 R-Z--f¥=f=+-8

Financial assets at fair value through other RATESEMRZER S
comprehensive income: ARZHBRE:
Listed equity investments FrRERE 147,126 - - 147,126
Listed debt investments THERRE 19,839 - - 19,839
Financial assets at fair value through profitor loss: A FELBFEARZ
MBEE:
Unlisted funds FETESR - 99,644 - 99,644
Listed equity investment FrRERE 112 - - 112
Derivative component of unsecured notes BERERZ
TETAHS - - 9,849 9,849
Interest rate swaps FEEH - 135 - 135
167,077 99,779 9,849 276,705
As at 31 March 2021 R=F=-—%=A=+-8H
Financial assets at fair value through other RATELEMZARE
comprehensive income: AEZHBEE:
Listed equity investments FikERE 146,857 - - 146,857
Listed debt investments EHERRE 124378 - - 124378
Unlisted debt investments FEMEBEE 11,580 - - 11,580
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: ~ BEAFELEZAEZ
MBAE:
Unlisted funds FETES - 58,600 40,072 98,672
Listed equity investment FHRERE 67 - - 67
Derivative component of unsecured notes EEREEZ
TETAHS - - 3,864 3,804
282,882 58,600 43,936 385418
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

44. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the years
are as follows:

5 e % B RE 49)

44. &R THZ NP &A A
=353

D ESR(H)
BRAVEARZEE: ()
RATEE E=RAFEFEZ
ZEHmT

HK$'000
Fis

At 1 April 2020 RZTEZZTFMNA—H 20,185
Additions NE 38,796
Loss recognised in profit or loss RERERZEBE (1,080)
Transfer from Level 3 to Level 1 (note) HE-REBEE—R(HF) (13,965)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—8AK

—ZT-—FmMA—H 43,936
Disposal & (15,876)
Loss recognised in profit or loss RERFERZEE (18,211)
At 31 March 2022 R-ZE-—_F#=A=+—H 9,849

Note: The transfer from Level 3 to Level 1 was due to the resumption of share
trading of an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income during the year ended 31 March 2021. The Group's policy is to
recognise transfers into and transfers out of Level 3 as at the date of event
or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

Liabilities measured at fair value
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as
at 31 March 2022.

M AFE=—AEBEFE R TBERIEK
AFELEEMEZEKREAKRZR
BEEZBRORBEE=_ZE=—F=
B=+—BULFEREEE - ~*&%
ENBEANERBEB 2B
REHEARRBAXBLE=
F R A

BRAFEFEZEE
AEBR-_E-_—_F=A=+—8H
YEAAEAFEFENTHEE -

Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices in
active markets
(Level 1)

N R

FET

As at 31 March 2021 RZZZ-$=ZA=1+—H
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: EAFELEZAEZ

ERTIE it g

Significant

Significant unobservable

observable inputs inputs

BBaE:
Derivative component of convertible notes AHRBEERZ
fTETIARSD - 37 37
Interest rate swaps FEEH 810 - 810
810 37 847

T E BRI ER AR
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44.

45.

212

Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Liabilities measured at fair value (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the years
are as follows:

44. &R THZ NP &A A
=353

APESH ()
BATENEZAE (R
RUTEE Z=RATFEFEZ
BEMT

HKS$'000
THIT

At 1 April 2020 —ZE_FFNYH—H 621
Early redemption 1% A1l & = (305)
Gain recognised in profit or loss RERERZ W= (279)

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021

RZEBE-_—F=ZA=+—HBK

—EZ—FW™A—AH 37

Gain recognised in profit or loss upon maturity

REBRNBEPERZ RS

(37)

At 31 March 2022

R-ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H -

Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes
unsecured notes, bank and other borrowings and convertible notes
disclosed in notes 29, 30 and 31 to the financial statements, net of cash
and cash equivalents and pledged deposits and equity attributable to
owners of the parent, which comprises issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a semi-
annual basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through new share issues and share buy-backs as well
as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and  45. [ #s)aUFs e PEEER K& BR ()

Policies (continued)

a.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade receivables,
loans and interest receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, net investments in subleases, financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, cash
and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, restricted bank balances,
trade payables, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, bank and other borrowings, unsecured notes, convertible
notes and financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risks (currency risk, interest rate risk
and price risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

There has been no significant change to the Group’s exposure to
market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the
risk.

B EREEEERBE

AEBZIZSRTIABER
Z W R - EIRE R R
BCORAEMNRE 2Rk E
ERREBZHBEE RO
FELES A ARZBBEE
DHEEREFE BRATELKH
thEERE A ARZHBEE -
RekHA2E5REA DEWR
TR XRBRITESR  BS
ENRIE BAFELBERA
Rz BAaE RITREME
§ BEMER WHREER
K et N B A FEAS SRR B JE At B
Rz#HaE ZFERIA
ZHRHBRAEEMERE - 832
SeMITAMEMZARBED
LRR(ESRR M ERER
RERER) - RBE SRR
REERRE - BB OFABIEZ
SRR zZBERBAN T EE
fE & 18 I B s AR B AL B A BE AR
kR ERERBEREE -

REBAASE 2T SARBEIE
ERRGAERBERARZ IR
WmERE -

Market risks W5 E R

(i)  Currency risk (i) E#mEE
The Company and several subsidiaries of the Company ARBRAZEMER
have foreign currency sales and purchases and foreign AIASNEEITHE B A
currency bank deposits, which expose the Group to foreign BN RITHERLAE

currency risk. Substantially most of the Group’s bank
deposits and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
are denominated in the relevant group entities’ functional
currencies. Substantially most of the Group's sales and
purchases are denominated in the relevant group entities’
functional currencies.

The Group currently does not implement hedging activities
to hedge against foreign currency exposure.

T ERAME R B o AN S
B XD RITHERR
FHERIT R EME RN
ERSHEHERB KR
BatE - REERAE
DEEHAERERE
BoeEE®EE-

AEBERBITHEETY
R B S SN E R B
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45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

214

a.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Market risks (continued)
(i)  Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign exchange rate
fluctuation of the foreign currencies stated above against
the functional currencies of the respective group entities.

If the RMB exchange rate had increased/decreased by 5%
and other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss
for the year ended 31 March 2022 would have decreased/
increased by HK$51,000 (2021: HK$80,000).

The Group's exposures to currency risk of other currencies
are considered insignificant by the directors and therefore
no sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to
variable-rate bank borrowings (see note 30 to the financial
statements) and bank deposits (see note 26 to the financial
statements) at prevailing market interest rates. The Group
monitors the movement in interest rates on an ongoing
basis and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk
should the need arise.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of
this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of one to three months
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate. To manage its interest
cost, the Group has entered into interest rate swaps in which
the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the
difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts
calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notional principal
amount.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

a.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Market risks (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank
borrowings and bank deposits at the end of the reporting
period (after taking into account the effect of the interest
rate swaps). The analysis is prepared assuming that the
amount of liabilities outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

If interest rates had increased/decreased by 50 basis points
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss
for the year ended and the total equity as at 31 March 2022
would have increased/decreased and decreased/increased
by HKS$4,047,000 and HKS$4,047,000, respectively (2021:
HK$3,332,000 and HK$3,332,000). This is mainly attributable
to the Group's exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate
bank borrowings.

The Group's sensitivity to interest rates has increased during
the current year mainly due to the increase in variable-rate
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

The Group's exposures to interest rate risk on bank balances
are considered insignificant by the directors and therefore
no sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

45. )8 By PEEA B BUR ()

a.

MR EREEEEREE (B

™% E B (&)
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TRz B EHZH
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PROASOfE 2 B8R - &
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fin F) = 3G 0w 250
8 = 25 M T B H b & 2
®ETE AEBEE
ZEEBER-_ZE-_F
—AZt+—BrakR
15 2 B8 b0 A R
L/ 414,047,000 TT
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45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and  45. ¥ )\ bs % PEERR B SR ()

Policies (continued)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies a. MBRREEESRKE @)
(continued)

Market risks (continued)
(iii) Price risk

™% E B (&)
(iii) E#%mEE

216

Price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments included in financial assets at fair value through

BREREERERKRER
FKRKERMERNESRZE
BEEFHUBBAESRL
FETEZRAR K=
T-_—_F=ZA=+—8"

other comprehensive income (note 18) and financial assets NS AN E
at fair value through profit or loss (note 25) as at 31 March BHEMEEY S ARZ
2022. The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock B %A E 18 R
Exchange and are valued at quoted market prices at the end NFELBE AR
of the reporting period. % & & (Pff 5525) &9 & 51

The market equity index for the Stock Exchange at the close
of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the
end of the reporting period, and its respective highest and

P v 1% & T E e A pE B
Rk AEEBZ LT
RETEBEBRIMAET
WA & B R 2 %5 R
BHETHE-

RELOHEHRNORS
B R AR B
5P 2 T 5 B A R B

lowest points during the year are as follows: f FREEMR&ER
0
31 March High/low 31 March High/low
2022 2022 2021
—E-= —E-= —E - —4F
EEEr=E V& T = /& 2
Hong Kong B
—-Hang Seng Index - B4 % 21,997 29,491/ 28,378 31,183/
18,235 22,520
REBBEBEYEER

The Group manages its exposure by closely monitoring the
price movements and the changes in market conditions that
may affect the value of these financial investments.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risks (continued)

(iii) Price risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
10% increase/decrease in the fair values of the listed equity
investments with all other variables held constant and
before any impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts
at the end of the reporting period. For the purpose of
this analysis, for the listed equity investments included in
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the impact is deemed to be on the fair value reserve

(non-recycling).

5 e % B RE 49)

45. )8 By PEEA B BUR ()

B IR BB R BUR (8

™% E B (&)
(iii) 1E 1% 3 5% (A& )

HREE T

T & BOR R H 2 B4R
BFAEW B RAERE
FEM LWRERE
RBERRZEHEE
HE QT E10% 8 S
MO ZHERE - A
WmE B AZRAF

EfLEME2EKZE AR
ZHBEEN LT
REZEZERAEHR
FEBREBEOTEHE) 2

1=
& o

Increase/
(decrease)
Carrying amount Decrease/ in other
of equity (increase)inloss  components of
investments before tax equity
REREZ BHRAGE REZHLHS
REE w2/ (%Em) &,/ (i)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR TR TR
2022 —EZCZF
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong: REBLTZRERE:
~Financial assets at fair value through profit or -RATESBEEARZ
loss MEE 112 11/(11) -
~Financial assets at fair value through other -RATELSEMZARS
comprehensive income AEZHBEE 147,126 - 14,713/(14,713)
2021 —F=—F
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong: REBLTZRERE:
~Financial assets at fair value through profit or -RATESBEREARZ
loss HBEE 67 7/(7) -
~Financial assets at fair value through other -RATELEMEZ AR S
comprehensive income ARZHBEE 146,857 - 14,686/(14,686)
Liquidity risk RBESER

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with
loan covenants.

EERHELRBR @ AE
BEZRERSEREERRR
#HwezRe MREERBEKT

AR E 2 ERH

EE R

BERERERDFE - E
BABERRITEEER I

BREBRERRZY -

ML E B H R AR
R _FFIR
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45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

218

Policies (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The maturity dates of all financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To
the extent that interest cash flows are at floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from the interest rate at the end
of the reporting period.

On demand or

45. )8 By PEEA B BUR ()

B EREERERBE (H)

REBE SRR (E)
RBEZRFIEREZ
TRFIAEEY B EEF
BHFER  WRIRBEAEE K
RREEARZHBABR
RRCREBERE - AYHKE
BZEBETERBGEERB
H o

TREEANLREEASA
g MABBLREATE
RARSBARARSHE
R o

Total

As at 31 March 2022

R-Z--%=H=+-H

less than
1year
PR-F
HK$'000
FHT

1to5
years

—ZEF
HK$'000
TET

Over
5 years

RENE
HK$'000
THET

undiscounted
cash flows
AFREE
REAE
HK$'000

FHET

Carrying
amount

REE
HK$'000
TET

Trade payables A5 EMFA 86,357 - - 86,357 86,357
Other payables and accruals HipEARERESER
(excluding lease liabilities) (AEBRERMN 383,351 420 - 383,771 383,771
Lease liabilities HEEE 55,471 71,717 5,537 132,725 123,052
Bank and other borrowings RORAMEBEE-28
- variable rates (note) Cik3) 443,430 680,443 - 1,123,873 1,054,433
Bank and other borrowings BITREMEE-TR
- fixed rates (note) (H3E) 272,335 163,667 39,412 475,414 407,232
Unsecured notes EERRE 2,900 286,665 - 289,565 219,497
1,243,844 1,202,912 44,949 2,491,705 2,274,342
As at 31 March 2021 RZZEZ-$=A=1+—H
Trade payables BHERMFIE 72,204 - - 72,204 72,204
Other payables and accruals HiEAFERESER
(excluding lease liabilities) (BEABRMN 430,540 3,004 - 433,544 433,544
Lease liabilities HEARE 59,819 54,932 4,556 119,307 108,643
Bank and other borrowings ROREMEE-F8
- variable rates (note) (B 3E) 484,143 310,578 168,279 963,000 922,885
Bank and other borrowings ROREMEE-ES
- fixed rates (note) (B 3E) 189,059 230,546 57,043 476,648 406,943
Unsecured notes EERER 2,900 289,565 - 292,465 199,348
Convertible notes THRRER 139,750 - - 139,750 131,901
1,378415 888,625 229,878 2,496,918 2,275,468

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of
interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

fi6 )% Bz & b B 3R & B K AT
BEEZSEMEZMEFRR - A
ANESETEMB AR 2T
SBTAFAZSBEATIELE
&)
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45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

5 e % B RE 49)

45. )8 By PEEA B BUR ()

B EREERERBE (H)

Liquidity risk (continued) FEE R (HF) -
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued) Ef}?— :? B RFEmRREZ*(HF)
Note: Tat

Included in interest-bearing bank loans of the Group are term loans with an
aggregate principal amounted to HK$130,000,000 (2021: HK$162,000,000),
of which the respective loan agreements contain a repayment on-demand
clause giving the bank the unconditional right to call in the loans at any
time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the total
amount is classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe
that these loans will be called in their entirety within 12 months,
and they consider that the loans will be repaid in accordance with
the maturity dates as set out in the respective loan agreements.
This evaluation was made considering: the financial position of
the Group at the date of approval of the financial statements; the
Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the lack of events
of default, and the fact that the Group has made all previously
scheduled repayments on time. In accordance with the terms
of these loans, the contractual undiscounted payments are as
follows:

AEBEHERTEREBREA
% #8 #8130,000,000% T (= &
Z—% :162,000,0005% 7T) 9 7
HER HfZaERHAR
BREREEGX MTRT
BEEGHEIBERESE
Bt - st B B EBERmE
ZELEEDARIRERME
&

BEBLAGHRAE BES
WARE - ZEEFER2E
AREZEBEE - MKERBZ
EEFRERESBERG M
HOBEWIMAEE - BR
AT ERE T E T A
7 AEEPNP BRI AR
BOMBHRR: AEEETE
R RBEEBOEMH N
RAEBEERKEZMA LN
B R BIE R - RIR %S R
Ko ARNARTENTDOT

Within 1to5
1 year years Total
—FR —Z8F Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THERT THET
31 March 2022 T ZF#=A=+—H 44,228 90,128 134,356
31 March 2021 —E-—F=A=+—H 44,123 123,747 167,870
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45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

220

a.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In order to minimise the credit risk on trade receivables and
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, the management of
the Group has delegated a team responsible for the determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual receivable at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the credit risk is significantly reduced.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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MR EREEEEREE (B

FERB
AEBEERERAIAEER M
ME=TETRS  AEBEK
RRMBEBNERT N ETT
RHNEPHAETERARE
BF - -RBREEZERFER
BN FA - RE R R
HzEERR AEBEEEA
EEREZENEBEEER
B EHEEREMERE
Fr - DATE 4R £REX BR A 15 5 U (B
BHEIR oMb AEER R
&R AR AT & Bl FE WK IR 2
RO &R AEERE R TR
Y= & 88 1F R SR E B 18
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45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and  45. ¥ )\ bs % PEERR B SR ()
Policies (continued)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies a. MBRREEEHER K ()

(continued) N

Credit risk (continued) E_E;_E.Fﬁ(é;)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging REARRFREERE
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum T%g@T§§é$;ﬁ< GORER
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which I % CORER ﬁ‘& E?'%\ITE &
is mainly based on past due information unless other information 2B - Iggm@ﬁﬁ & ﬂ@f?
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging 3%{@5*@&5@“#?%
classification as at 31 March. For listed debt investments, the Eﬁkfﬁk%ﬁj}ﬁ’g’lg;ﬂ?ﬁﬁb}’
Group also monitors them by using external credit ratings. The &ﬁé:ﬂ:+*5 E"Jiﬁ%&
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. M8 - ARETAAINEEE

HEERLITEBRE -2
JleERMBEERKEE -

As at 31 March 2022 R=2==f=A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 B 7B 1
EEFR 2HAENEERSE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-BR ERB FZRB LR[S @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET THT TET
Listed debt investments at BRATEEEMD
fair value through other 2EME AR
comprehensive income ZLEmER
—BtoC BE —BZEC 15,365 2,649 1,825 - 19,839
Trade receivables* Z S ERZE - - - 79,515 79,515
Net investments in subleases ARREFHE - - - 14,685 14,685
Loans and interest receivables ~ EWEZR RF 8 16,208 1,922 58,351 - 76,481
Financial assets included in FABARE -
prepayments, deposits and ReERAEM
other receivables EYFEL
BBEE
— Normal** - EFE* 156,829 - - - 156,829
— Doubtful** - fF R - 14,327 - - 14,327
Pledged deposits BEARTR 31,250 - - - 31,250
Restricted bank balances XEHRITES 7,311 - - - 7,311
Cash and cash equivalents BekBeER
EAR 510,146 - - - 510,146

737,109 18,898 60,176 94,200 910,383
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45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and  45. ¥ )\ bs % PEERR B SR ()
Policies (continued)

a. Financial risk management objectives and policies a. UBEMREEEERBXE)
(continued) - B )
Credit risk (continued) 52
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) RERBRFHEER (K
As at 31 March 2021 RZE-—F=A=+—H

12-month
Lifetime ECLs

Simplified
approach

Listed debt investments at RAOTEEEM
fair value through other 2EME AR
comprehensive income ZLEmEH
—BatoC BE—BazC 122,590 - 1,788 - 124,378
Unlisted debt investments at BRATEEEM
fair value through other 2EME AR
comprehensive income — B ZHEMER
®E—B 11,580 - - - 11,580
Trade receivables* B SRR E - - - 71,542 71542
Net investments in subleases ARREFHE - - - 13,348 13,348
Loans and interest receivables ~ EMEH RF 8 16,007 1,656 57475 - 75138
Financial assets included in FAENRE
prepayments, deposits and ReRHEM
other receivables EWFHE
HBEE
— Normal** - ERE* 129,272 - - - 129,272
— Doubtful** - R - 14,274 - - 14,274
Restricted bank balances R HIR1T 8k 22,302 - - - 22,302
Cash and cash equivalents RERREER
BE 507,234 - - - 507,234
808,985 15,930 59,263 84,890 969,068
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * BAKEE RS AR
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix EREZEZEKFHEM
is disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements. T REBEBFEERAEZE
KRB mR M 228 5% -
**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, ** W AT RIE - He R E
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when fih FE U R IE 2 BB E W
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the SR HR R 3 A R R R
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial BEEBVBBBANARZ
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is EERBBEEREMN FE
considered to be "doubtful”. BERWERBIES] - TH -
MBEEZREEERER K
BRITER]-
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

45. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

b. Capital management
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
itin light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021.

The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by equity attributable to owners of the parent of the
Company. Net debt is calculated as the total of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, unsecured notes and convertible
notes, less cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits. The
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as
follows:

Interest-bearing bank and other AARROTLEMEE

Notes
= FHET

5 e % B RE 49)

45. )8 By PEEA B BUR ()

b. ZBXxEE
AEBEAEENTIEZARE
REAEEFHELENED
REFRREERLD - BEH
REXFREEREERK
£ e

AEEREELERENEZ
HERNERBETEERAE -
ANEBE]FHERRKRRIKR SR
B BRREFRRELETH
fEin e HEZZEZ_Z—_FR=-ZF
——®=ZA=t—HILFER -
BRAEBRMER BREHEF
BELREE -

AEBENBAGELEE(BRA
A ANEGERR A FE)
ERER - BB FEIRFE
RITREAEMEE  SEERRE
KAl REB 2 EBRR S
kBReERIBARSERER
FHE - REHARNEBLLEND
T

2022
oo =

—_— ——

HK$’000

2021

— T —F
HKS$'000
FH T

borrowings 30 1,461,665 1,329,828
Unsecured notes EmIEMRIE 29 219,497 199,348
Convertible notes Al IR 31 - 131,901
Less: Cash and cash equivalentsand @i H& KR &ER

pledged deposits HERBEBER 26 (541,396) (507,234)
Net debt BEBFHE 1,139,766 1,153,843
Equity attributable to owners BRAIEAARIGEER

of the parent 2,515,798 2,565,325

Gearing ratio BEE 45% 45%

T E BRI ER AR
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46. Events After the Reporting Period

224

Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2022, on 3 May 2022, CAP
proposed to enter into a loan agreement with Ping An Bank Co., Ltd. for
a loan principal amount of RMB300 million (in its HKD equivalent) for
a term of three years (the "Ping An Loan”). As a condition to the Ping
An Loan, the Company is required to provide a financial guarantee (the
"Guarantee’) in respect of the CAP’s obligations under the Ping An
Loan. The Guarantee provided by the Company constituted a connected
transaction for the Company and Wang On under the Listing Rules. On
22 June 2022, the independent shareholders of the Company and Wang
On approved the Guarantee at their respective special general meetings.

At the same special general meetings held on 22 June 2022, the
independent shareholders of the Company and Wang On also approved
the revolving credit facility to CAP, for an aggregate principal amount
of HK$576 million, in which HK$506 million provided by Winning Rich
Investments Limited (@ wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group) and
HKS$70 million provided by Double Leads Investments Limited (a fellow
subsidiary of the Group), for a term of five years at the interest rate of
10% per annum. Such facility would expire on 2 May 2027.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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BE-_Z-_—_F#=A=1+—HBItFEE
% O N-_E-__FRA=R HHE
EmBETZRITROBRQEE]
VERWGE EXEFcBAEARYK
300,000,000 c(ZEE B T2 %) H
RE-F(FZER] EATEZE
RO —EEH A2 ARFELE
HTHWABRRERzETREGH
ER(IERD Aol BHEMER
B EMBRATARFERELHEH
ERG  MZEZ—_FXA=+=H"
ARARERLEHNBIBERESH
IR AE EHEZER -

E-_E-_—_FRNAZ+-BETH
R—BREFHIREE AARARE
THBLBRETIHER FHREE
ERNBRERME  EAcBH
576,000,000 7t © H #506,000,000
BETAHIVEEERQAAKRE
B—HMzEKHBRAADRE X
70,000,000 T HEFI R E G R A A
(AEE—HREMBRAR)REMH:
HRARF  FRERI0% - ZatE
BR—ZE—_tFRA_HEM °
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47. A5y wl A B R DL
EHBSHRARDMBHR AL

47. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at

the end of the reporting period is as follows: BRI
2022 2021
—E-—F —E_—4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR ZEE = -

Financial assets at fair value through

BAVEEEL2E K S AR

other comprehensive income 2 BB A E 3,146 7,278
3,146 7,278

CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Due from subsidiaries JEU IS B R AR IB 2,911,535 3,055,289
Other receivables H b & W R E 321 255
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReERIER 2,114 5,339
2,913,970 3,060,883

CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBaE
Due to subsidiaries JE A B BB A Bl 5k 1B 770,268 940,678
Other payables and accruals HtENREREFEA 7,699 7,894
777,967 948,572
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 2,136,003 2,112,311
Net assets BEFE 2,139,149 2,119,589

EQUITY &
Issued capital BEITRA 12,316 12,316
Reserves (note) it 18 (BT 52) 2,126,833 2,107,273
Total equity BER 2,139,149 2,119,589
Tang Ching Ho Tang Wai Man
55 50 HEH
Director Director
EF EF

T S R A R AT
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47. Statement of Financial Position of the Company  47. A2y w] ik % % )

(continued)
Note: Mt 5
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARFEEHESHINDT :

Fair value
reserve
Share Special Contributed Share option (non- Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserve recycling) losses Total

AP EER
& £ 5 & : BRER G it 1 st
HKS$'000 KS! K$'00 HKS$'000 S $'00 HK$'000

At 1 April 2020 RZZZTFMA-A 2,106,799 (27,150) 275,693 83 (1,888) (49,674) 2,303,863
Loss for the year AEEER - - - - - (196,343) (196,343)
Other comprehensive loss FERAMZEABSE:
for the year:
Change in fair value of financial ~ BEAFELEMEE
assets at fair value through Wi AR 28 5
other comprehensive BEZLATEED
income - - - - (247) - (247)
Total comprehensive loss AEEZEEEARE
for the year - - - - (247) (196,343) (196,590)
Expiry of share options EREER - - - (83) - 83 -
At 31 March 2021 and RZE=-§=f=+—H
1 April 2021 k=Z--FNA-8 2,106,799 (27,150) 275,693 - (2,135) (245,934) 2,107,273
Profit for the year REFEEH = = = = = 23,695 23,695
Other comprehensive loss AEEEMREAEE:
for the year:
Change in fair value of financial B ATFELEMZE
assets at fair value through W ARz B
other comprehensive BEZATEES
income - - - - (4,135) - (4,135)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) R EE 2B M %/ (FHE)
for the year am - - = = (4,135) 23,695 19,560
At 31 March 2022 R-F--FZA=+-8 2106799  (27,150) 275693 g (6270)  (222239) 2,126,833
48. Approval of the Financial Statements 48. kv T 5 B B
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the MgEHmEremREFEN T =
board of directors on 28 June 2022. NAZTN\BHEL RETE -
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Particulars of Properties

Yy 3¢ wF I

Investment Properties BEWE
Attributable interest
Location Tenure of the Group
ib 31t z F1 AEBzEEERS
Wuhan Baisazhou Agri-Products Market, Agricultural produce Medium term lease 53%
Special Nos.1 Qingling Street, Qingling exchange market

Country, Hongshan District, Wuhan City,
Hubei Province, the PRC

FEILERETRIIESERSEGR K RERRHTS RERE A
REBD MR EIER KT S

Henan Luoyang Hong-Jin Agri-Products Agricultural produce Medium term lease 53%
International Logistics Centre, West of Luoji exchange market
Expressway, Laocheng District, Luoyang
City, Henan Province, the PRC
FEAEARGTEHERETREREAN REMXITH FEIE A
&5 7R R B EE BB D

Xuzhou Agri-Products Centre Wholesale Agricultural produce Medium term lease 27%
Market, East of Yingbin Avenue, Quanshan exchange market
District, Xuzhou City, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC
REDI#HEGRM TR ILERDE XBRMA REMRSHS PEIAE A
RMBRBEEMPOIETS
Properties Held for Sale SR (k7B
Approximate Attributable interest
Location saleable floor area of the Group
i ht BOTHERZEER z rEBZELER
(Square feet)
(FHR)
China = ASEAN (Qinzhou) Agri-Products 1,673,000  Agricultural produce 53%
Market, North of Jinhaiwan West Avenue exchange market

(Entrance of Nanbei Highway), Qinzhou
City, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,
the PRC

PRERAA KBS RN TS EE ARG A
(FltmBREAL)FE-FBEMN REHR
K5
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i
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Five Year Financial Summary

AR 0 B R

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling TXAREEBRTRENKFE 2 £EHR
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the BE BELFEREZHE TXIHH
published audited financial statements is set out below. HEEAMIEE R BERE -

Results E 31

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—HLFE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
== —E-—F ZEZETF ZE-hhF ZZT-NHF
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT FAT F T F& T FATT
Revenue Uz 1,391,411 1,108,565 620,741 751,443 845,781
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AR A
(E1E) (47,304) (303,131) 455,167 81,694 (114,887)
Income tax expense BB (40,519) (148,132) (17,199) (7,448) (2,281)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AN & % 7]/
(E1#8) (87,823) (451,263) 437,968 74,246 (117,168)
Attributable to: ATA T EAf
Owners of the parent [SWNCIE? ZSUN (108,912) (375,995) 438,548 74,627 (115,581)
Non-controlling interests AT AR 21,089 (75,268) (580) (381) (1,587)
(87,823) (451,263) 437,968 74,246 (117,168)
Assets, Liabilities and Non-Controlling Interests VR ~ QU SR TR R 4R
At 31 March
BE=HA=1+—HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—=== T —E-F —E-hFE —ZT—N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHT F# T T FH T
Total assets 1 E 7,597,713 7,964,526 7,730,183 3,454,670 3,656,461
Total liabilities waE (3,637,102) (4,014,177) (3,736,796) (1,006,581) (1,096,436)

3,960,611 3,950,349 3,993,387 2,448,089 2,560,025

Equity attributable to owners & A& B A 14
of the parent = 2,515,798 2,565,325 2,642,786 2444118 2,554,504
Non-controlling interests IIERER 1,444,813 1,385,024 1,350,601 3,971 5,521

3,960,611 3,950,349 3,993,387 2,448,089 2,560,025
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